

COUNCIL WORK SESSION

Wednesday, December 02, 2020 at 1:00 PM

COUNCIL MEMBERS:

LOCATION & CONTACT:

Mayor Rick Scholl Council President Doug Morten Councilor Keith Locke Councilor Ginny Carlson Councilor Stephen R. Topaz https://zoom.us/j/93870653903?pwd=TUpIYXRsU3I5UzdKbzFNNmpRQVZaQT09 Website | www.sthelensoregon.gov Email | kathy@ci.st-helens.or.us Phone | 503-397-6272 Fax | 503-397-4016

AGENDA

CALL WORK SESSION TO ORDER

VISITOR COMMENTS - Limited to five (5) minutes per speaker

DISCUSSION TOPICS - The Council will take a break around 3:00 p.m.

- 1. Comcast Franchise Agreement Discussion Matt/John
- 2. Enterprise Zone Sponsor Requests Paul Vogel, CCET Executive Director
- 3. Bennett Building Improvements Update *Matt/Jenny*
- 4. Discussion on City Properties to Potentially be Sold Jacob/Sue/Matt
- 5. Update on RFPs for Riverwalk & S. 1st & Strand Streets Road & Utility Extensions John
- 6. Strategic Action Plan Updates
- 7. City Administrator Report

OTHER BUSINESS

ADJOURNMENT

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Following the conclusion of the Council Work Session, an Executive Session is scheduled to take place to discuss:

- Real Property Transactions, under ORS 192.660(2)(e); and
- Consult with Counsel/Potential Litigation, under ORS 192.660(2)(h).

Representatives of the news media, staff and other persons as approved, shall be allowed to attend the Executive Session. All other members of the audience are asked to leave the Council Chambers.

FOR YOUR INFORMATION

Upcoming Dates to Remember:

- December 2, 1:00 p.m., Council Work Session, Via Zoom
- December 2, 7:00 p.m., Council Regular Session, Via Zoom
- December 8, 7:00 p.m., Planning Commission, Via Zoom
- December 14, 4:00 p.m., Parks & Trails Commission, Via Zoom
- December 14, 7:15 p.m., Library Board, Via Zoom

Future Public Hearing(s)/Forum(s):

- December 16, 6:15 p.m., Street Vacation

VIRTUAL MEETING DETAILS

Join Zoom Meeting:

https://zoom.us/j/93870653903?pwd=TUpIYXRsU3I5UzdKbzFNNmpRQVZaQT09

Meeting ID: 938 7065 3903

Passcode: 737552

Dial by your location: 1 346 248 7799

The St. Helens City Council Chambers are handicapped accessible. If you wish to participate or attend the meeting and need special accommodation, please contact City Hall at 503-397-6272 in advance of the meeting.

Be a part of the vision...Get involved with your City...Volunteer for a City of St. Helens Board or Commission! For more information or for an application, stop by City Hall or call 503-366-8217.



Reply to Lake Oswego Office

Two Centerpointe Dr., 6th Floor Lake Oswego, OR 97035 503-598-7070

www.jordanramis.com

LEGAL MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Bill Monahan, City Attorney's Office

DATF. November 25, 2020

RE: **Comcast Franchise Agreement-Major Revisions in the Proposed 2020**

Franchise Agreement

The present franchise agreement between the City of St Helens and Comcast was entered into on December 12, 2007. That agreement was for a term of ten years. Since before the expiration of the initial ten-year term, the City and Comcast have continued to honor the agreement under all terms of that agreement while negotiations ensued.

Negotiations have been undertaken between representatives of the City Attorney's Office and Comcast representatives. The original efforts were focused on modifying the format of the agreement to closer resemble that used by Comcast with the Metropolitan Area Communications Commission (MACC) which serves cities within Washington County. The consensus was that the MACC agreement was more up to date and had provisions that were more suitable for the City's use. Since the 2007 franchise agreement, changes to the law at the federal level have taken place.

The format of the draft agreement appears very different from the 2007 agreement. The order of sections has changed, titles have changed, and content has been updated. Comcast is now called "Comcast of Delaware, II, Inc." rather than "Comcast of Oregon II, Inc." Many of the significant terms are proposed to remain the same, for instance the amount of the franchise fee. The fee of five per cent (5%) of all gross revenue is governed by federal law, 47 USC 542(b) and cannot exceed 5%. Other key sections have changed. This memo is an attempt to identify the most significant sections of the agreement where terms either remained as before or were significantly changed. Comcast has reviewed the draft and agrees with the terms as presented.

Significant changes include:

Section 1. Purpose and Intent – the agreement is a non-exclusive ten-year franchise. The term is also stated in Section 3.3. Duration. The term is the same as the present agreement.

Section 2. Definitions - several new definitions have been added, some deleted, and some revised to modernize the agreement. For example: "Gross Revenues" is presented in a manner to better show what gross revenues include and what is not included. This definition drew from various sections of the present agreement.

49698-77180 4818-7913-4163.1

Section 3.5 Franchise Nonexclusive and 3.6 Grant of Other Franchises – these sections replace former Section 4. Competitive Equity and state that the city reserves the right to grant one or more additional franchises. As stated in Section 3.6, there is no requirement that there be "a word for word identical franchise or authorization for a competitive entity". Federal law must be followed where applicable.

Section 4.1 Franchise Fees – remain at 5% of gross revenues, as mentioned above.

Section 5.1 Rate Discrimination – all rates and charges shall be published. The city does not negotiate rates.

Section 5.5 Mid-Term Performance Evaluation Session. – this section was added to allow the city to have a mid-term public discussion of performance of the franchise holder regarding the terms and conditions.

Section 6. Financial and Insurance Requirements – the levels of insurance were adjusted with increases to the levels of coverage such as commercial general liability (to \$4 million), auto liability (to \$2 million), and the addition of employer's liability to \$2 million.

Section 6.4 Performance Bond. – this was increased from \$50,000 (in Section XXX of the existing agreement) to \$100,000.

Section 8.4 Complaint Files and Reports – this requires more reporting of any subscriber complaints received about operation and performance. Section 8.4(A)(1) provides the city with the option of requiring an annual executive summary report of such filings.

Section 9.1 Broad Programming Categories – this has a more specific list of minimum programming options that are provided by Comcast to local subscribers.

Section 10.(B)(1) Channel Capacity – the number of Public, Educational and Government (PEG) access channels is reduced from a maximum of three to two. Section XXVI(1) of the existing agreement allows for up to three, but only two have been required and used in the community. There does not appear to be a need for more than two.

Section 10.(C) Support for Access Costs – the PEG fee of \$.52 per month per residential subscriber is not changed. Funds are provided to the city as eligible facility upgrades are needed. The city historically has been required to justify expenditures from the PEG funds that are collected from subscribers.

Section 11. General Street Use and Construction – the requirements for work performed in the public right of way, restoration of right of way, and other construction standards are all in this section and its various subsections rather than dispersed in several sections as in the existing agreement. The language follows the MACC more complete model.

Section 13. Service Extension, Construction and Interconnection – this section continues the requirement that all residential dwellings have equivalent availability of cable service. Service will be available to all new subdivisions within 30 days following a request from a resident of a new subdivision (as in Section VI of the existing agreement). Please note that this Section 13 does not require the opportunity for an Institutional Network as was allowed in the existing

November 25, 2020 Page 3

agreement under Section XXVIII. If the city requested an institutional network, it was required to enter into a separate agreement under terms negotiated for that purpose. None was proposed under the existing agreement.

Section 13.3 Limitation on Free Service – Section XXVII of the existing agreement refers to "Service to Community Facilities". In 2019 the FCC's 621 Order revised the rules applicable to cities requiring fee service for public facilities. Under the proposed language, Comcast may choose to charge the city for the service it is now provided. If Comcast proposes charging fees, the city can choose to discontinue receiving complimentary service.

Section 14. Franchise Violations; Revocation of Franchise – this section replaces Section XXIII, Remedies for Franchise Violations. The new provision is based on the MACC model.

Section 16.1 Renewal – states that renewal is governed by the cable Act (47 USC 546). Renewals can be negotiated at any time during the term of the agreement with adequate public notice and opportunity to comment.

Section 16.2 Transfer of Ownership or Control – this section provides the process for transfer of ownership. There is much more detail in this section than is in the existing agreement at Sections XX and XXXI(17).

Section 18.2 Dispute Resolution – this section was added as there is not a process detailed in the existing agreement.

Section 18.7 Venue – this section was added to state that any disputes about the agreement will be resolved in Columbia County.

Attachment A Customer Service – the exhibit is primarily the same as the existing agreement with one major change. Section 1.1 of the existing agreement requires a customer service office be located within the city, open 40 hours a week, with a minimum of eight hours per day on weekdays. However, this section also allows Comcast to relocate the office outside the city within Columbia County upon 60 days' notice. Within the proposed new agreement, there is no reference to a service office being required. Instead, Section 3.(D) provides for an alternative approach to customer service through a conveniently located facility for pick-up and drop-off of equipment and bill payment. Use of mailers or Comcast representatives dropping off equipment at a subscriber's residence are proposed.

These are some of the changes proposed in the new agreement. The public, subscribers, and members of the staff certainly have more experience with how the present agreement has been carried out in the city since 2007. Public and staff comments should provide more context for the city council as it considers the proposed agreement.

CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

Between the

CITY OF ST. HELENS, OREGON

AND

COMCAST OF DELAWARE II, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1.	PURPOSE AND INTENT	3
SECTION 2.	DEFINITIONS	3
SECTION 3.	GRANT OF FRANCHISE	9
SECTION 4.	FRANCHISE FEE AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS	12
SECTION 5.	ADMINISTRATION AND REGULATION	14
SECTION 6.	FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS	15
SECTION 7.	CUSTOMER SERVICE	18
SECTION 8.	REPORTS AND RECORDS	18
SECTION 9.	PROGRAMMING	20
SECTION 10.	PUBLIC, EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS	21
SECTION 11.	GENERAL STREET USE AND CONSTRUCTION	23
SECTION 12.	SYSTEM DESIGN AND STANDARDS	29
SECTION 13.	SERVICE EXTENSION, CONSTRUCTION, AND INTERCONNECTION	29
SECTION 14.	FRANCHISE VIOLATIONS; REVOCATION OF FRANCHISE	31
SECTION 15.	ABANDONMENT	37
SECTION 16.	FRANCHISE RENEWAL AND TRANSFER	37
SECTION 17.	SEVERABILITY	39
SECTION 18.	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	39

ATTACHMENT A - CUSTOMER SERVICE

SECTION 1. PURPOSE AND INTENT

The City of St. Helens Oregon is authorized to enter into this Franchise Agreement ("Agreement") and does grant to Comcast of Delaware II, Inc. a non-exclusive ten (10) year franchise, revocable as provided herein, to construct, operate and maintain a Cable System in the City.

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Agreement and all attachments included hereto, the following terms, phrases, words and their derivations shall have the meaning given below unless the context indicates otherwise. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense include the future, words in the plural include the singular, and words in the singular include the plural. Words not defined shall be given their common and ordinary meaning. The word "shall" is always mandatory and not merely directory.

- **Access** means the availability for noncommercial use by various agencies, institutions, organizations, groups and individuals in the community, including Grantor and its designees, of the Cable System to acquire, create, receive, and distribute video and Signals as permitted under applicable law, including, but not limited to:
 - (A) <u>Public Access</u> means Access where organizations, groups or individual members of the general public, on a nondiscriminatory basis, are the primary Programmers or users having editorial control over the content;
 - (B) <u>Educational Access</u> means Access where Schools and educational institutions are the primary Programmers or users having editorial control over the content;
 - (C) <u>Governmental Access</u> means Access where governmental institutions are the primary Programmers or users having editorial control over the content; and
 - (D) <u>PEG Access</u> means Public Access, Educational Access, and Governmental Access, collectively.
- **Access Center** means a facility or facilities where Public, Education, or Governmental use signals are managed and delivered Upstream to the Grantee for Downstream transmission to Subscribers or to other Access Centers via a dedicated connection.
- **2.3** Access Channel means any Channel, or portion thereof, designated for non-commercial Access purposes or otherwise made available to facilitate or transmit Access programming or service.
- **2.4** <u>Affiliate</u> when used in connection with Grantee means any corporation, Person or entity that owns or controls, is owned or controlled by, or is under common ownership or control with, Grantee.
- **Basic Service** means any service tier which includes the retransmission of local television broadcast Signals, or as such service tier may be further defined by federal law.

- **Cable Act** means the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984 and the Cable Television Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992 and any amendments thereto, including those contained in the Telecommunications Act of 1996, as amended.
- **Cable Operator** means any Person or group of Persons, including Grantee, who provide Cable Service over a Cable System and directly owns a significant interest in such Cable System, or who otherwise control or are responsible for, through any arrangement, the management and operation of such a Cable System.
- **Cable Service** means the one-way transmission to Subscribers of video programming or other programming service and Subscriber interaction, if any, which is required for the selection or use of such video programming or other programming service.
- 2.9 <u>Cable System</u> means a facility, consisting of a set of closed transmission paths and associated Signal generation, reception, and control equipment that is designed to provide Cable Service which includes video programming and which is provided to multiple Subscribers within a community, but such term does not include (1) a facility that serves only to retransmit the television Signals of one (1) or more television broadcast stations; (2) a facility that serves Subscribers without using any Public Right of Way; (3) a facility of a common carrier which is subject, in whole or in part, to the provisions of Title II of the Federal Communications Act (47 U.S.C. 201 et seq.), except that such facility shall be considered a Cable System (other than for purposes of Section 621(c) (47 U.S.C. § 541(c)) to the extent such facility is used in the transmission of video programming directly to Subscribers, unless the extent of such use is solely to provide interactive on-demand service; (4) an open video system that complies with federal statutes; or (5) any facilities of any electric utility used solely for operating its electric utility systems.
- **2.10** Capacity means the maximum ability to carry Signals or other information within a specified format.
- **2.11** Capital or Capital Cost means the expenditure of funds for physical resources whose useful life can be expected to exceed a period of one (1) year or longer as consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP").
- **2.12** Channel means a time or frequency slot or technical equivalent on the Cable System in a specified format, discretely identified and capable of carrying full motion color video and audio, and may include other non-video subcarriers and digital information.
- **2.13** <u>City or Grantor</u> is the City of St. Helens, Columbia County, Oregon, a municipal corporation of the State of Oregon, and all territory in its boundaries as such may change from time to time.
- **2.14** City Council shall mean the governing body of the City.
- **2.15** <u>Demarcation</u> means up to and including the device (as of the Effective Date known as the "modulator") where the DAP Signal is converted into a format to be transmitted over a fiber connection to Grantee.

- 2.16 <u>Designated Access Provider ("DAP")</u> means the entity or entities designated by the Grantor to manage or co-manage PEG Access Channels and Access Centers. The Grantor may be a Designated Access Provider; however, any entity designated by the Grantor shall not be a third party beneficiary under this Agreement.
- **2.17 Downstream** means the transport of Signals from the Headend to Subscribers or to Interconnection points served by the Cable System.
- **2.18 Effective Date** means the date defined in Section 3.4 herein.
- **2.19 FCC** means the Federal Communications Commission.
- **2.20** Fiber means a transmission medium of optical strands of cable capable of carrying Signals by means of lightwave impulses.
- **Franchise** means the non-exclusive and revocable authorization or renewal thereof for the construction or operation of a Cable System such as is granted by this Agreement, whether such authorization is designated as a Franchise, license, resolution, contract, certificate, agreement or otherwise.
- **2.22** Franchise Area means the area within the legal jurisdictional boundaries of the City during the term of this Agreement, as defined in Section 2.13.
- **2.23 Grantee** means Comcast of Delaware, II, Inc. or its permitted successors, transferees or assignees.
- 2.24 <u>Gross Revenue</u> means, and shall be construed broadly to include, all amounts in whatever form and from all sources derived directly or indirectly by Grantee and/or an Affiliate from the operation of Grantee's Cable System to provide Cable Services within the Franchise Area. Gross Revenues include, by way of illustration and not limitation:
 - Fees for Cable Services, regardless of whether such Cable Services are
 provided to residential or commercial Subscribers, including revenues
 derived from the provision of all Cable Services (including but not limited
 to pay or premium Cable Services, digital Cable Services, pay-per-view,
 pay-per-event, audio channels and video-on-demand Cable Services);
 - Installation, disconnection, reconnection, downgrade, upgrade, maintenance, repair, or similar charges associated with providing Cable Service to Subscriber;
 - Fees paid to Grantee for Channels designated for commercial/leased access use; which shall be allocated on a *pro rata* basis using total Cable Service Subscribers within the Franchise Area;
 - Converter, remote control, and other Cable Service equipment rentals, leases, or sales;
 - Payments for pre-paid Cable Services and/or equipment;

- Advertising Revenues as defined herein;
- Fees including, but not limited to: (1) late fees, convenience fees and administrative fees which shall be allocated on a *pro rata* basis using Cable Services revenue as a percentage of total Grantee revenues within the Franchise Area; (2) Franchise fees; (3) the FCC user fee and (4) PEG fees if included on Subscriber billing statements;
- Revenues from program guides; and
- Commissions from home shopping channels and other Cable Service revenue sharing arrangements which shall be allocated on a pro rata basis using total Cable Service Subscribers within the Franchise Area.
- "Gross Revenues" shall not be net of: (1) any operating expense; (2) any accrual, including without limitation, any accrual for commissions to Affiliates; or (3) any other expenditure, regardless of whether such expense, accrual, or expenditure reflects a cash payment. "Gross Revenues", however, shall not be double counted. Revenues of both Grantee and an Affiliate that represent a transfer of funds between the Grantee and the Affiliate, and that would otherwise constitute Gross Revenues of both the Grantee and the Affiliate, shall be counted only once for purposes of determining Gross Revenues. Similarly, operating expenses of the Grantee which are payable from Grantee's revenue to an Affiliate and which may otherwise constitute revenue of the Affiliate, shall not constitute additional Gross Revenues for the purpose of this Franchise. "Gross Revenues" shall include amounts earned by Affiliates only to the extent that Grantee could, in concept, have earned such types of revenue in connection with the operation of Grantee's Cable System to provide Cable Services and recorded such types of revenue in its books and Records directly, but for the existence of Affiliates. "Gross Revenues" shall not include sales taxes imposed by law on Subscribers that the Grantee is obligated to collect. With the exception of recovered bad debt, "Gross Revenues" shall not include bad debt.
- (A) "Advertising Revenues" shall mean amounts derived from sales of advertising that are made available to Grantee's Cable System Subscribers within the Franchise Area and shall be allocated on a *pro rata* basis using total Cable Service Subscribers reached by the advertising. Whenever Grantee acts as the principal in advertising arrangements involving representation firms and/or advertising interconnects and/or other multichannel video providers, Advertising Revenues subject to Franchise fees shall include the total amount from advertising that is sold, and not be reduced by any operating expenses (e.g., "revenue offsets" and "contra expenses" and "administrative expenses" or similar expenses), or by fees, commissions, or other amounts paid to or retained by National Cable Communications or Comcast Effectv or similarly affiliated advertising representations firms to Grantee or their successors involved with sales of advertising on the Cable System within the Franchise Area.

- (B) "Gross Revenues" shall **not** include:
 - Actual Cable Services bad debt write-offs, except any portion that is subsequently collected which shall be allocated on a *pro rata* basis using Cable Services revenue as a percentage of total Grantee revenues within the Franchise Area;
 - Any taxes and/or fees on services furnished by Grantee imposed on Subscribers by any municipality, state or other governmental unit, provided that the Franchise fee and PEG fee shall not be regarded as such a tax or fee;
 - Launch fees and marketing co-op fees; and,
 - Unaffiliated third party advertising sales agency fees or commissions which are reflected as a deduction from revenues, except when Grantee acts as a principal as specified in paragraph (A) immediately above.
- (C) To the extent revenues are derived by Grantee for the provision of a discounted bundle of services which includes Cable Services and non-Cable Services, Grantee shall calculate revenues to be included in Gross Revenues using a methodology that allocates revenue on a *pro rata* basis when comparing the bundled service price and its components to the sum of the published rate card prices for such components. Revenues from late fees shall be allocated as described herein. Except as required by specific federal, state or local law, it is expressly understood that equipment may be subject to inclusion in the bundled price at full rate card value. This calculation shall be applied to every bundled service package containing Cable Service from which Grantee derives revenues in the Franchise Area. The Grantor reserves its right to review and to challenge Grantee's calculations.

Example: Prior to any bundle-related price reduction, if Cable Service is valued at 50% of the total of the services to be offered in a bundle, then Cable Service is to be valued and reported as being no less than fifty percent (50%) of the price of the bundled service total.

- (D) Grantee reserves the right to change the allocation methodologies set forth in paragraph (C) above to meet standards mandated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"), Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") and/or the U.S. Securities and Exchange City ("SEC"). Grantor acknowledges and agrees that Grantee shall calculate Gross Revenues in a manner consistent with GAAP where applicable; however, the Grantor reserves its right to challenge Grantee's calculation of Gross Revenues, including Grantee's interpretation of GAAP and Grantee's interpretation of FASB, EITF and SEC directives. Grantee agrees to explain and document the source of any change it deems required by FASB, EITF and SEC concurrently with any Franchise-required document at the time of submittal, identifying each revised Section or line item.
- (E) Grantor agrees and acknowledges that Grantee shall maintain its books and Records in accordance with GAAP.

- **Headend** means Grantee's facility for Signal reception and dissemination on the Cable System, including cables, antennas, wires, satellite dishes, monitors, switches, modulators, processors, equipment for the Interconnection of the Cable System with adjacent Cable Systems or other separate communications network, and all other related equipment and facilities.
- **2.26** Parent Corporation means Comcast Communications, Inc. or successors and assigns and includes any other existing or future corporations with greater than fifty percent (50%) ownership or control over Grantee.
- **2.27** Person means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, association, corporation, or any other form of organization authorized to do business in the State of Oregon, and includes any natural person.
- **2.28 Programmer** means any Person responsible for PEG Access Programming on the Cable System, including, without limitation, any Person who produces or otherwise provides PEG Access Programming for transmission on the Cable System.
- **2.29 Programming** means television programs, audio, video or other patterns of Signals to be transmitted on the Cable System, and includes all programs or patterns of Signals transmitted, or capable of being transmitted, on the Cable System.
- 2.30 Streets and Public Rights of Way means the surface of and the space above and below any public street, road, sidewalk, alley or other public way of any type whatsoever, now or hereafter existing as such within the Franchise Area, and any easements, rights of way or other similar means of access to the extent Grantor has the right to allow Grantee to use them, and except the airwaves above a right of way with regard to cellular or other non-wire communications or broadcast services. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude Grantee's use of private easements as set forth in 47 U.S.C. §541(a)(2).
- **Record** means written or graphic materials, however produced or reproduced, or any other tangible permanent record, to the extent related to the enforcement or administration of this Agreement.
- **Quarterly or Quarter** means the standard calendar periods of January 1 March 31, April 1 June 30, July 1 September 30, and October 1 December 31, unless otherwise specified in this Agreement.
- **2.33** School means any accredited educational institution, public or private, including, but not limited to, primary and secondary Schools.
- **Section** means a provision of this Agreement, unless specified as part of another document.
- **2.35** Signal means any electrical or light impulses carried on the Cable System, whether one-way or bi-directional.
- **Subscriber** means any Person who is lawfully receiving, for any purpose or reason, any Cable Service provided by Grantee by means of, or in connection with, the Cable System.

2.37 Upstream means the transport of Signals to the Headend from remote points on the Cable System.

SECTION 3. GRANT OF FRANCHISE

3.1 **Grant**.

- (A) Grantor hereby grants to Grantee in the public interest a nonexclusive and revocable authorization to make lawful use of the Public Rights of Way within the Franchise Area to construct, operate, maintain, reconstruct, and repair a Cable System for the purpose of providing Cable Services for voice, video, and data, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
- (B) This Franchise is subject to the laws of the United States and the State of Oregon, and to the general codes of the City enacted pursuant thereto affecting matters of general City concern and not merely existing contractual rights of Grantee, whether now existing or hereinafter enacted. The Grantor shall make a good faith effort to notify the Grantee of any City proceedings which would substantially affect the Grantee's operations, and shall upon request supply the Grantee with copies of any City laws or regulations affecting Grantee's operations.
- (C) This Agreement is intended to convey limited rights and interests only as to those Public Rights of Way, in which the Grantor has an actual interest. It is not a warranty of title or interest in any Public Rights of Way, it does not provide the Grantee any interest in any particular location within the Public Rights of Way, and it does not confer rights other than as expressly provided in the grant hereof. This Agreement does not deprive the Grantor of any powers, rights, or privileges it now has, or may acquire in the future, to use, perform work on, or regulate the use and control of the Grantor's Public Rights of Way covered by this Agreement, including without limitation, the right to perform work on its Streets, or appurtenant public works facilities, including constructing, altering, paving, widening, grading, or excavating thereof.
- (D) This Agreement authorizes Grantee to engage in providing Cable Service, as that term is defined in 47 U.S.C. Sec. 522(6) as amended. This Agreement is not a bar to the provision of non-Cable Service; however, this Agreement shall not be interpreted to prevent the Grantor from imposing lawful additional conditions including additional compensation conditions for use of the Public Rights of Way should Grantee provide service other than Cable Service. Nothing herein shall be interpreted to prevent Grantee from challenging the lawfulness or enforceability of any provisions of applicable law.
- (E) Grantee promises and guarantees as a condition of exercising the privileges granted by this Agreement, that any agent, Affiliate or joint venture or partner of the Grantee directly involved in the offering of Cable Service in the Franchise Area, or directly involved in the management or operation of the Cable System in the Franchise Area, will also comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- **3.2** <u>Use of Public Rights of Way</u>. Subject to Grantor's supervision and control and the terms of this Agreement, Grantee may erect, install, construct, repair, replace, reconstruct, and retain in, on, over, under, upon, across, and along the Public Rights of

Way within the Franchise Area, such wires, cables, conductors, ducts, conduits, vaults, amplifiers, pedestals, attachments, and other property and equipment as are necessary and appurtenant to the operation of a Cable System within the Franchise Area. Grantee shall comply with all applicable construction codes, laws, ordinances, regulations and procedures now in effect or enacted hereafter, and must obtain any and all necessary permits from Grantor and any other applicable agencies prior to commencing any construction activities. Grantee, through this Agreement, is granted extensive and valuable rights to operate its Cable System for profit using Grantor's Public Rights of Way within the Franchise Area in compliance with all applicable Grantor construction codes and procedures, and any other applicable law. As trustee for the public, Grantor is entitled to fair compensation to be paid for these valuable rights throughout the term of this Agreement subject to federal law.

- **Duration.** The term of this Agreement and all rights, privileges, obligations, and restrictions pertaining thereto shall be from the Effective Date of this Agreement through ______, 2030, unless extended or terminated sooner as hereinafter provided.
- 3.5 Franchise Nonexclusive. This Agreement shall be nonexclusive, and is subject to all prior rights, interests, agreements, permits, easements or licenses granted by Grantor to any Person to use any Street, Public Rights of Way, easements not otherwise restricted, or property for any purpose whatsoever, including the right of Grantor to use same for any purpose it deems fit, including the same or similar purposes allowed Grantee hereunder. Grantor may, at any time, grant authorization to use the Public Rights of Way for any purpose not incompatible with Grantee's authority under this Agreement and for such additional Franchises for Cable Systems as Grantor deems appropriate subject to Section 3.6 below.
- 3.6 Grant of Other Franchises. The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the Grantor may be required by federal law, and reserves the right, to grant one or more additional franchises to provide Cable Service within the Franchise Area. If any additional competitive franchise is granted by the Grantor to provide Cable Service in the Grantee's Franchise Area pursuant to the Cable Act, which franchise contains material terms and conditions that are more favorable or less burdensome terms or conditions than this Franchise Agreement, then, except to the extent that state or federal laws or regulations permit or require more favorable or less burdensome terms or conditions, the Grantor agrees that it shall amend this Franchise to ensure that, considering all the circumstances including any limitations on its regulatory authority, the material provisions of such other franchises and this Franchise are, taken together, materially equivalent to the extent required by law. "Material terms and conditions" include, but are not limited to: franchise fees: insurance: system build-out requirements; performance bonds or similar instruments; Public, Educational and Government Access Channels and support; customer service

standards; required reports and related record keeping; and notice and opportunity to cure breaches. The parties agree that this provision shall not require a word for word identical franchise or authorization for a competitive entity. The parties agree that, notwithstanding any provision of this subsection 3.6, the Grantor shall not be obligated to comply with the provisions of this subsection to the extent doing so would cause the Grantor to violate applicable laws or FCC rules or if Grantee fails to make a written request to the Grantor for an amendment of the Franchise within one (1) Year of the adoption of the additional cable franchise as described in this Section. Video programming services delivered over wireless broadband networks are specifically exempted from the requirements of this Section.

In the event Grantor does not amend the Franchise as provided above, Grantee may elect, prior to the commencement of the Grantee's thirty-six (36) month renewal window provided by 47 USC §546, to file a written notice indicating an election to shorten the term of this Franchise, and thereafter the term of Grantee's Franchise shall, ninety (90) days from the Grantee's written notice, be shortened so that the Franchise shall be deemed to expire on the date thirty-six (36) months from the first day of the month following Grantee's ninety (90) day notice period. Grantee shall immediately thereafter secure franchise renewal rights pursuant to Section 626 of the Cable Act with no further notice to the Grantor required. The Grantor and Grantee shall then enter into proceedings consistent with Section 626 for renewal of this Franchise. The Grantor and Grantee shall have all rights and obligations provided under said Section 626.

- 3.7 Police Powers. Grantee's rights hereunder are subject to the lawful police powers of Grantor to adopt and enforce ordinances necessary to the safety, health, and welfare of the general public. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to waive the requirements of the other codes and ordinances of general applicability enacted, or hereafter enacted, by Grantor. Grantee agrees to comply with all applicable laws and ordinances enacted, or hereafter enacted, by Grantor or any other legally-constituted governmental unit having lawful jurisdiction over the subject matter hereof. Nothing in this Section shall be deemed a waiver by Grantee or the Grantor of the rights of Grantee or the Grantor under applicable law.
- 3.8 Relations to Other Provisions of Law. This Agreement and all rights and privileges granted under it are subject to, and the Grantee must exercise all rights in accordance with, applicable law as amended over the Franchise term. This Agreement is a contract, subject to the Grantor's exercise of its police powers. This Agreement does not confer rights or immunities upon the Grantee other than as expressly provided herein. In cases of conflict between this Agreement and any ordinance of general application specifically enacted pursuant to the Grantor's police power, the ordinance shall govern. Otherwise, the franchise shall govern over inconsistent ordinances. Grantee reserves all rights it may have to challenge the lawfulness of any Grantor ordinance, whether arising in contract or at law. The Grantor reserves all of its rights and defenses to such challenges, whether arising in contract or at law. The Franchise issued, and the Franchise fee paid hereunder, are not in lieu of any other required permit, authorization, fee, charge, or tax, unless expressly stated herein.
- **3.9** <u>Effect of Acceptance</u>. By accepting the Franchise the Grantee: (1) acknowledges and accepts the Grantor's legal right to issue and enforce the Agreement; (2) agrees that it will not oppose the Grantor's intervening or other participation in any proceeding

affecting the Cable System; (3) accepts and agrees to comply with each and every provision of this Agreement; and (4) agrees that the Franchise was granted pursuant to processes and procedures consistent with applicable law, and that it will not raise any claim to the contrary.

SECTION 4. FRANCHISE FEE AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS

4.1 Franchise Fees.

- (A) As compensation for the benefits and privileges granted under this Agreement, and in consideration of permission to use Public Rights of Way, Grantee shall pay as a Franchise fee to Grantor, throughout the duration of this Agreement, an amount equal to five percent (5%) of Grantee's Gross Revenues. Accrual of such Franchise fees shall commence as of the Effective Date of this Agreement. The Franchise fees are in addition to all other fees, assessments, taxes, or payments of general applicability that the Grantee may be required to pay under any federal, state, or local law to the extent not inconsistent with applicable law. This Agreement and the Franchise fees paid hereunder are not in lieu of any other generally applicable required permit, authorization, fee, charge, or tax.
- (B) In the event any law or valid rule or regulation applicable to this Franchise limits Franchise fees below the five percent (5%) of Gross Revenues required herein, the Grantee agrees to and shall pay the maximum permissible amount and, if such law or valid rule or regulation is later repealed or amended to allow a higher permissible amount, then the Grantee shall pay the higher amount up to the maximum allowable by law, not to exceed five percent (5%) during all affected time periods.
- **4.2** Payments. Grantee's Franchise fee payments to Grantor shall be computed quarterly. Each Quarterly payment shall be due and delivered to Grantor no later than forty-five (45) days after the last day of the preceding Quarter.
- **Acceptance of Payment and Recomputation.** No acceptance of any payment shall be construed as an accord by Grantor that the amount paid is, in fact, the correct amount, nor shall any acceptance of payments be construed as a release of any claim Grantor may have for further or additional sums payable or for the performance of any other obligation of Grantee.
- **Quarterly Franchise Fee Reports.** Each payment shall be accompanied by a written report to Grantor, verified by an authorized representative of the Grantee, containing an accurate statement in summarized form, as well as in detail, of Grantee's Gross Revenues and the computation of the payment amount.
- 4.5 <u>Annual Franchise Fee Reports</u>. Grantee shall, no later than one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each calendar year, furnish to Grantor a statement verified by an authorized representative of the Grantee, stating the total amount of Gross Revenues and all payments, deductions, and computations for the period covered by the payments.
- **4.6** Audit/Reviews. No more frequently than every twenty-four (24) months, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice, Grantor shall have the right to conduct an independent

audit or review of Grantee's Records reasonably related to the administration or enforcement of this Agreement. The Grantor may hire an independent third party to audit or review the Grantee's financial Records, in which case the Grantee shall provide all necessary Records to the third party. All such Records shall be made available in the local offices of the Grantee, or provided in electronic format fully compatible with Grantor's software. If the audit or review shows that Franchise fees have been underpaid by four percent (4%) or more, Grantee shall reimburse Grantor the reasonable cost of the audit or review up to fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) within thirty (30) days of the Grantor's written demand for same. Records for audit/review purposes shall include without limitation:

- (A) Source documents, which demonstrate the original or beginning amount, and the final amount shown on any report related to and/or included in the determination of Franchise fees, revenues or expenses related thereto.
- (B) Source documents that completely explain any and all calculations related to any allocation of any amounts involving Franchise fees, revenues, or expenses related thereto.
- (C) Any and all accounting schedules, statements, and any other form of representation, which relate to, account for, and/or support and/or correlate to any accounts involving Franchise fees, revenues or expenses related thereto.
- **4.7** Interest on Late Payments. Payments not received within forty-five (45) days from the Quarter ending date or are underpaid shall be assessed interest from the due date at a rate equal to the legal interest rate on judgments in the State of Oregon.
- Additional Commitments Not Franchise Fees. No term or condition in this Agreement shall in any way modify or affect Grantee's obligation to pay Franchise fees related to Cable Services to Grantor in accordance with applicable law. Although the total sum of Franchise fee payments and additional commitments set forth elsewhere in this Agreement may total more than five percent (5%) of Grantee's Gross Revenues in any twelve (12) month period, Grantee agrees that the additional commitments herein are not Franchise fees as defined under federal law, to the extent not inconsistent with applicable federal law, nor are they to be offset or credited against any Franchise fee payments due to Grantor.
- 4.9 <u>Costs of Publication</u>. Grantee shall pay the reasonable cost of newspaper notices and publication pertaining to this Agreement, and any amendments thereto, including changes in control or transfers of ownership, as such notice or publication is reasonably required by Grantor or applicable law.
- 4.10 <u>Tax Liability</u>. Payment of the Franchise fees under this Agreement shall not exempt Grantee from the payment of any generally applicable license, permit fee or other generally applicable fee, tax or charge on the business, occupation, property or income of Grantee that may be imposed by Grantor.
- **4.11** Payment on Termination. If this Agreement terminates for any reason, the Grantee shall file with the Grantor within ninety (90) calendar days of the date of the termination, a financial statement, certified by an independent certified public accountant, showing the Gross Revenues received by the Grantee since the end of the previous fiscal year.

The Grantor reserves the right to satisfy any remaining financial obligations of the Grantee to the Grantor by utilizing the funds available in a performance bond or other security provided by the Grantee.

SECTION 5. ADMINISTRATION AND REGULATION

- **Rate Discrimination.** All of Grantee's rates and charges shall be published (in the form of a publicly available rate card). Grantee shall apply its rates in accordance with governing law, without regard to race, color, familial, ethnic or national origin, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital, military status, or physical or mental disability, or geographic location in the Franchise Area to the extent required by applicable law.
- **Filing of Rates and Charges.** Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall maintain on file with Grantor a complete schedule of applicable rates and charges for Cable Service provided under this Agreement.
- 5.3 <u>Time Limits Strictly Construed</u>. Whenever this Agreement sets forth a time for any act to be performed by Grantee, such time shall be deemed to be of the essence, and any failure of Grantee to perform within the allotted time may be considered a material violation of this Agreement and sufficient grounds for Grantor to invoke any relevant provision of this Agreement. However, in the event that Grantee is prevented or delayed in the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement by reason of a force majeure occurrence, as defined in Section 5.4, Grantee's performance shall be excused during the force majeure occurrence and Grantee thereafter shall, under the circumstances, promptly perform the affected obligations under this Agreement or procure a substitute for performance which is satisfactory to Grantor. Grantee shall not be excused by mere economic hardship or by misfeasance or malfeasance of its directors, officers, employees, or duly authorized agents.
- Force Majeure. For the purposes of interpreting the requirements in this Agreement, Force Majeure shall mean: an event or events reasonably beyond the ability of Grantee to anticipate and control. This includes, but is not limited to, severe weather conditions, strikes, labor disturbances, lockouts, war or act of war (whether an actual declaration of war is made or not), insurrection, riots, acts of public enemy, actions or inactions of any government instrumentality or public utility including condemnation, accidents for which Grantee is not primarily responsible, fire, flood, or other acts of God, or documented work delays caused by waiting for utility providers to service or monitor utility poles to which Grantee's facilities are attached, and documented unavailability of materials and/or qualified labor to perform the work necessary to the extent that such unavailability of materials or labor was reasonably beyond the control of Grantee to foresee or control.

5.5 Mid-Term Performance Evaluation Session.

- (A) Grantor may hold a single performance evaluation session during the term of this Agreement. Grantor shall conduct such evaluation session.
- (B) Evaluation session shall be open to the public and announced at least one week in advance in a newspaper of general circulation in the Franchise Area.

- (C) Evaluation session shall deal with the Grantee's performance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and compliance with state and federal laws and regulations.
- (D) As part of the performance evaluation session, Grantee shall submit to the Grantor a plant survey, report, or map, in a format mutually acceptable to Grantor and Grantee, which includes a description of the portions of the Franchise Area that are cabled and have all Cable Services available. Such report shall also include the number of miles and location of overhead and underground cable plant. If the Grantor has reasons to believe that a portion or all of the Cable System does not meet the applicable FCC technical standards, the Grantor, at its expense, reserves the right to appoint a qualified independent engineer to evaluate and verify the technical performance of the Cable System.
- (E) During the evaluation under this Section, Grantee shall fully cooperate with Grantor and shall provide such information and documents as necessary and reasonable to Grantor to perform the evaluation subject to Section 8.2.

SECTION 6. FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

6.1 <u>Insurance Requirements</u>.

- (A) General Requirement. Grantee must have adequate insurance during the entire term of this Agreement to protect against claims for injuries to Persons or damages to property which in any way relate to, arise from, or are connected with this Agreement or involve Grantee, its duly authorized agents, representatives, contractors, subcontractors and their employees.
- (B) Initial Insurance Limits. Grantee must keep insurance in effect in accordance with the minimum insurance limits herein set forth by the Grantor. The Grantee shall obtain policies for the following initial minimum insurance limits:
 - (1) Commercial General Liability: Three million dollar (\$3,000,000) combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury, and property damage, and for those policies with aggregate limits, a four million dollar (\$4,000,000) aggregate limit; one million dollar (\$1,000,000) limit for broadcasters liability.
 - (2) Automobile Liability: Two million dollar (\$2,000,000) combined single limit per accident for bodily injury and property damage; and
 - (3) Employer's Liability: Two million dollar (\$2,000,000) limit.
- 6.2 <u>Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions</u>. If Grantee changes its policy to include a self-insured retention, the Grantee shall give notice of such change to the Grantor. Grantor's approval will be given if the self-insured retention is consistent with standard industry practices. Any deductible or self-insured retention of the policies shall not in any way limit Grantee's liability to the Grantor.
 - (A) Endorsements.
 - (1) All policies shall contain, or shall be endorsed so that:

- (a) The Grantor, its officers, officials, employees, and duly authorized agents are to be covered as, and have the rights of, additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of activities performed by, or on behalf of, Grantee under this Agreement or applicable law, or in the construction, operation or repair, or ownership of its Cable System;
- (b) The Grantee's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect to the Grantor, its officers, officials, employees, and duly authorized agents. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the Grantor, its officers, officials, employees, and duly authorized agents shall be in excess of the Grantee's insurance and shall not contribute to it;
- (c) Grantee's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom a claim is made or lawsuit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer's liability; and
- (d) The policy shall not be suspended, voided, canceled, or reduced in coverage or in limits, nor shall the intention not to renew be stated by the insurance company except after forty-five (45) days prior written notice, return receipt requested, has been given to the Grantor.
- (B) Acceptability of Insurers. The insurance obtained by Grantee shall be placed with insurers with an A.M. Best's rating of no less than "A-".
- (C) Verification of Coverage. Upon request, the Grantee shall furnish the Grantor with certificates of insurance and endorsements or a copy of the page of the policy reflecting blanket additional insured status. The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy are to be signed by a Person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy are to be on standard forms or such forms as are consistent with standard industry practices, and are to be received and approved by the Grantor prior to the commencement of activities associated with this Agreement. The Grantee hereby warrants that its insurance policies satisfy the requirements of this Agreement and Grantor's ordinances and laws.

6.3 Indemnification.

(A) Scope of Indemnity. Grantee shall, at its sole cost and expense, indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the Grantor and its officers, boards, duly authorized agents, and employees against any and all claims, including, but not limited to, third party claims, suits, causes of action, proceedings, and judgments for damages or equitable relief, to the extent such liability arises out of or through the acts or omissions of the Grantee arising out of the construction, operation or repair of its Cable System regardless of whether the act or omission complained of is authorized, allowed, or prohibited by this Agreement, provided, however, the Grantee will not be obligated to indemnify Grantor should Grantor intervene in any proceeding regarding the grant of this Agreement pursuant to Section 3.9 of this Agreement; and provided further Grantee will not be obligated to indemnify Grantor for damage or injury resulting from the negligence or willful negligence of Grantor. Without limiting in any way the Grantee's obligation to

indemnify the Grantor and its officers, boards, duly authorized agents, and employees, as set forth above, this indemnity provision also includes damages and liabilities such as:

- (1) To persons or property, to the extent such liability arises out of or through the acts or omissions of the Grantee, its contractors, subcontractors, and their officers, employees, or duly authorized agents, or to which the Grantee's negligence or fault shall in any way contribute;
- (2) Arising out of any claim for invasion of the right of privacy; for defamation of any Person, firm or corporation; for the violation or infringement of any copyright, trademark, trade name, service mark, or patent; for a failure by the Grantee to secure consents from the owners or authorized distributors of programs to be delivered by the Cable System; or for violation of any other right of any Person, to the extent such liability arises out of or through the acts or omissions of the Grantee, provided, however, that Grantee will not be required to indemnify Grantor for any claims arising out of use of PEG Access Channels or use of PEG funds by Grantor and/or DAP;
- (3) Arising out of Grantee's failure to comply with the provisions of any federal, state or local statute, ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to the Grantee with respect to any aspect of its business to which this Agreement applies, to the extent such liability arises out of or through the acts or omissions of the Grantee; and
- (4) Arising from any third party suit, action or litigation, whether brought by a competitor to Grantee or by any other Person or entity, to the extent such liability arises out of or through the acts or omissions of the Grantee, whether such Person or entity does or does not have standing to bring such suit, action or litigation if such action (1) challenges the authority of the Grantor to issue this Agreement to Grantee; or (2) alleges that, in issuing this Agreement to Grantee, the Grantor has acted in a disparate or discriminatory manner.
- (B) Duty to Give Notice and Tender Defense. The Grantor shall give the Grantee timely written notice of any claim or of the commencement of any action, suit or other proceeding covered by the indemnity obligation in this Section. In the event any such claim arises, the Grantor or any other indemnified party shall tender the defense thereof to the Grantee and the Grantee shall have the obligation and duty to defend, settle or compromise any claims arising thereunder, and the Grantor shall cooperate fully therein. Grantee shall accept or decline the tender within thirty (30) days. Grantee shall reimburse reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred by the Grantor during the thirty (30) day period in which the Grantee accepts or declines tender. In the event that the Grantee declines defense of the claim in violation of Section 6.2, the Grantor may defend such claim and seek recovery from Grantee its expenses for reasonable attorney fees and disbursements, including expert witness fees, incurred by Grantor for defense and in seeking such recovery.

6.4 Performance Bond.

- (A) In addition to any other generally applicable bond or security fund obligations required by local ordinance, upon the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Grantee shall furnish proof of the posting of a faithful performance bond running to the Grantor collectively with good and sufficient surety approved by the City, in the penal sum of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00), conditioned that Grantee shall well and truly observe, fulfill and perform each term and condition of this Agreement. Such bond shall be issued by a bonding company licensed to do business in the State of Oregon and shall be maintained by the Grantee throughout the term of this Agreement.
- (B) The bond shall contain a provision that it shall not be terminated or otherwise allowed to expire without thirty (30) days written notice first being given to the Grantor. The bond shall be subject to the approval of the Grantor as to its adequacy under the requirements of this Section. During the term of the bond, Grantee shall file with the Grantor a duplicate copy of the bond along with written evidence of payment of the required premiums unless the bond otherwise provides that the bond shall not expire or be terminated without thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Grantor.

SECTION 7. CUSTOMER SERVICE

- **7.1** Customer service obligations are set forth herein as Attachment A and are hereby incorporated by this reference.
- **7.2** <u>Emergency Broadcast</u>. Grantee will comply with the Emergency Alert System (EAS) as provided under applicable FCC Regulations, the Oregon State EAS Plan and the local EAS plan, if any, which applies to Grantor.
- 7.3 ADA Accessible Equipment. Grantee shall comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"), any amendments thereto and any other applicable federal, state or local laws or regulations. Grantee shall notify Subscribers of the availability of ADA equipment and services and shall provide such equipment and services in accordance with federal and state laws.
- 7.4 <u>Discriminatory Practices</u>. Grantee shall not deny Cable Service, or otherwise discriminate against Subscribers, Programmers or any other Persons on the basis of race, color, religion, age, sex, national origin, sexual orientation or physical or mental disability. Grantee shall comply at all times with all other applicable federal, state or local laws, rules and regulations relating to non-discrimination.

SECTION 8. REPORTS AND RECORDS

8.1 Open Records.

(A) Grantee shall manage all of its operations in accordance with a policy of keeping its documents and Records open and accessible to Grantor. Grantor shall have access to, and the right to inspect, any books and Records of Grantee, its Parent Corporations and Affiliated entities that are reasonably related and

necessary to the administration or enforcement of the terms of this Agreement. Grantee shall not deny Grantor access to any of Grantee's Records on the basis that Grantee's Records are under the control of any Parent Corporation, Affiliated entity or a third party. Grantor may, in writing, request copies of any such Records or books and Grantee shall provide such copies within ten (10) business days of the transmittal of such request. If the requested books and Records are too voluminous, or for security reasons cannot be copied or removed, then Grantee may request, in writing within ten (10) business days, that Grantor inspect them at one of Grantee's local area offices. If any books or Records of Grantee are not kept in a local office, Grantee will provide or otherwise make such documents available for inspection and review at the local office within ten (10) business days.

- (B) Grantee shall at all times maintain and allow Grantor, with reasonable notice, access and the right to review a full and complete set of plans, Records and "as built" maps showing the approximate location of all Cable System equipment installed or in use in the Franchise Area, exclusive of electronics, Subscriber drops and equipment provided in Subscribers' homes. These maps shall be maintained in a standard format and medium consistent with Grantee's regular business practices. Grantor's review of the plans, Records, and as-built maps, provided for herein, shall occur at the Grantee's local office.
- (C) The ability for Grantor to obtain Records and information from Grantee is critical to the administration of this Agreement and the requirements herein. Therefore, Grantee's failure to comply with the requirements of this Section may result in liquidated damages as prescribed in Section 14.2.
- 8.2 Confidentiality. Subject to the limits of the Oregon Public Records Law, Grantor agrees to treat as confidential any books and Records that constitute proprietary or confidential information under federal or state law, to the extent Grantee makes Grantor aware of such confidentiality. Grantee shall be responsible for clearly and conspicuously stamping the word "Confidential" on each page that contains confidential or proprietary information, and shall provide a brief written explanation as to why such information is confidential under state or federal law. If Grantor believes it must release any such confidential books and Records in the course of enforcing this Agreement, or for any other reason, it shall advise Grantee in advance so that Grantee may take appropriate steps to protect its interests. If Grantor receives a demand from any Person for disclosure of any information designated by Grantee as confidential, Grantor shall, so far as consistent with applicable law, advise Grantee and provide Grantee with a copy of any written request by the party demanding access to such information within a reasonable time. Until otherwise ordered by a court or agency of competent jurisdiction, Grantor agrees that, to the extent permitted by state and federal law, it shall deny access to any of Grantee's books and Records marked confidential as set forth above to any Person.
- 8.3 Copies of Federal and State Documents. Upon thirty (30) days of a request by Grantor, Grantee shall submit to Grantor a list, or copies of actual documents, of all pleadings, applications, notifications, communications and documents of any kind, submitted by Grantee or its Parent Corporations or Affiliates to any federal, state or local courts; regulatory agencies or other government bodies if such documents specifically relate to the operations of Grantee's Cable System within the Franchise Area. To the extent allowed by law, any such confidential material determined to be exempt from

public disclosure shall be retained in confidence by Grantor and its duly authorized agents and shall not be made available for public inspection.

8.4 Complaint Files and Reports.

- (A) Grantee shall keep an accurate and comprehensive Record of any and all complaints received from the City regarding the operation and performance of the Cable System within the Franchise Area, in a manner consistent with the privacy rights of Subscribers, and Grantee's actions in response to those complaints. Those Records shall be retained for three (3) years, and remain available to Grantor during Normal Business Hours.
 - (1) "Upon written request, with the request to be made within forty-five (45) days of the end of the preceding calendar year, Grantee shall provide an executive summary report within sixty (60) days of the written notice from Grantor. Information to be included in the executive summary would include: subscriber numbers by video category; homes passed; disconnections by category; construction activity to include new homes passed and marketable passings; number of service calls; % of service calls made within 72 hours of notification; and outages.
 - (2) Grantor shall also have the right to request such information as appropriate and reasonable to determine whether or not Grantee is in compliance with applicable Customer Service Standards, as referenced in Attachment A. Such information shall be provided to Grantor in such format as Grantee customarily prepares reports. Grantee shall fully cooperate with Grantor and shall provide such information and documents as necessary and reasonable for Grantor to evaluate compliance.
- **8.5** <u>Inspection of Facilities</u>. Grantor may inspect upon request any of Grantee's facilities and equipment to confirm performance under this Agreement at any time upon at least twenty-four (24) hours' notice, or, in case of an emergency, upon demand without prior notice.
- **False Statements.** Any intentional false or misleading statement or representation in any report required by this Agreement may be deemed a violation of this Agreement and may subject Grantee to all remedies, legal or equitable, which are available to Grantor under this Agreement or otherwise. Grantor shall have the right to determine the severity of the violation based upon the report in question.
- **Report Expense.** All reports and Records required under this or any other Section shall be furnished, without cost, to Grantor.

SECTION 9. PROGRAMMING

9.1 **Broad Programming Categories**.

(A) Grantee's Cable System shall provide the widest diversity of Programming possible. Grantee shall provide at least the following

broad categories of Programming to the extent such categories are reasonably available:

- (1) Educational Programming.
- (2) Sports.
- (3) General entertainment (including movies).
- (4) Children/family-oriented.
- (5) Arts, culture and performing arts.
- (6) Foreign language.
- (7) Science/documentary. Weather information.
- (8) Programming addressed to diverse ethnic and minority interests in the Franchise Area; and
- (9) National, state, and local government affairs.
- (B) Grantee shall not delete any broad category of Programming within its control.
- **Parental Control Devices.** Upon request by any Subscriber, Grantee shall make available a parental control or lockout device, traps, or filters to enable a Subscriber to control access to both the audio and video portions of any or all Channels. Grantee shall inform its Subscribers of the availability of the lockout device at the time of their initial subscription and periodically thereafter.

9.3 Continuity of Service.

- (A) It shall be the right of all Subscribers to continue to receive Cable Service from Grantee insofar as their financial and other obligations to Grantee are satisfied. Subject to the force majeure provisions of Section 5.4 of this Agreement, Grantee shall use its best efforts to ensure that all Subscribers receive continuous, uninterrupted Cable Service regardless of the circumstances.
- (B) In the event of a change in ownership, or in the event a new Cable Operator acquires the Cable System in accordance with this Agreement, Grantee shall cooperate with Grantor and such new Cable Operator in maintaining continuity of service to all Subscribers.

SECTION 10. PUBLIC, EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS

(A) Designated Access Providers.

(1) The Grantor may designate Public, Educational and Government Access Providers, including itself, to control and manage the use of any or all Access Channels provided by the Grantee under this Franchise (the "Designated Access Provider") throughout the Franchise Area. The Grantor or its designee may formulate rules for the operation of the

Access Channels, consistent with this Franchise; such rules shall not be designed to control the content of Public Access programming.

Grantee shall cooperate with Designated Access Provider(s) in the use of the Access Channels for the provision of PEG Access. Nothing in this Franchise shall prevent the Grantor or its Designated Access Provider from carrying out fundraising activities to supplement access capital or operating funds consistent with applicable federal and state law and regulations, and such fundraising activity shall not in itself constitute a commercial use of access channels, facilities and equipment. However, Grantee may review such use and if Grantee determines that such use is inconsistent with applicable federal and state law or regulations, Grantor or its Designated Access Provider, upon written notification from Grantee, shall immediately cease such use.

(2) Grantee shall enter into such operating agreements with Designated Access. Provider(s) as may be necessary to facilitate and coordinate the provision of PEG Access, provided that all such operating agreements shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this Franchise.

(B) Channel Capacity.

- (1) Grantee will continue to provide to the Grantor, for independent administration by the Grantor or its designee throughout the term of the Franchise, one (1) PEG Access Channel to be cablecast throughout the Franchise Area. In addition, as of the effective date of this Franchise, there is one (1) Channel used for PEG Access Programming that is not originating from or controlled by Grantor that will continue to be available to Subscribers: channel 11 (CAN Regional Public Access). Grantor acknowledges that Grantee does not control any of the Access Programming on the CAN Regional Public Access channel, and should any or all such Programming no longer be available by those controlling such Programming, Grantee is not obligated to maintain that Channel.
- (2) All Access Channels required by this Franchise shall be included by Grantee in Basic Cable Service, and shall throughout the term of the Franchise be fully available and accessible to every Subscriber without additional costs, charges or equipment.

(C) Support for Access Costs.

(1) Except as otherwise agreed to by the parties, throughout the term of this Franchise, Grantee shall pay to the City fifty-two cents (\$.52) per month, per residential Subscriber, or such lesser amount if authorized in writing by Grantor, due within sixty (60) days of the Effective Date of the Franchise to be used for capital equipment and facilities related to PEG access and distribution, and, to the extent permitted by law, PEG operating costs. The Grantee shall make such payments quarterly, following the Effective Date of this agreement for the preceding quarter ending March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31. Each payment shall be due and payable no later than forty-five (45) days

- following the end of the quarter, concurrent with the franchise fee payment pursuant to Section 4.2.
- (2) If Grantor enters into a franchise agreement or amends an existing franchise agreement with another Cable Operator after the Effective Date of this Franchise to provide Cable Service in all or any portion of the Grantee's Franchise Area that includes PEG financial support calculated based on a Gross Revenues basis that is less than twenty-five cents (\$.25) per month, per residential Subscriber, then, to the extent required by law, Grantee shall be entitled to reduce the PEG contribution to match that of the other Cable Operator(s).
- (3) Upon request, the Grantor shall provide a report not more than annually to the Grantee on the use of the funds provided to the Grantor under this Section 10(C). The annual report shall be submitted to Grantee within forty-five (45) days after the date the Grantor receives the request. Grantee may review Records of the Grantor and its designees regarding the use of funds described in such report. Grantee may review Records of the Grantor, and any PEG access providers receiving the funds, regarding the use of funds provided and channels, to verify that the funds have been used in accordance with this Agreement.
- (4) Grantee agrees that financial support or costs arising from or relating to the obligations set forth in this Section 10(C) shall in no way modify or otherwise affect the Grantee's obligations to pay Franchise fees to the Grantor. Grantee agrees that although the sum of Franchise fees and the payments set forth in this Section may total more than five percent (5%) of the Grantee's Gross Revenues in any twelve (12) month period, the additional commitments shall not be offset or otherwise credited in any way against any past, present and future Franchise fee payments under this Franchise. As provided for under federal law, Grantee may pass through to Subscribers and itemize on Subscriber cable bills the PEG Access contribution set forth in subsection 10(C)(i).

SECTION 11. GENERAL STREET USE AND CONSTRUCTION

11.1 Construction.

(A) Subject to applicable laws, regulations and ordinances of Grantor and the provisions of this Agreement, Grantee may perform all construction and maintenance necessary for the operation of its Cable System. All construction and maintenance of any and all facilities within the Public Rights of Way incident to Grantee's Cable System shall, regardless of who performs the construction, be and remain Grantee's responsibility. Except as permitted in Section 11.1(D), prior to performing any construction or maintenance in the Public Rights of Way, Grantee shall apply for, and obtain, all necessary permits. Grantee shall pay, prior to issuance, all applicable fees of the requisite construction permits and give appropriate notices to any other Cable Operators, licensees or permittees of the Grantor, or other units of government owning or maintaining pipes, wires, conduits or other facilities which may be affected by the proposed excavation.

- (B) All construction shall be performed in compliance with this Agreement, all applicable Grantor ordinances and codes, and any permit issued by the Grantor. When obtaining a permit, Grantee shall inquire in writing about other construction currently in progress, planned or proposed, in order to investigate thoroughly all opportunities for joint trenching or boring. Whenever it is possible and reasonably practicable to joint trench or share bores or cuts, Grantee shall work with other providers, Cable Operators, and permittees so as to reduce as far as possible the number of Street cuts.
- (C) Grantor shall have the right to inspect all construction or installation work performed within the Franchise Area as it shall find necessary to ensure compliance with the terms of this Agreement, other pertinent provisions of law, and any permit issued by the Grantor.
- (D) In the event that emergency repairs are necessary, Grantee shall immediately notify the City of the need for such repairs. Grantee may initiate such emergency repairs, and shall apply for appropriate permits as soon as reasonably practicable but in no event later than forty-eight (48) hours after discovery of the emergency. Grantee shall comply with all applicable City regulations relating to such excavations or construction, including the payment of permit or license fees.
- (E) Whenever possible, to avoid additional wear and tear on the Public Rights of Way, Grantee shall utilize existing poles and conduit. Grantee may charge for use of the conduit consistent with all applicable laws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement does not grant, give or convey to the Grantee the right or privilege to install its facilities in any manner on specific utility poles or equipment of the Grantor or any other Person without their permission. Copies of agreements for use of poles, conduits or other utility facilities must be provided upon request by the Grantor upon demonstrated need and subject to protecting Grantee's proprietary information from disclosure to third parties.
- 11.2 <u>Location of Facilities</u>. Grantee shall comply with the requirements of Oregon Utility Notification Center ORS 757.542-757.562 and ORS 757.993 (2009) (penalty for violation of utility excavation notification provisions), and applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder in OAR Chapter 952 relating to Oregon Utility Notification Center.

11.3 Relocation.

- (A) Relocation for Grantor.
 - (1) Grantor shall have the right to require Grantee to change the location of any part of Grantee's Cable System within the Public Rights of Way when the public convenience requires such change, and the expense thereof shall be paid by Grantee (however payment by Grantee shall in no way limit Grantee's right, if any, to seek reimbursement for such costs from any third party). Should Grantee fail to remove or relocate any such facilities by the date established by Grantor, Grantor may effect such removal or relocation, and the expense thereof shall be paid by Grantee, including all costs and expenses incurred by Grantor due to Grantee's

- delay. If Grantor requires Grantee to relocate its facilities located within the Public Rights of Way, Grantor shall make a reasonable effort to provide Grantee with an alternate location within the Public Rights of Way.
- (2) If public funds, which Grantor received, are available to any other user of the Public Rights of Way (except for Grantor) for the purpose of defraying the cost of relocating or removing facilities and Grantee relocates or removes its facilities as required by Grantor under this Agreement, the Grantor shall notify Grantee of such funding and will reimburse Grantee for such costs to the extent permitted or allowed by the funding source or applicable state law and to the extent other users of the Public Rights of Way are provided such funds. Grantee shall be reimbursed for costs associated with beautification or enhancement projects paid for by affected property owners to the same extent as impacted utilities.
- (B) Relocation by Grantor. The Grantor may remove, replace, modify or disconnect Grantee's facilities and equipment located in the Public Right of Way or on any other property of the Grantor in the case of fire, disaster, or other emergency, provided that, Grantor shall be responsible for any damage to Grantee's facilities as a result of Grantor's negligence or gross negligence in performing work under this Section subject to the limits of the Oregon Tort Claims Act and the Oregon Constitution. The Grantor shall attempt to provide notice to Grantee prior to taking such action and shall, when feasible, provide Grantee with the opportunity to perform such action.
- (C) Movement for Other Franchise Holders. If any removal, replacement, modification or disconnection is required to accommodate the construction, operation or repair of the facilities or equipment of another Franchise holder, Grantee shall, after at least thirty (30) days' advance written notice, take action regarding the necessary changes requested by the responsible entity. Grantee and such other Franchise holder shall determine how costs associated with the removal or relocation required herein shall be allocated.
- (D) Movement for Other Permittees. At the request of any Person holding a valid permit and upon reasonable advance notice, Grantee shall temporarily raise, lower or remove its wires as necessary to permit the moving of a building, vehicle, equipment or other item. The permit holder must pay the expense of such temporary changes, and Grantee may require the permit holder to pay the full amount in advance.
- 11.4 Restoration of Public Rights of Way. Whenever Grantee excavates, damages, or disturbs the surface of any Public Right of Way for any purpose, including but not limited to relocation or undergrounding as required in this Section, Grantee shall promptly restore the Public Right of Way to the satisfaction of the Grantor in accordance with applicable Grantor ordinances and codes and any permit issued by the Grantor. In the event there is no applicable ordinance, code or permit, Grantee shall promptly restore the Public Right of Way to at least its prior condition. Unless otherwise provided in any permit issued by Grantor, when any opening is made by Grantee in a hard surface pavement in any Public Right of Way, Grantee shall refill within twenty-four

(24) hours. Grantee shall be responsible for restoration and maintenance of the Public Right of Way and its surface affected by the excavation in accordance with applicable regulations of the Grantor. Grantor may, after providing notice to Grantee, or without notice where the disturbance or damage may create a risk to public health or safety, refill or repave any opening made by Grantee in the Public Rights of Way, and the expense thereof shall be paid by Grantee. Grantor may, after providing notice to Grantee, remove and/or repair any work done by Grantee that, in the determination of Grantor, is inadequate. The cost thereof, including the costs of inspection and supervision, shall be paid by Grantee. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of an itemized list of those costs, including the costs of labor, materials and equipment, the Grantee shall pay the Grantor. All excavations made by Grantee in the Public Rights of Way shall be properly safeguarded for the prevention of accidents. All of Grantee's work under this Agreement, and this Section in particular, shall be done in strict compliance with all rules, regulations and ordinances of Grantor.

11.5 Maintenance and Workmanship.

- (A) Grantee's Cable System shall be constructed and maintained in such manner as not to interfere with sewers, water pipes, or any other property of Grantor, or with any other pipes, wires, conduits, pedestals, structures, equipment or other facilities that may have been laid in the Public Rights of Way by, or under, Grantor's authority.
- (B) Grantee shall maintain and use any equipment necessary to control and carry Grantee's cable television Signals so as to prevent injury to Grantor's property or property belonging to any Person. Grantee, at its own expense, shall repair, change and improve its facilities to keep them in good repair, and safe and presentable condition.
- 11.6 Reservation of Grantor Public Rights of Way. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent Grantor or Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent Grantor or utilities owned, maintained or operated by public entities other than Grantor, from constructing sewers; grading, paving, repairing or altering any Public Right of Way; repairing or removing water mains; or constructing or establishing any other public work or improvement. All such work shall be done, insofar as practicable, so as not to obstruct, injure or prevent the use and operation of Grantee's Cable System. However, if any of Grantee's Cable System interferes with the construction or repair of any Public Right of Way or public improvement, including construction, repair or removal of a sewer or water main or any other public work, Grantee's Cable System shall be removed or replaced in the manner Grantor shall direct, and Grantor shall in no event be liable for any damage to any portion of Grantee's Cable System. Any and all such removal or replacement shall be at the expense of Grantee. Should Grantee fail to remove, adjust or relocate its facilities by the date established by Grantor's written notice to Grantee, Grantor may effect such removal, adjustment or relocation, and the expense thereof shall be paid by Grantee, including all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by Grantor due to Grantee's delay.
- 11.7 <u>Use of Conduits by Grantor</u>. Grantor may install or affix and maintain wires and equipment owned by Grantor for governmental purposes in or upon any and all of Grantee's ducts, conduits or equipment in the Public Rights of Way and other public places upon reasonable share of costs, to the extent space therein or thereon is

reasonably available and feasible without compromising the integrity of the Cable System or facility, and pursuant to all applicable ordinances and codes. For the purposes of this Section 11.7, "governmental purposes" includes, but is not limited to, the use of the structures and installations by Grantor for fire, police, traffic, water, telephone, or signal systems, but not for Cable System purposes or provision of services in competition with Grantee. Grantee shall not deduct the value of such use of its facilities from its Franchise fees payable to Grantor except as otherwise may be authorized by federal law.

- Grantee is vacated by Grantor during the term of this Agreement, unless Grantor specifically reserves to Grantee the right to continue its installation in the vacated Public Right of Way, Grantee shall, without delay or expense to Grantor, remove its facilities from such Public Right of Way, and restore, repair or reconstruct the Public Right of Way where such removal has occurred, and place the Public Right of Way in such condition as may be required by Grantor. In the event of failure, neglect or refusal of Grantee, after thirty (30) days' notice by Grantor, to restore, repair or reconstruct such Public Right of Way, Grantor may do such work or cause it to be done, and the reasonable cost thereof, as found and declared by Grantor, shall be paid by Grantee within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice and documentation, and failure to make such payment shall be considered a material violation of this Agreement.
- 11.9 Discontinuing Use of Facilities. Whenever Grantee intends to discontinue using any facility within the Public Rights of Way, Grantee shall submit for Grantor's approval a complete description of the facility and the date on which Grantee intends to discontinue using the facility. Grantee may remove the facility or request that Grantor allow it to remain in place. Notwithstanding Grantee's request that any such facility remain in place, Grantor may require Grantee to remove the facility from the Public Rights of Way or modify the facility to protect the public health, welfare, safety, and convenience, or otherwise serve the public interest. Grantor may require Grantee to perform a combination of modification and removal of the facility. Grantee shall complete such removal or modification in accordance with a reasonable schedule set by Grantor. Until such time as Grantee removes or modifies the facility as directed by Grantor, or until the rights to and responsibility for the facility are accepted by another Person having authority to construct and maintain such facility, Grantee shall be responsible for all necessary repairs and relocations of the facility, as well as maintenance of the Public Rights of Way, in the same manner and degree as if the facility were in active use, and Grantee shall retain all liability for such facility. Grantee shall not be required to remove the facility if the facility is used to provide services not regulated under this Agreement.

11.10 <u>Hazardous Substances</u>.

- (A) Grantee shall comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws, statutes, regulations and orders concerning hazardous substances relating to Grantee's Cable System in the Public Rights of Way.
- (B) Grantee shall maintain and inspect its Cable System located in the Public Rights of Way. Upon reasonable notice to Grantee, Grantor may inspect Grantee's facilities in the Public Rights of Way to determine if any release of hazardous substances has occurred, or may occur, from or related to

- Grantee's Cable System. In removing or modifying Grantee's facilities as provided in this Agreement, Grantee shall also remove all residue of hazardous substances related thereto.
- (C) Grantee agrees to forever indemnify the Grantor, its officers, boards, City, duly authorized agents, and employees, from and against any claims, costs and expenses of any kind, pursuant to and in accordance with applicable State or federal laws, rules and regulations, for the removal or remediation of any leaks, spills, contamination or residues of hazardous substances attributable to Grantee's Cable System in the Public Rights of Way.

11.11 Undergrounding of Cable.

- (A) Where all utility lines are installed underground at the time of Cable System construction, or when such lines are subsequently placed underground, all Cable System lines or wiring and equipment shall also be placed underground on a nondiscriminatory basis with other utility lines at no additional expense to the Grantor, to the extent permitted by law and applicable safety codes. Cable must be installed underground where: (1) all existing utility lines are placed underground, (2) statute, ordinance, policy, or other regulation of an individual Grantor or City requires utility lines to be placed underground, or (3) all overhead utility lines are placed underground.
- (B) Related Cable System equipment such as pedestals must be placed in accordance with applicable code requirements and underground utility rules; provided, however, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to require Grantee to construct, operate, or maintain underground any ground-mounted appurtenances such as customer taps, line extenders, system passive devices, amplifiers, pedestals, power supplies, or other related equipment. In areas where electric or telephone utility wiring is aerial, the Grantee may install aerial cable, except when a property owner or resident requests underground installation and agrees to bear the reasonable additional cost in excess of aerial installation.
- (C) For purposes of this Section 11.11, "utility lines" and "utility wiring" does not include high voltage electric lines.
- 11.12 <u>Tree Trimming</u>. Subject to acquiring prior written permission of the Grantor, including any required permit, the Grantee shall have the authority to trim trees that overhang a Public Right of Way of the Grantor so as to prevent the branches of such trees from coming in contact with its Cable System, in accordance with applicable codes and regulations and current, accepted professional tree trimming practices.
- applicable construction, building and zoning Codes. Grantee shall strictly adhere to all applicable construction, building and zoning codes currently or hereafter in effect. Grantee shall arrange its lines, cables and other appurtenances, on both public and private property, in such a manner as to not cause unreasonable interference with the use of said public or private property by any Person. In the event of such interference, Grantor may require the removal or relocation of Grantee's lines, cables, and other appurtenances, at Grantee's cost, from the property in question.

11.14 Standards.

- (A) All work authorized and required hereunder shall be done in a safe, thorough and workmanlike manner. The Grantee must comply with all safety requirements, rules, and practices and employ all necessary devices as required by applicable law during construction, operation and repair of its Cable System. By way of illustration and not limitation, the Grantee must comply with applicable provisions of the National Electrical Code, National Electrical Safety Code and Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) Standards.
- (B) Grantee shall ensure that individual Cable System drops are consistent, in all respects, with applicable provisions of the National Electrical Code and the National Electrical Safety Code.

SECTION 12. SYSTEM DESIGN AND STANDARDS

12.1 Subscriber Network.

- (A) As of the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Cable System utilizes a Fiber to the node architecture serving no more than fifteen hundred (1,500) Subscribers per node. All active electronics are 750 MHz capable equipment, or equipment of higher bandwidth. Grantee agrees to maintain and improve upon this architecture as demand requires.
- (B) Grantee's Subscriber network shall, at all times, meet or exceed the minimum system design and performance specifications required by the FCC.

12.2 Test and Compliance Procedures.

- (A) Upon request, Grantee shall advise Grantor of schedules and methods for testing the Cable System on a regular basis to determine compliance with the provisions of applicable FCC technical standards. Representatives of Grantor may witness tests, and written test reports may be made available to Grantor upon request.
- (B) To the extent required by FCC Rules, Grantee shall conduct proof of performance tests and cumulative leakage index tests designed to demonstrate compliance with FCC requirements. Grantee shall provide Grantor summary written reports of the results of such tests.
- 12.3 <u>Standby Power</u>. Grantee shall provide standby power generating capacity at the Cable System Headend capable of providing at least twelve (12) hours of emergency operation. Grantee shall maintain standby power system supplies, to the node, rated for at least two (2) hours duration. In addition, throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall have a plan in place, along with all resources necessary for implementing such plan, for dealing with outages of more than two (2) hours.

SECTION 13. SERVICE EXTENSION, CONSTRUCTION, AND INTERCONNECTION

13.1 Equivalent Service. It is Grantee's general policy that all residential dwelling units in the Franchise Area have equivalent availability to Cable Service from Grantee's Cable System under nondiscriminatory rates and reasonable terms and conditions, subject to

federal law. Grantee shall not arbitrarily refuse to provide Cable Service to any Person within its Franchise Area.

13.2 Service Availability.

(A) Service to New Subdivisions. Grantee shall provide Cable Service in new subdivisions upon the following occurrence:

Within thirty (30) days following a request from a resident. For purposes of this Section, a receipt shall be deemed to be made on the signing of a service agreement, receipt of funds by the Grantee, receipt of a written request by Grantee, or receipt by Grantee of a verified verbal request.

- (B) Grantee shall provide such service:
 - (1) With no line extension charge except as specifically authorized elsewhere in this Agreement.
 - (2) At a nondiscriminatory installation charge for a standard installation, consisting of a drop no longer than one hundred twenty five (125) feet, with additional charges for non-standard installations computed according to a nondiscriminatory methodology for such installations, adopted by Grantee and provided in writing to Grantor upon written request; and at nondiscriminatory monthly rates for residential Subscribers, subject to federal law.
- (C) Required Extensions of Service. Whenever the Grantee shall receive a request for service from at least ten (10) residences within 1320 cable-bearing strand feet (one-quarter cable mile) of its trunk or distribution cable, it shall extend its Cable System to such potential Subscribers at no cost to said Subscribers for Cable System extension, other than the usual connection fees for all Subscribers within ninety (90) days, provided that such extension is technically feasible, and if it will not adversely affect the operation of the Cable System.
- (D) Customer Charges for Extensions of Service. No potential Subscriber shall be refused service arbitrarily. However, for unusual circumstances, such as a potential Subscriber's request to locate a cable drop underground, existence of more than one hundred twenty-five (125) feet of distance from distribution cable to connection of service to such Subscriber, or a density of less than ten (10) residences per one thousand three hundred twenty (1,320) cable-bearing strand feet of trunk or distribution cable, service may be made available on the basis of a capital contribution in aid of construction, including cost of material, labor, and easements. For the purpose of determining the amount of capital contribution in aid of construction to be borne by the Grantee and potential Subscribers in the area in which service may be expanded, the Grantee will contribute an amount equal to the construction and other costs per mile, multiplied by a fraction whose numerator equals the actual number of residences per one thousand three hundred twenty (1320) cable-bearing strand feet of its trunks or distribution cable and whose denominator equals ten (10) residences. Subscribers who request service hereunder will bear the remainder of the construction and other costs on a pro rata basis. The Grantee may require that the payment of the

- capital contribution in aid of construction borne by such potential Subscriber be paid in advance.
- (E) Enforcement. Failure to meet these standards shall subject Grantee to enforcement actions on a per Subscriber basis in Section 14.
- 13.3 <u>Limitation on Free Service</u>. The parties acknowledge that as of the Effective Date of this Franchise agreement, Grantee continues to provide Complimentary Services to certain schools, libraries, and public institutions within the Franchise Area. In the event Grantee elects, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, to invoice the Grantor for Complimentary Services, Grantee agrees that it will do so only after providing City with one hundred twenty (120) days' prior written notice. Grantee agrees not to unfairly or unreasonably discriminate against the Grantor with respect to other Oregon served local franchising authorities, with respect to the costs to be imposed for Complimentary Services.

The Grantor shall have the right to discontinue the receipt of all or a portion of the Complimentary Services provided by the Grantee in the event Grantee elects to impose a charge against the Grantor for the Complimentary Services as set forth in the preceding paragraph.

SECTION 14. FRANCHISE VIOLATIONS; REVOCATION OF FRANCHISE

14.1 <u>Procedure for Remedying Franchise Violations</u>.

- (A) If Grantor believes that Grantee has failed to perform any obligation under this Agreement or has failed to perform in a timely manner, Grantor shall notify Grantee in writing, stating with reasonable specificity the nature of the alleged violation.
- (B) The Grantor must provide written notice of a violation. Upon receipt of notice, the Grantee will have a period of thirty (30) days to cure the violation or thirty (30) days to present to the Grantor a reasonable remedial plan. The Grantor shall, with Grantee's consent, decide whether to accept, reject, or modify the remedial plan presented by the Grantee. Liquidated damages shall be assessed only in the event that either a cure has not occurred within thirty (30) days or the Grantor rejects the remedial plan. The procedures provided in Section 14 shall be utilized to impose any liquidated damages. The date of violation will be the date of the event and not the date Grantee receives notice of the violation provided, however, that if Grantor has actual knowledge of the violation and fails to give the Grantee the notice called for herein, then the date of the violation shall be no earlier than ten (10) business days before the Grantor gives Grantee the notice of the violation. Grantee shall have thirty (30) calendar days from the date of receipt of such notice to:
 - (1) Respond to Grantor, contesting Grantor's assertion that a violation has occurred, and requesting a hearing in accordance with subsection (E) below, or;
 - (2) Cure the violation, or;

- (3) Notify Grantor that Grantee cannot cure the violation within the thirty (30) days, and notify the Grantor in writing of what steps the Grantee shall take to cure the violation, including the Grantee's projected completion date for such cure. In such case, Grantor shall set a hearing date within thirty (30) days of receipt of such response in accordance with subsection (C) below.
- (C) In the event that the Grantee notifies the Grantor that it cannot cure the violation within the thirty (30) day cure period, Grantor shall, within thirty (30) days of Grantor's receipt of such notice, set a hearing. At the hearing, Grantor shall review and determine whether the Grantee has taken reasonable steps to cure the violation and whether the Grantee's proposed plan and completion date for cure are reasonable. In the event such plan and completion date are determined by mutual consent to be reasonable, the same may be approved by the Grantor, who may waive all or part of the liquidated damages for such extended cure period in accordance with the criteria set forth in subsection (G) below.
- (D) In the event that the Grantee fails to cure the violation within the thirty (30) day basic cure period, or within an extended cure period approved by the Grantor pursuant to subsection (C), the Grantor shall set a hearing to determine what liquidated damages, if any, shall be applied.
- (E) In the event that the Grantee contests the Grantor's assertion that a violation has occurred, and requests a hearing in accordance with subsection (B)(1) above, the Grantor shall set a hearing within sixty (60) days of the Grantor's receipt of the hearing request to determine whether the violation has occurred, and if a violation is found, what liquidated damages shall be applied.
- (F) In the case of any hearing pursuant to this Section, Grantor shall notify Grantee of the hearing in writing and at the hearing, Grantee shall be provided an opportunity to be heard, examine Grantor's witnesses, and to present evidence in its defense. The Grantor may also hear any other Person interested in the subject, and may provide additional hearing procedures as Grantor deems appropriate.
- (G) The liquidated damages set forth in Section 14.2 of this Agreement may be reduced at the discretion of the Grantor, taking into consideration the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the violation as reflected by one or more of the following factors:
 - (1) Whether the violation was unintentional;
 - (2) The nature of the harm which resulted;
 - (3) Whether there is a history of prior violations of the same or other requirements;
 - (4) Whether there is a history of overall compliance, and/or;
 - (5) Whether the violation was voluntarily disclosed, admitted or cured.

- (H) If, after the hearing, Grantor determines that a violation exists, Grantor may use one or more of the following remedies:
 - (1) Order Grantee to correct or remedy the violation within a reasonable time frame as Grantor shall determine;
 - (2) Establish the amount of liquidated damages set forth in Section 14.2, taking into consideration the criteria provided for in subsection (G) of this Section as appropriate in Grantor's discretion;
 - (3) Revoke this Agreement, and/or;
 - (4) Pursue any other legal or equitable remedy available under this Agreement or any applicable law.
- (I) Liquidated damages shall not be imposed in an amount in excess of twenty -five thousand dollars (\$25,000) for the Grantor within any twelve (12) month consecutive period.
- (J) The determination as to whether a violation of this Agreement has occurred shall be within the sole discretion of the Grantor or its designee, provided that any such final determination shall be subject to review by a court of competent jurisdiction under applicable law.

14.2 Liquidated Damages.

- (A) Failure to comply with provisions of this Agreement may result in injury to Grantor. Grantor and Grantee recognize it will be difficult to accurately estimate the extent of such injury. Therefore, the financial penalty provisions of this Agreement are intended as a reasonable forecast of compensation to the Grantor collectively for the harm caused by violation of this Agreement, including but not limited to administrative expense, legal fees, publication of notices, and holding of a hearing or hearings as provided herein.
 - (1) For violating aggregate performance telephone answering standards for a Quarterly measurement period:
 - (a) \$2,500 for the first such violation;
 - (b) \$5,000 for the second such violation, unless the violation has been cured;
 - (c) \$7,500 for any and all subsequent violations, unless the violation has been cured;

A cure is defined as meeting the Subscriber telephone answering standards for two (2) consecutive Quarterly measurement periods;

(2) For violation of applicable Subscriber service standards where violations are not measured in terms of aggregate performance standards: \$250 per violation, per day;

- (3) For all other violations of this Agreement, except as otherwise provided herein, (for example, but not limited to, Record submissions under Section 8): \$250/day for each violation for each day the violation continues.
- (B) The liquidated damages set forth in Section 14.2(A) may be reduced at the sole discretion of the Grantor, taking into consideration the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of violation as reflected by one or more of the following factors:
 - (1) whether the violation was unintentional;
 - (2) the nature of the harm which resulted;
 - (3) whether there is a history of prior violations of the same or other requirements;
 - (4) whether there is a history of overall compliance, and/or;
 - (5) whether the violation was voluntarily disclosed, admitted or cured.
- (C) Collection of Liquidated Damages. The collection of liquidated damages by the Grantor shall in no respect affect:
 - (1) Compensation owed to Subscribers; or
 - (2) The Grantee's obligation to comply with all of the provisions of this Agreement or applicable law; or
 - (3) Other remedies available to the Grantor provided, however, that collection of liquidated damages shall be the exclusive remedy for the Grantor for the particular incident or for the particular time period for which it is imposed other than reasonable attorney fees and costs, if applicable. If the violation continues beyond the particular time period, Grantor shall have the right to pursue other remedies under this Agreement.

14.3 Revocation.

- (A) Should Grantor seek to revoke the Franchise after following the procedures set forth in Section 14.1, Grantor shall give written notice to Grantee of its intent. The notice shall set forth the exact nature of the noncompliance. Grantee shall have ninety (90) days from such notice to object in writing and to state its reasons for such objection. In the event Grantor has not received a satisfactory response from Grantee, it may then seek termination of the Franchise at a public hearing. Grantor shall cause to be served upon Grantee, at least thirty (30) days prior to such public hearing, a written notice specifying the time and place of such hearing and stating its intent to revoke the Franchise.
- (B) At the designated hearing, Grantee shall be provided a fair opportunity for full participation, including the right to be represented by legal counsel, to introduce relevant evidence, to require the production of evidence, to compel the relevant

- testimony of the officials, agents, employees or consultants of Grantor, to compel the testimony of other persons as permitted by law, and to question and/or cross examine witnesses. A complete verbatim record and transcript shall be made of such hearing.
- (C) Following the public hearing, Grantee shall be provided up to thirty (30) days to submit its proposed findings and conclusions in writing and thereafter Grantor shall determine (i) whether an event of default has occurred; (ii) whether such event of default is excusable; and (iii) whether such event of default has been cured or will be cured by Grantee. Grantor shall also determine whether to revoke the Franchise based on the information presented, or, where applicable, grant additional time to Grantee to effect any cure. If Grantor determines that the Franchise shall be revoked, Grantor shall promptly provide Grantee with a written decision setting forth its reasoning. Grantee may appeal such determination of Grantor to an appropriate court, which shall have the power to review the decision of Grantor. Grantee shall be entitled to such relief as the court finds appropriate. Such appeal must be taken within sixty (60) days of Grantee's receipt of the determination of the Grantor.
- (D) Grantor may, at its sole discretion, take any lawful action which it deems appropriate to enforce Grantor's rights under the Agreement in lieu of revocation of the Franchise.

14.4 Relationship of Remedies.

- (A) Remedies are Non-exclusive. The remedies provided for in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive; the exercise of one remedy shall not prevent the exercise of another remedy, or the exercise of any rights of the Grantor at law or equity, provided that the cumulative remedies may not be disproportionate to the magnitude and severity for the breach for which they are imposed except as otherwise provided in Section 14.2. By way of example and not limitation, the collection of liquidated damages by Grantor shall in no respect affect:
 - (1) Refunds or credits owed to Subscribers; or
 - (2) Grantee's obligation to comply with the provisions of this Agreement or applicable law.
- (B) No Election of Remedies. Without limitation, the withdrawal of amounts from the Grantee's performance bond, or the recovery of amounts under the insurance, indemnity or penalty provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as any of the following: an election of remedies; a limit on the liability of Grantee under the Agreement for liquidated damages or otherwise, except as provided in Section 14.2; or an excuse of faithful performance by Grantee.

14.5 Removal.

(A) In the event of termination, expiration or revocation of this Agreement, Grantor may order the removal of the above-ground Cable System facilities and such underground facilities as required by Grantor in order to achieve reasonable engineering or Public Rights of Way use purposes, from the Franchise Area at

Grantee's sole expense within a reasonable period of time as determined by Grantor. In removing its plant, structures and equipment, Grantee shall refill, at its own expense, any excavation that is made by it and shall leave all Public Rights of Way, public places and private property in as good a condition as that prevailing prior to Grantee's removal of its equipment.

- (B) If Grantee fails to complete any required removal to the satisfaction of Grantor, Grantor may cause the work to be done and Grantee shall reimburse Grantor for the reasonable costs incurred within thirty (30) days after receipt of an itemized list of the costs and Grantor may recover the costs through the Performance Bond provided by Grantee.
- **14.6** Receivership and Foreclosure. Grantor and Grantee acknowledge that the following paragraphs may not be applicable or are subject to the jurisdiction of the bankruptcy court.
 - (A) At the option of Grantor, subject to applicable law, this Agreement may be revoked one-hundred twenty (120) days after the appointment of a receiver or trustee to take over and conduct the business of Grantee whether in a receivership, reorganization, bankruptcy or other action or proceeding unless:
 - (1) The receivership or trusteeship is vacated within one hundred twenty (120) days of appointment, or;
 - (2) The receiver(s) or trustee(s) have, within one hundred twenty (120) days after their election or appointment, fully complied with all the terms and provisions of this Agreement and have remedied all violations under the Agreement. Additionally, the receiver(s) or trustee(s) shall have executed an agreement duly approved by the court having jurisdiction, by which the receiver(s) or trustee(s) assume and agree to be bound by each and every term and provision of this Agreement.
 - (B) If there is a foreclosure or other involuntary sale of the whole or any part of the plant, property and equipment of Grantee, Grantor may serve notice of revocation on Grantee and to the purchaser at the sale, and the rights and privileges of Grantee under this Agreement shall be revoked thirty (30) days after service of such notice, unless:
 - (1) Grantor has approved the transfer of this Agreement, in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Agreement and as provided by law; and
 - (2) The purchaser has agreed with Grantor to assume and be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 14.7 <u>No Recourse Against Grantor</u>. Grantee shall not have any monetary recourse against Grantor or its officials, boards, City's agents or employees for any loss, costs, expenses or damages arising out of any provision or requirement of this Agreement or the enforcement thereof, in accordance with the provisions of applicable federal, state and local law. The rights of the Grantor under this Agreement are in addition to, and shall

- not be read to limit, any rights or immunities the Grantor may enjoy under federal, state or local law. However, under federal law, Grantee does have the right to seek injunctive and declaratory relief.
- 14.8 Nonenforcement By Grantor. Grantee is not relieved of its obligation to comply with any of the provisions of this Agreement by reason of any failure of Grantor to enforce prompt compliance. Grantor's forbearance or failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not serve as a basis to stop any subsequent enforcement. The failure of the Grantor on one or more occasions to exercise a right or to require compliance or performance under this Agreement or any applicable law shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of such right or a waiver of compliance or performance, unless such right has been specifically waived in writing. Any waiver of a violation is not a waiver of any other violation, whether similar or different from that waived.

SECTION 15. ABANDONMENT

15.1 <u>Effect of Abandonment</u>. If the Grantee abandons its System during the Franchise term, or fails to operate its Cable System in accordance with its duty to provide continuous service, the Grantor, at its option, may operate the Cable System; designate another entity to operate the Cable System temporarily until the Grantee restores service under conditions acceptable to the Grantor or until this Agreement is revoked and a new grantee is selected by the Grantor; or obtain an injunction requiring the Grantee to continue operations. If the Grantor is required to operate or designate another entity to operate the Cable System, the Grantee shall reimburse the Grantor or its designee for all reasonable costs, expenses and damages incurred.

15.2 What Constitutes Abandonment.

- (A) The Grantor shall be entitled to exercise its options and obtain any required injunctive relief if:
 - (1) The Grantee fails to provide Cable Service in accordance with this Agreement to the Franchise Area for ninety-six (96) consecutive hours, unless the Grantor authorizes a longer interruption of service, except if such failure to provide service is due to a force majeure occurrence, as described in Section 5.4; or
 - (2) The Grantee, for any period, willfully and without cause refuses to provide Cable Service in accordance with this Agreement.

SECTION 16. FRANCHISE RENEWAL AND TRANSFER

16.1 Renewal.

(A) The Grantor and Grantee agree that any proceedings undertaken by the Grantor that relate to the renewal of Grantee's Agreement shall be governed by and comply with the provisions of the Cable Act (47 USC § 546), unless the procedures and substantive protections set forth therein shall be deemed to be preempted and superseded by the provisions of any subsequent provision of federal or state law.

(B) In addition to the procedures set forth in the Cable Act, the Grantor agrees to notify Grantee of the completion of its assessments regarding the identification of future cable-related community needs and interests, as well as the past performance of Grantee under the then current Franchise term. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, Grantee and Grantor agree that at any time during the term of the then current Agreement, while affording the public adequate notice and opportunity for comment, the Grantor and Grantee may agree to undertake and finalize negotiations regarding renewal of the then current Agreement and the Grantor may grant a renewal thereof. Grantee and Grantor consider the terms set forth in this Section to be consistent with the express provisions of the Cable Act.

16.2 <u>Transfer of Ownership or Control</u>.

- (A) The Cable System and this Agreement shall not be sold, assigned, transferred, leased, or disposed of, either in whole or in part, either by involuntary sale or by voluntary sale, merger, consolidation, nor shall title thereto, either legal or equitable, or any right, interest, or property therein pass to or vest in any Person or entity, without the prior written consent of the Grantor, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- (B) The Grantee shall promptly notify the Grantor of any actual or proposed change in, or transfer of, or acquisition by any other party of control of the Grantee. The word "control" as used herein is not limited to majority stockholders but includes actual working control in whatever manner exercised. Every change, transfer or acquisition of control of the Grantee shall make this Agreement subject to cancellation unless and until the Grantor shall have consented thereto.
- (C) The parties to the sale or transfer shall make a written request to the Grantor for its approval of a sale or transfer and furnish all information required by law and the Grantor.
- (D) The Grantor shall render a final written decision on the request within one hundred twenty (120) days of the request, provided it has received all requested information. Subject to the foregoing, if the Grantor fails to render a final decision on the request within one hundred twenty (120) days, such request shall be deemed granted unless the requesting party and the Grantor agree to an extension of time.
- (E) Within thirty (30) days of any transfer or sale, if approved or deemed granted by the Grantor, Grantee shall file with the Grantor a copy of the deed, agreement, lease or other written instrument evidencing such sale or transfer of ownership or control, certified and sworn to as correct by Grantee and the transferee.
- (F) In reviewing a request for sale or transfer, the Grantor may inquire into the legal, technical and financial qualifications of the prospective controlling party or transferee, and Grantee shall assist the Grantor in so inquiring. The Grantor may condition said sale or transfer upon such terms and conditions as it deems reasonably appropriate, provided, however, any such terms and conditions so attached shall be related to the legal, technical, and financial qualifications of the prospective controlling party or transferee and to the resolution of outstanding

- and unresolved issues of noncompliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement by Grantee.
- (G) The consent or approval of the Grantor to any transfer by the Grantee shall not constitute a waiver or release of any rights of the Grantor, and any transfer shall, by its terms, be expressly subordinate to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- (H) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section, the prior approval of the Grantor shall not be required for any sale, assignment or transfer of the Agreement or Cable System for cable television system usage to an entity controlling, controlled by or under the same common control as Grantee, provided that the proposed assignee or transferee must show financial responsibility as may be determined necessary by the Grantor and must agree in writing to comply with all provisions of the Agreement. No consent shall be required for a transfer in trust, by mortgage, by other hypothecation, by assignment of any rights, title, interest of Grantee in the Franchise or Cable System in order to secure indebtedness.

SECTION 17. SEVERABILITY

If any Section, subsection, paragraph, term, or provision of this Agreement or any ordinance, law, or document incorporated herein by reference is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, such holding shall be confined in its operation to the Section, subsection, paragraph, term, or provision directly involved in the controversy in which such holding shall have been rendered, and shall not in any way affect the validity of any other Section, subsection, paragraph, term, or provision hereof. Under such a circumstance the Grantee shall, upon the Grantor's request, meet and confer with the Grantor to consider amendments to this Agreement. The purpose of the amendments shall be to place the parties, as nearly as possible, in the position that they were in prior to such determination, consistent with applicable law. In the event the parties are unable to agree to a modification of this Agreement within sixty (60) days, either party may (1) seek appropriate legal remedies to amend this Agreement, or (2) shorten this Agreement to thirty-six (36) months, at which point either party may invoke the renewal procedures under 47 U.S.C. § 546. Each party agrees to participate in up to sixteen (16) hours of negotiation during the sixty (60) day period.

SECTION 18. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

18.1 <u>Preferential or Discriminatory Practices Prohibited</u>. Grantee shall not discriminate in hiring, employment or promotion on the basis of race, color, creed, ethnic or national origin, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, or physical or mental disability. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall fully comply with all equal employment or nondiscrimination provisions and requirements of federal, state and local law and, in particular, FCC rules and regulations relating thereto.

18.2 Dispute Resolution.

(A) The Grantor and Grantee agree that should a dispute arise between the parties concerning any aspect of this Agreement which is not resolved by mutual agreement of the parties, and unless either party believes in good faith that injunctive relief is warranted, the dispute will be submitted to mediated negotiation prior to any party commencing litigation. In such event, the Grantor and Grantee

- agree to participate in good faith in a non-binding mediation process. The mediator shall be selected by mutual agreement of the parties. In the absence of such mutual agreement, each party shall select a temporary mediator, and those mediators shall jointly select a permanent mediator.
- (B) If the parties are unable to successfully conclude the mediation within forty-five (45) days from the date of the selection of the mediator, either party may terminate further mediation by sending written notice to the other. After written notice has been received by the other party, either party may pursue whatever legal remedies exist. All costs associated with mediation shall be borne, equally and separately, by the parties.

18.3 Notices.

(A) Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall maintain and file with Grantor a designated legal or local address for the service of notices by mail. A copy of all notices from Grantor to Grantee shall be sent, postage prepaid, to such address and such notices shall be effective upon the date of mailing. At the Effective Date of this Agreement, such addresses shall be:

Comcast of Delaware, II, Inc. Attn: Government Affairs 9605 SW Nimbus Ave Beaverton, OR 97008

with copy to:

Attn: West Division/Government Affairs 15815 25th Ave West Lynnwood, WA 98087

(B) All notices to be sent by Grantee to Grantor under this Agreement shall be sent, postage prepaid, and such notices shall be effective upon the date of mailing. At the Effective Date of this Agreement, such address shall be:

City of St. Helens PO Box 278 St. Helens, OR 97051

- **18.4 Binding Effect.** This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their permitted successors and assigns.
- **Authority to Amend.** This Agreement may be amended at any time by written agreement between the parties.
- **18.6** Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of Oregon.
- **18.7 Venue.** Venue for any dispute arising out of this Agreement shall be Columbia County Circuit Court.

- **18.8 Guarantee.** The performance of the Grantee shall be guaranteed in all respects by TCl West, LLC. A signed guarantee, in a form acceptable to the Grantor, shall be filed with the Grantor prior to the Effective Date hereof.
- **18.9** <u>Captions</u>. The captions and headings of this Agreement are for convenience and reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of any provisions of this Agreement.
- **18.10** Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with all appendices and attachments, contains the entire agreement between the parties, supersedes all prior agreements or proposals except as specifically set forth herein, and cannot be changed orally but only by an instrument in writing executed by the parties.

18.11	<u>Construction of Agreement</u> . The provisions of this Agreement shall be liberally construed to promote the public interest. Agreed to thisday of, 2020.	
COM	ICAST OF DELAWARE II, INC.	CITY OF ST. HELENS, OREGON
By:		By:

Attachment A CUSTOMER SERVICE

These standards shall apply to Grantee to the extent it is providing Cable Services over the Cable System in the Franchise Area. This Attachment A sets forth the minimum customer service standards that the Grantee must satisfy.

1. Definitions

- (A) Normal Business Hours mean those hours during which most similar businesses in the Franchise Area are open to serve customers. In all cases, "Normal Business Hours" must include some evening hours at least one night per week and/or some weekend hours.
- (B) Normal Operating Conditions: Those service conditions that are within the control of the Grantee, as defined under 47 C.F.R. § 76.309(c)(4)(ii). Those conditions which are not within the control of the Grantee include, but are not limited to, natural disasters, civil disturbances, power outages, telephone network outages, and severe or unusual weather conditions. Those conditions which are ordinarily within the control of the Grantee include, but are not limited to, special promotions, pay-per-view events, rate increases, regular peak or seasonal demand periods, and maintenance or upgrade of the Cable System.
- (C) Respond: The start of Grantee's investigation of a Service Interruption by receiving a Subscriber call, and opening a trouble ticket, and begin working, if required.
- (D) Service Call: The action taken by Grantee to correct a Service Interruption the effect of which is limited to an individual Subscriber.
- (E) Service Interruption: The loss of picture or sound on one or more cable Channels.
- (F) Significant Outage: A significant outage of the Cable Service shall mean any Service Interruption lasting at least four (4) continuous hours that affects at least ten percent (10%) of the Subscribers in the Service Area.
- (G) Standard Installation: Installations where the Subscriber is within one hundred twenty five (125) feet of trunk or feeder lines.

2. Telephone Availability

- (A) Grantee shall maintain a toll-free number to receive all calls and inquiries from Subscribers in the Franchise Area and/or residents regarding Cable Service. Grantee representatives trained and qualified to answer questions related to Cable Service in the Service Area must be available to receive reports of Service Interruptions twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week, and such representatives shall be available to receive all other inquiries at least forty-five (45) hours per week including at least one night per week and/or some weekend hours. Grantee representatives shall identify themselves by name when answering this number.
- (B) Grantee's telephone numbers shall be listed, with appropriate description (e.g. administration, customer service, billing, repair, etc.), in the directory published by the

local telephone company or companies serving the Service Area, beginning with the next publication cycle after acceptance of this Agreement by Grantee.

(C) Grantee may use an Automated Response Unit ("ARU") or a Voice Response Unit ("VRU") to distribute calls. If a foreign language routing option is provided, and the Subscriber does not enter an option, the menu will default to the first tier menu of English options.

After the first tier menu (not including a foreign language rollout) has run through three times, if Subscribers do not select any option, the ARU or VRU will forward the call to a queue for a live representative. Grantee may reasonably substitute this requirement with another method of handling calls from Subscribers who do not have touch-tone telephones.

- (D) Under Normal Operating Conditions, calls received by the Grantee shall be answered within thirty (30) seconds during Normal Business Hours. The Grantee shall meet this standard for ninety percent (90%) of the calls it receives at call centers receiving calls from Franchise Area Subscribers, as measured on a cumulative Quarterly calendar basis. Measurement of this standard shall include all calls received by the Grantee at all call centers receiving calls from Subscribers, whether they are answered by a live representative, by an automated attendant, or abandoned after thirty (30) seconds of call waiting. If the call needs to be transferred, transfer time shall not exceed thirty (30) seconds.
- (E) Under Normal Operating Conditions, callers to the Grantee shall receive a busy signal no more than three (3%) percent of the time during any calendar Quarter.
- (F) Upon request, Forty-five (45) days following the end of each Quarter, the Grantee shall report to Grantor, the following for all call centers receiving calls from Subscribers except for temporary telephone numbers set up for national promotions:
 - (1) Percentage of calls answered within thirty (30) seconds as set forth in subsection 2(D) of this Attachment A; and
 - (2) Percentage of time Subscribers received a busy signal when calling the Grantee's service center as set forth in Section 2(E) of this Attachment A.
- (G) At the Grantee's option, the measurements and reporting above may be changed from calendar quarters to billing or accounting quarters one time during the term of this Agreement. Grantee shall notify Grantor of such a change not less than thirty (30) days in advance.

3. Installations and Service Appointments

- (A) All installations will be in accordance with FCC rules, including but not limited to, appropriate grounding/bonding, connection of equipment to ensure reception of Cable Service, and the provision of required consumer information and literature to adequately inform the Subscriber in the utilization of Grantee-supplied equipment and Cable Service.
- (B) The Standard Installation shall be performed within seven (7) business days of

- Subscriber request. Grantee shall meet this standard for ninety-five percent (95%) of the Standard Installations it performs, as measured on a calendar quarter basis, excluding those requested by the Subscriber outside of the seven (7) day period.
- (C) Grantee will offer Subscribers "appointment window" alternatives for arrival to perform installations, Service Calls and other activities of a maximum four (4) hours scheduled time block during appropriate daylight available hours, usually beginning at 8:00 AM unless it is deemed appropriate to begin earlier by location exception. At Grantee's discretion, Grantee may offer Subscribers appointment arrival times other than these four (4) hour time blocks, if agreeable to the Subscriber.
 - (1) Grantee may not cancel an appointment window with a customer after the close of business on the business day prior to the scheduled appointment.
 - (2) If Grantee's representative is running late for an appointment with a Subscriber and will not be able to keep the appointment as scheduled, the Subscriber will be contacted. The appointment will be rescheduled, as necessary, at a time which is convenient for the Subscriber.
- (D) Grantee must provide for the pick up or drop off of equipment free of charge in one of the following manners: (i) by having a Grantee representative go to the Subscriber's residence, (ii) by using a mailer, or (iii) by maintaining a conveniently located facility for pick-up and drop-off of equipment and bill payment. If requested by a mobility-limited Subscriber, the Grantee shall arrange for pickup and/or replacement of converters or other Grantee equipment at Subscriber's address or by a satisfactory equivalent.

4. Service Interruptions and Outages

- (A) Grantee shall promptly notify Grantor of any Significant Outage of the Cable Service.
- (B) Grantee shall exercise commercially reasonable efforts to limit any Significant Outage for the purpose of maintaining, repairing, or constructing the Cable System. Except in an emergency or other situation necessitating a more expedited or alternative notification procedure, Grantee may schedule a Significant Outage for a period of more than four (4) hours during any twenty-four (24) hour period only after Grantor and each affected Subscriber in the Service Area have been given fifteen (15) days prior notice of the proposed Significant Outage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Grantee may perform modifications, repairs and upgrades to the System between 12:01 a.m. and 6 a.m., which may interrupt service, and this Section's notice obligations respecting such possible interruptions will be satisfied by notice provided to Subscribers upon installation and in the annual Subscriber notice.
- (C) Grantee representatives who are capable of responding to Service Interruptions must be available to Respond twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week.
- (D) Under Normal Operating Conditions, Grantee must Respond to a call from a Subscriber regarding a Service Interruption or other service problems within the following time frames:
 - (1) Within twenty-four (24) hours, including weekends, of receiving Subscriber calls about Service Interruptions in the Service Area.

- (2) Grantee must begin actions to correct all other Cable Service problems the next business day after notification by the Subscriber or Grantor of a Cable Service problem.
- (E) Under Normal Operating Conditions, Grantee shall complete Service Calls within seventy-two (72) hours of the time Grantee commences to Respond to the Service Interruption, not including weekends and situations where the Subscriber is not reasonably available for a Service Call to correct the Service Interruption within the seventy-two (72) hour period.
- (F) Grantee shall meet the standard in Section 4(E) of this Attachment A for ninety percent (90%) of the Service Calls it completes, as measured on a Quarterly basis.
- (G) Upon request, Grantee shall provide Grantor with a report within forty-five (45) days following the end of each calendar quarter, noting the percentage of Service Calls completed within the seventy-two (72) hour period, not including Service Calls where the Subscriber was reasonably unavailable for a Service Call within the seventy-two (72) hour period as set forth in this Section 4(G). Subject to consumer privacy requirements, underlying activity will be made available to Grantor for review upon reasonable request. At the Grantee's option, the above measurements and reporting may be changed from calendar quarters to billing or accounting quarters one time during the term of this Agreement. The Grantee shall notify the Grantor of such a change at least thirty (30) days in advance.
- (H) At Grantee's option, the above measurements may be changed for calendar quarters to billing or accounting quarters one time during the term of this Agreement. Grantee shall notify Grantor of such a change at least thirty (30) days in advance.
- (I) Under Normal Operating Conditions, Grantee shall provide a credit upon Subscriber request when all Channels received by that Subscriber experience the loss of picture or sound for a period of four (4) consecutive hours or more. The credit shall equal, at a minimum, a proportionate amount of the affected Subscriber(s) current monthly bill. In order to qualify for the credit, the Subscriber must promptly report the problem and allow Grantee to verify the problem if requested by Grantee. If Subscriber availability is required for repair, a credit will not be provided for such time, if any, that the Subscriber is not reasonably available.
- (J) Under Normal Operating Conditions, if a Significant Outage affects all Video Programming Cable Services for more than twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, Grantee shall issue a credit upon request to the affected Subscribers in the amount equal to their monthly recurring charges for the proportionate time the Cable Service was out, or a credit upon request to the affected Subscribers in the amount equal to the charge for the basic plus enhanced basic level of service for the proportionate time the Cable Service was out, whichever is technically feasible or, if both are technically feasible, as determined by Grantee, provided such determination is non-discriminatory. Such credit shall be reflected on Subscriber billing statements within the next available billing cycle following the outage.

5. Subscriber Complaints Referred by Grantor

Under Normal Operating Conditions, Grantee shall begin investigating Subscriber complaints referred by Grantor within twenty-four (24) hours. Grantee shall notify Grantor of those matters that

require more than seventy-two (72) hours to resolve, but Grantee must make all necessary efforts to resolve those complaints within ten (10) business days of the initial complaint. Grantor may require Grantee to provide reasonable documentation to substantiate the request for additional time to resolve the problem. Grantee shall inform Grantor in writing, which may be by an electronic mail message, of how and when referred complaints have been resolved within a reasonable time after resolution. For purposes of this Section 5 of this Attachment A, "resolve" means that Grantee shall perform those actions, which, in the normal course of business, are necessary to investigate the Subscriber's complaint and advise the Subscriber of the results of that investigation.

6. Billing

- (A) Subscriber bills must be itemized to describe Cable Services purchased by Subscribers and related equipment charges. Bills shall clearly delineate activity during the billing period, including optional charges, rebates, credits, and aggregate late charges. Grantee shall without limitation as to additional line items, be allowed to itemize as separate line items, Franchise fees, taxes, PEG capital fees, and/or other governmental-imposed fees. Grantee shall maintain records of the date and place of mailing of bills.
- (B) Every Subscriber with a current account balance sending payment directly to Grantee shall be given at least twenty (20) days from the date statements are mailed to the Subscriber until the payment due date.
- (C) A specific due date shall be listed on the bill of every Subscriber whose account is current. Delinquent accounts may receive a bill which lists the due date as upon receipt; however, the current portion of that bill shall not be considered past due except in accordance with Section 6(B) of this Attachment A.
- (D) Any Subscriber who, in good faith, disputes all or part of any bill shall have the option of withholding the disputed amount without disconnect or late fee being assessed until the dispute is resolved, provided that:
 - (1) The Subscriber pays all undisputed charges;
 - (2) The Subscriber provides notification of the dispute to Grantee within five (5) days prior to the due date; and
 - (3) The Subscriber cooperates in determining the accuracy and/or appropriateness of the charges in dispute.
 - (4) It shall be within Grantee's sole discretion to determine when the dispute has been resolved.
- (E) Under Normal Operating Conditions, Grantee shall initiate investigation and resolution of all billing complaints received from Subscribers within five (5) business days of receipt of the complaint. Final resolution shall not be unreasonably delayed.
- (F) Grantee shall provide a telephone number and address clearly and prominently on the bill for Subscribers to contact Grantee.

- (G) Grantee shall forward a copy of any rate-related or customer service-related billing inserts or other mailings related to Cable Service, but not promotional materials, sent to Subscribers, to Grantor.
- (H) Grantee shall provide all Subscribers with the option of paying for Cable Service by check or an automatic payment option where the amount of the bill is automatically deducted from a checking account designated by the Subscriber. Grantee may in the future, at its discretion, permit payment by using a major credit card on a preauthorized basis. Based on credit history, at the option of Grantee, the payment alternative may be limited.

7. Deposits, Refunds and Credits

- (A) Grantee may require refundable deposits from Subscribers 1) with a poor credit or poor payment history, 2) who refuse to provide credit history information to Grantee, or 3) who rent Subscriber equipment from Grantee, so long as such deposits are applied on a non-discriminatory basis. The deposit Grantee may charge Subscribers with poor credit or poor payment history or who refuse to provide credit information may not exceed an amount equal to an average Subscriber's monthly charge multiplied by six (6). The maximum deposit Grantee may charge for Subscriber equipment is the cost of the equipment which Grantee would need to purchase to replace the equipment rented to the Subscriber.
- (B) Grantee shall refund or credit the Subscriber for the amount of the deposit collected for equipment, which is unrelated to poor credit or poor payment history, after one (1) year and provided the Subscriber has demonstrated good payment history during this period. Grantee shall pay interest on other deposits if required by law.
- (C) Under Normal Operating Conditions, refund checks will be issued within the next available billing cycle following the resolution of the event giving rise to the refund, (e.g. equipment return and final bill payment).
- (D) Credits for Cable Service will be issued no later than the Subscriber's next available billing cycle, following the determination that a credit is warranted, and the credit is approved and processed. Such approval and processing shall not be unreasonably delayed.
- (E) Bills shall be considered paid when appropriate payment is received by Grantee or its authorized agent. Appropriate time considerations shall be included in Grantee's collection procedures to assure that payments due have been received before late notices or termination notices are sent.

8. Rates, Fees and Charges

(A) Grantee shall not, except to the extent expressly permitted by law, impose any fee or charge for Service Calls to a Subscriber's premises to perform any repair or maintenance work related to Grantee equipment necessary to receive Cable Service, except where such problem is caused by a negligent or wrongful act of the Subscriber (including, but not limited to a situation in which the Subscriber reconnects Grantee equipment incorrectly) or by the failure of the Subscriber to take reasonable precautions to protect Grantee's equipment (for example, a dog chew).

- (B) Grantee shall provide reasonable notice to Subscribers of the possible assessment of a late fee on bills or by separate notice. Such late fees are subject to ORS 646.649.
- (C) All of Grantee's rates and charges shall comply with applicable law. Grantee shall maintain a complete current schedule of rates and charges for Cable Services on file with the Grantor throughout the term of this Agreement.

9. Disconnection/Denial of Service

- (A) Grantee shall not terminate Cable Service for nonpayment of a delinquent account unless Grantee mails a notice of the delinquency and impending termination prior to the proposed final termination. The notice shall be mailed to the Subscriber to whom the Cable Service is billed. The notice of delinquency and impending termination may be part of a billing statement.
- (B) Cable Service terminated in error must be restored without charge within twenty-four (24) hours of notice. If a Subscriber was billed for the period during which Cable Service was terminated in error, a credit shall be issued to the Subscriber if the Cable Service Interruption was reported by the Subscriber.
- (C) Nothing in these standards shall limit the right of Grantee to deny Cable Service for non-payment of previously provided Cable Services, refusal to pay any required deposit, theft of Cable Service, damage to Grantee's equipment, abusive and/or threatening behavior toward Grantee's employees or representatives, or refusal to provide credit history information or refusal to allow Grantee to validate the identity, credit history and credit worthiness via an external credit agency.
- (D) Charges for Cable Service will be discontinued at the time of the requested termination of service by the Subscriber, except equipment charges may be applied until equipment has been returned. No period of notice prior to requested termination of service can be required of Subscribers by Grantee. No charge shall be imposed upon the Subscriber for or related to total disconnection of Cable Service or for any Cable Service delivered after the effective date of the disconnect request, unless there is a delay in returning Grantee equipment or early termination charges apply pursuant to the Subscriber's service contract. If the Subscriber fails to specify an effective date for disconnection, the Subscriber shall not be responsible for Cable Services received after the day following the date the disconnect request is received by Grantee. For purposes of this subsection 9(D) of this Attachment A, the term "disconnect" shall include Subscribers who elect to cease receiving Cable Service from Grantee and to receive Cable Service or other multi-channel video service from another Person or entity.

10. Communications with Subscribers

(A) All Grantee personnel, contractors and subcontractors contacting Subscribers or potential Subscribers outside the office of Grantee shall wear a clearly visible identification card bearing their name and photograph. Grantee shall make reasonable efforts to account for all identification cards at all times. In addition, all Grantee representatives shall wear appropriate clothing while working at a Subscriber's premises. Every service vehicle of Grantee and its contractors or subcontractors shall be clearly identified as such to the public. Specifically, Grantee vehicles shall have Grantee's logo plainly visible. The vehicles of those contractors

- and subcontractors working for Grantee shall have the contractor's / subcontractor's name plus markings (such as a magnetic door sign) indicating they are under contract to Grantee.
- (B) All contact with a Subscriber or potential Subscriber by a Person representing Grantee shall be conducted in a courteous manner.
- (C) Grantee shall send annual notices to all Subscribers informing them that any complaints or inquiries not satisfactorily handled by Grantee may be referred to Grantor.
- (D) Grantee shall provide the name, mailing address, and phone number of Grantor on all Cable Service bills in accordance with 47 C.F.R. §76.952(a).
- (E) All notices identified in this Section 10 shall be by either:
 - (1) A separate document included with a billing statement or included on the portion of the monthly bill that is to be retained by the Subscriber; or
 - (2) A separate electronic notification.
- (F) Grantee shall provide reasonable notice to Subscribers and Grantor of any pricing changes or additional changes (excluding sales discounts, new products or offers) and, subject to the forgoing, any changes in Cable Services, including Channel lineups. Such notice must be given to Subscribers a minimum of thirty (30) days in advance of such changes if within the control of Grantee. If the change is not within Grantee's control, Grantee shall provide an explanation to Grantor of the reason and expected length of delay. Grantee shall provide a copy of the notice to Grantor including how and where the notice was given to Subscribers.
- (G) Grantee shall provide information to all Subscribers about each of the following items at the time of installation of Cable Services, annually to all Subscribers, at any time upon request, and, subject to Section 10(E), at least thirty (30) days prior to making significant changes in the information required by this Section if within the control of Grantee:
 - (1) Products and Cable Service offered;
 - (2) Prices and options for Cable Services and condition of subscription to Cable Services. Prices shall include those for Cable Service options, equipment rentals, program guides, installation, downgrades, late fees and other fees charged by Grantee related to Cable Service;
 - (3) Installation and maintenance policies including, when applicable, information regarding the Subscriber's in-home wiring rights during the period Cable Service is being provided;
 - (4) Channel positions of Cable Services offered on the Cable System;
 - (5) Complaint procedures, including the name, address, and telephone number of Grantor, but with a notice advising the Subscriber to initially contact Grantee about all complaints and questions;

- (6) Procedures for requesting Cable Service credit;
- (7) The availability of a parental control device;
- (8) Grantee practices and procedures for protecting against invasion of privacy; and
- (9) The address and telephone number of Grantee's office to which complaints may be reported.
- (H) Notices of changes in rates shall indicate the Cable Service new rates and old rates, if applicable.
- (I) Notices of changes of Cable Services and/or Channel locations shall include a description of the new Cable Service, the specific Channel location, and the hours of operation of the Cable Service if the Cable Service is only offered on a part-time basis. In addition, should the Channel location, hours of operation, or existence of other Cable Services be affected by the introduction of a new Cable Service, such information must be included in the notice.
- (J) Every notice of termination of Cable Service shall include the following information:
 - (1) The name and address of the Subscriber whose account is delinquent;
 - (2) The amount of the delinquency for all services billed;
 - (3) The date by which payment is required in order to avoid termination of Cable Service; and
 - (4) The telephone number for Grantee where the Subscriber can receive additional information about their account and discuss the pending termination.
- (K) Grantee will comply with privacy rights of Subscribers in accordance with federal, state, and local law, including 47 U.S.C §551.

- (6) Procedures for requesting Cable Service credit;
- (7) The availability of a parental control device;
- (8) Grantee practices and procedures for protecting against invasion of privacy; and
- (9) The address and telephone number of Grantee's office to which complaints may be reported.
- (H) Notices of changes in rates shall indicate the Cable Service new rates and old rates, if applicable.
- (I) Notices of changes of Cable Services and/or Channel locations shall include a description of the new Cable Service, the specific Channel location, and the hours of operation of the Cable Service if the Cable Service is only offered on a part-time basis. In addition, should the Channel location, hours of operation, or existence of other Cable Services be affected by the introduction of a new Cable Service, such information must be included in the notice.
- (J) Every notice of termination of Cable Service shall include the following information:
 - (1) The name and address of the Subscriber whose account is delinquent;
 - (2) The amount of the delinquency for all services billed;
 - (3) The date by which payment is required in order to avoid termination of Cable Service; and
 - (4) The telephone number for Grantee where the Subscriber can receive additional information about their account and discuss the pending termination.
- (K) Grantee will comply with privacy rights of Subscribers in accordance with federal, state, and local law, including 47 U.S.C §551.

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made and entered into this 12th day of December, 2007, by and between City of St. Helens, Oregon and Comcast of Oregon II, Inc.

The parties agree as follows:

I. Definitions

For the purpose of this Franchise the following terms, phrases, words, and their derivations shall have the meanings given herein, otherwise such words or terms shall have the meaning specified in the Cable Act. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense include the future, words in the plural number include the singular number, and words in the singular number include the plural number, and the use of any gender shall be applicable to all genders whenever required. The words "shall" and "will" are mandatory and "may" is permissive. Words not defined herein or in the Cable Act shall be given their common and ordinary meaning.

- 1. "Affiliate" shall mean any Person who owns or controls, is owned or controlled by, or is under common ownership or control of the Cable Company.
- 2. "Basic Cable Service" or "Basic Service" shall mean the service tier that includes the retransmission of local television broadcast signals.
- 3. "Cable Act" means the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984, as amended by the Cable Television Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992, as further amended by the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (collectively 47 U.S.C. Section 521 et seq.), all as may be further amended from time to time.
- 4. "Cable Company" or "Company" or "Grantee" means Comcast of Oregon II, Inc., its lawful successors, transferees or assigns.
- 5. "Cable Operator" means any Person or group of Persons, including the Cable Company, who provide(s) Cable Service over a Cable System and directly or through one or more Affiliates owns a significant interest in such Cable System or who otherwise control(s) or is (are) responsible for, through any arrangement, the management and operation of such a Cable System.
- 6. "Cable Service" means the one-way transmission to Subscribers of (i) Video Programming, or (ii) other programming service, and Subscriber interaction, if any, which is required for the selection or use of such Video Programming or other programming service by Subscriber.

- 7. "Cable System" shall mean a facility, consisting of a set of closed transmission paths and associated signal generation, reception, and control equipment that is designed to provide Cable Service which includes Video Programming and which is provided to multiple Subscribers within a community, but such term does not include: (1) a facility that serves only to retransmit the television signals of one or more television broadcast stations; (2) a facility that serves Subscribers without using any Right-of-Way; (3) a facility of a common carrier which is subject, in whole or in part, to the provisions of Title II of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, except that such facility shall be considered a Cable System (other than for purposes of Section 621(c)) to the extent such facility is used in transmission of Video Programming directly to Subscribers unless the extent of such use is solely to provide interactive on-demand services; (4) an open video system that complies with Section 653 of Title VI of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended; or (5) any facilities of any electric utility used solely for operating its electric utility system. In this Franchise, unless otherwise specified or made clear by the context, this term shall refer to the particular cable system serving St. Helens.
- 8. "Channel" means that portion of the electromagnetic spectrum which is used in a Cable System and which is capable of delivering a television channel as defined by the FCC.
- 9. "City"or "Grantor" is the City of St. Helens, Columbia County, Oregon, a municipal corporation of the State of Oregon.
- 10. "City Council" shall mean the governing body of the City.
- 11. "Easement" shall be limited to those Rights-of-Way owned or controlled by the City.
- 12. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Franchise is first in full force and effect.
- 13. "Facilities" means any and all fiber optic cable, coaxial cable, equipment and related appurtenances in any way comprising a part of the Cable System.
- 14. "FCC" shall mean the Federal Communications Commission and any successor governmental entity of the Federal Communications Commission.
- 15. "Franchise" means the initial authorization, or renewal thereof, issued by the City, whether such authorization is designated as a franchise, permit, license, resolution, contract, certificate, agreement, or otherwise, which authorizes the construction or operation of a Cable System. Unless otherwise specified or made clear by the context, "Franchise" or "Franchise Agreement" shall refer to this particular agreement, established by ordinance, authorizing construction, operation and maintenance of a Cable System by the Cable Company in the city of St. Helens, Oregon.
- 16. "Franchise Area" shall mean the area within the City limits of the City of St. Helens, Oregon, including areas annexed during the term of this Franchise.

17. "Gross Revenue" means all revenues derived by the Grantee from the operation of the Cable System in the Franchise Area, calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"), under which calculation of Gross Revenue shall include, but not be limited to: revenues derived from the provision of Basic Service, expanded basic, digital, premium, high-definition, pay-per-view, on-demand, and interactive television services; revenues derived from installation, bulk accounts, additional outlets, remote and converter rental, leased access and channels, home shopping commissions, classified ads, the sale of advertising time, and franchise fees.

Gross Revenues shall also include any revenue derived directly or indirectly by any Affiliate of the Cable Company where such revenue in the ordinary course of business has been paid or should have been paid to the Cable Company from the operation of its Cable System to provide Cable Services within the Franchise Area; provided, however, any such revenue shall not be double counted. By way of illustration and not limitation, this definition would include revenue derived from the sale of Cable System advertising time by an Affiliate of the Cable Company.

Insofar as the Cable Company is part of a regional or national entity that receives compensation for any service or activity (e.g., advertising) involving the operation of the Cable System to provide Cable Services in the Franchise Area (e.g., advertising), Gross Revenues related to such services or activities shall be calculated as an allocation of such compensation based on the number of Subscribers in the Franchise Area divided by the total number of Subscribers involved in the regional or national entity multiplied by the total compensation figure.

Gross Revenue shall not include refundable deposits, bad debt (provided that, if debt written off is subsequently collected it shall be counted as Gross Revenue in the period in which it is collected), PEG fees, nor any taxes, fees or assessments imposed or assessed by a governmental authority and collected by the Cable Company. Gross Revenue shall also not include advertising sales commissions and revenue derived from cable modern Internet service or telephony unless those services are deemed to be Cable Services under federal law or regulation.

- 18. "Headend" means the facility, including antennas and associated electronics, which receives, controls, and switches the electronic information transmitted over the Cable System.
- 19. "Interconnect" or "Interconnection" means the electronic connection of two or more different Cable Systems for the purpose of exchanging, switching, or retransmitting PEG programming.
- 20. "Installation" shall mean the connection of the Cable System from feeder cable via a drop to a Subscriber's residence or building.
- 21. "PEG (Public, Educational and Governmental) Access" or "Access" means the Channel(s) made available for public, educational, or governmental non-commercial use in accordance

with applicable federal law and the services, facilities and equipment for the use of such Channel(s).

"Public Access" means Access where organizations and individuals are the primary users, on a first-come, first-served basis.

"Educational Access" means Access in which educational users are the primary users.

"Governmental Access" means Access in which government agencies are the principal users.

- 22. "Person" means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, association, corporation, or any other form of entity or organization.
- 23. "Premium Service" is programming delivered for a fee or charge to Subscribers on a per Channel, per program, or other basis, in addition to the fee or charge to Subscribers for Basic Service.
- 24. "Rights-of-Way" or "Right-of-Way" means the surface, the air space above the surface, and the area below the surface of any public street, highway, lane, path, alley, sidewalk, boulevard, drive, bridge, tunnel, Easement or similar property in which the City holds any property interest or exercises any rights of management or control and which, consistent with the purposes for which it was acquired or dedicated, may be used for the installation and maintenance of a Cable System. No reference in this Franchise to a "Right-of-Way" shall be deemed to be a representation or guarantee by the City that its interests or other rights in such property are sufficient to permit its use for the installation and maintenance of a Cable System, and the Cable Company shall be deemed to gain only those rights which the City has the right and power to give and only to the extent necessary to carry out the purposes of this Franchise.
- 25. "Subscriber" means any Person who lawfully subscribes to Cable Service provided by the Cable Company.
- 26. "Video Programming" means programming provided by, or generally considered comparable to programming provided by, a television broadcast station.

II. Authority and Relationship of Parties

- 1. City is a "franchising authority" as that term is defined in the Cable Act, and has full authority to do all acts and perform all functions of franchising authorities under the Cable Act, including but not limited to, entering into this Franchise Agreement.
- 2. Cable Company will be providing Cable Service pursuant to this agreement. Cable Company is entitled to all rights and privileges conferred upon cable operators by the Cable Act and applicable state and local laws.

3. Grant of Franchise, Nature and Term. The Grantee is hereby granted for itself, its successors and assigns, subject to the terms and conditions of this ordinance, the franchise, authority, right and privilege for a period of ten (10) years to construct, operate and maintain a Cable System in the City, as hereinafter set forth.

4. Competitive Equity.

A. The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the City reserves the right to grant one or more additional franchises or other similar lawful authorization to provide Cable Service within the Franchise Area; provided, the City agrees that, within ninety (90) days of Grantee's request, it shall amend this Franchise to include any material terms or conditions that it makes available to the new entrant, or provide relief from existing material terms or conditions, so as to ensure that the regulatory and financial burdens on each entity are materially equivalent. "Material terms and conditions" include, but are not limited to: franchise fees; insurance; system build-out requirements; security instruments; Public, Education and Government access Channels and support; customer service standards; required reports and related record keeping; and notice and opportunity to cure breaches. The parties agree that this provision shall not require a word for word identical franchise or authorization for a competitive entity so long as the regulatory and financial burdens on each entity are materially equivalent. If any such additional or competitive franchise is granted by the City which, in the reasonable opinion of the Grantee, contains more favorable or less burdensome terms or conditions than this Franchise Agreement, the City agrees that, after Grantee presents evidence that the competitive entrant's franchise places or will place Grantee at a competitive disadvantage, identifying the Franchise sections it believes need to be changed to eliminate the disparity, the City shall amend this Franchise Agreement to include any more favorable or less burdensome terms or conditions.

B In the event an application for a new cable television franchise is filed with the City proposing to serve the Franchising Area, in whole or in part, the City shall serve or require to be served a copy of such application upon any existing Grantee or incumbent cable operator by registered or certified mail or via nationally recognized overnight courier service.

C. In the event that a non-City franchised wireline or state franchised or federally franchised multichannel video programming distributor provides service to the residents of the City except for services not subject to regulation as a Cable Service under applicable law as of the effective date of this Franchise such as direct broadcast satellite, SMATV, broadcast television stations, video delivered over the public Internet (exceptions shall not include IP based delivery of video/cable services via a wireline system owned or controlled by the service provider) and wireless video providers, the Grantee shall have a right to request franchise amendments that relieve the Grantee of regulatory burdens that create a competitive disadvantage to the Grantee. In the event federal law is amended after the effective date of this Franchise to modify local regulatory treatment of video programming services, including treatment prescribed under the Cable Act for Cable Services, the Grantee may exercise its modification rights as set forth above with respect to such change in the law and this Franchise. In requesting amendments, the Grantee shall file a petition seeking to amend the Franchise. Such petitions shall: (1) indicate the presence

of a non-franchised competitor; (2) identify the basis for Grantee's belief that certain provisions of the Franchise place Grantee at a competitive disadvantage; and (3) identify the regulatory burdens to be amended or repealed in order to eliminate the competitive disadvantage. The City shall not unreasonably withhold consent to the Grantee's petition.

III. Franchise Area

The area covered by this franchise shall be the area commonly known as City of St. Helens, including territory annexed during the franchise term.

IV. Compensation

1. Franchise Fee

From and after the effective date of this franchise and continuing thereafter so long as this franchise remains in force and effect, the Cable Company will pay quarterly to the City five percent (5%) of all Gross Revenues. The payment of compensation shall be made for the quarterly period in which the effective date of this franchise falls, and for quarterly periods thereafter, on or before the forty-fifth day following each quarter year period. Quarter year periods shall extend from January 1 through March 31, inclusive; April 1 through June 30 inclusive; July 1, through September 30, inclusive; and October 1 through December 31, inclusive. Coincidentally with such payment the Cable Company will file with the City a report of the quarterly gross revenues covering the period for which payment is made, setting forth revenues according to the type of service.

2. Integrity of Compensation from Cable Services

When Cable Services are bundled with non-cable services and sold to subscribers at a discounted price, or simply as part of the total price for the bundled services, then the allocation of revenues, solely for the purpose of calculating Gross Revenues shall be the price of the Cable Service in the bundled package. Bundling of Cable Services with non-cable services shall not be for the purpose of evading payment of franchise fees on Cable Services. Notwithstanding the above, should federal law or regulation require a specific methodology for the calculation of franchise fees regarding Cable Services bundled with non-cable services, the City and the Cable Company agree that they will comply with such law or regulation. Nothing in this section shall be construed to (1) regulate Cable Company's rates in a manner beyond that which is expressly authorized by federal law; or (2) compel Cable Company to pay more franchise fees than required under this Franchise and federal law and regulation.

3. Audit of Franchise Fees

Upon reasonable prior written notice, during normal business hours, at Grantee's principal business office, the City shall have the right to inspect the Grantee's financial records used to calculate the City's franchise fees; provided, however, that any such inspection shall take place

within two (2) years from the date the City receives such payment, after which period any such payment shall be considered final.

Upon the completion of any such audit by the City, the City shall provide to the Grantee a final report setting forth the City's findings in detail, including any and all substantiating documentation. In the event it is determined that franchise fees for the audit period has been underpaid, the City shall notify Grantee in writing of its determination. Upon receipt, Grantee shall have thirty (30) days to notify the City if it agrees or disagrees with the City's determination. If Grantee agrees with the City's determination, Grantee shall pay to the City the undisputed amount due to the City. The City and Grantee shall discuss all disputed amounts. In the event the parties are not able to reach an agreement on mutually acceptable terms and conditions, either party may pursue their legal remedies. The reasonable cost of such audit up to \$5,000 shall be borne by the Company only if the review results in an underpayment of five percent (5%) or more for the period under review.

V. Schedule of Rates and Charges

1. Schedule Required

Upon granting of the franchise the Cable Company will file with the City a description of services and a schedule of all charges which it makes for those services. The Cable Company will submit notice of any changes in rates to the City 30 days prior to the effective date of the change. All rates will be published and non-discriminatory, and be uniform to all persons and organizations of like classes, under similar circumstances and conditions. Nothing in this provision shall be construed to prohibit the reduction or waiving of charges in conjunction with promotional campaigns for the purpose of attracting subscribers, nor will this provision be interpreted to prohibit the establishment of low-income senior discounts or a graduated scale of charges and rate schedules which vary with volume of usage to any subscriber included within a particular classification, or other such pricing strategies as part of its business practice. The schedule of rates will include installation and monthly charges for providing basic subscriber service, and rates for additional cable services.

2. Prohibition Against Reselling Service.

It is the City's intent that no Person shall resell, without the express prior written consent of the Grantee, any Cable Service, program or signal transmitted over the Cable System by the Grantee.

3. Reservation of Right to Regulate

The City reserves the right to regulate rates and charges imposed on subscribers by the Cable Company to the full extent permitted by law, and to institute procedures to ensure public review of all proposed Cable Company rates and charges.

4. Low-income Senior Discounts

The Grantee, in its sole discretion, may offer basic and expanded basic services at a discount for low-income senior subscribers.

VI. System Construction, Extension, and Availability of Services

1. Service Area.

The Grantee shall make Cable Service available at standard rates and charges to every residential dwelling unit within the Franchise Area where the minimum density is at least thirty (30) dwelling units per mile and is within one (1) mile of the existing Cable System. Subject to the density requirement, Grantee shall offer Cable Service to all new homes or previously unserved homes located within 125 feet of the Grantee's distribution cable.

The Grantee may elect to provide Cable Service to areas not meeting the above density and distance standards. The Grantee may impose an additional charge in excess of its regular installation charge for any service installation requiring a drop or line extension in excess of the above standards. Any such additional charge shall be computed on a time plus materials basis to be calculated on that portion of the installation that exceeds the standards set forth above.

2. Uniform Availability of Residential Service.

The Grantee will offer and make available Cable Services to all residents within the franchise area subject to the density requirements specified above.

3. Undergrounding of Cable.

The Cable Company will install its plant underground subject to the following conditions:

a. If all of the transmission and distribution facilities of all of the respective public or municipal utilities in any area of the Franchise Area are underground, the Grantee shall place its Cable Systems' transmission and distribution facilities underground; provided that such underground locations are actually capable of accommodating the Grantee's cable and other equipment. In any area of the Franchise Area where the transmission or distribution facilities of the respective public or municipal utilities are both aerial and underground, the Grantee shall have the discretion to construct, operate, and maintain all of its transmission and distribution facilities, or any part thereof, aerially or underground. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to require the Grantee to construct, operate, or maintain underground any ground-mounted appurtenances such as customer taps, line extenders, system passive devices, amplifiers, power supplies, pedestals, or other related equipment.

b. Wherever Subscribers in a service area request underground service and agree to pay in advance the cost of construction including all materials and labor to the Cable Company the Cable Company will accommodate the Subscriber's request.

4. Construction Codes.

The Cable Company will adhere to all lawful building, zoning or other codes currently or hereafter in force in the City. The Company will arrange its lines, cables, and other appurtenances, on both public and private property, in such a manner as to cause no unreasonable interference with the use of such property. In the event of such interference, the City may require the removal of the Cable Company's lines, cables, and appurtenances from the property in question.

5. Right to Inspect Construction.

The City will have the right to inspect all system construction or installation work within its territory and to make such tests as it finds necessary to ensure compliance with the terms of this franchise agreement; however, no charge for the inspection work will be made to the Cable Company. The Cable Company will provide such cooperation, information and technical assistance to the City as is required for effective inspection.

6. New Developments.

The City shall provide the Grantee with written notice of the issuance of building or development permits for planned developments within the Franchise Area requiring undergrounding of cable facilities. The City agrees to require the developer, as a condition of issuing the permit, to give the Grantee access to open trenches for deployment of cable facilities and at least ten (10) business days written notice of the date of availability of open trenches. Developer shall be responsible for the digging and backfilling of all trenches. The Grantee shall be responsible for engineering and deployment of labor applicable to its cable facilities.

7. New Grades or Lines.

If the grades or lines of any Public Right of Way within the Franchise Area are lawfully changed at any time during the term of this Franchise Agreement, then the Grantee shall, upon reasonable advance written notice from the City (which shall not be less than ten (10) business days) and at its own cost and expense, protect or promptly alter or relocate the Cable System, or any part thereof, so as to conform with any such new grades or lines. If public funds are available to any Person using such street or public right-of-way for the purpose of defraying the cost of any of the foregoing, the City shall upon written request of the Grantee make application, at Grantee's expense, for such funds on behalf of the Grantee.

VII. Operation Standards, System Design and Performance Requirements

1. Technical Standards and Equipment.

The system will meet or exceed all technical standards established by the FCC.

2. Performance Testing.

The Cable Company shall perform tests to determine compliance with FCC technical standards on a schedule as specified by the FCC, and in any case no less frequently than once each year. Results of the tests, with accuracy of the results certified by an authorized employee of the Cable Company, shall be submitted to the City within 45 days following completion of the published report of the test results. In addition, the City may independently perform technical tests of the cable system at a reasonable time, and the Cable Company shall cooperate fully with the City for such tests.

3. Code Compliance.

The Cable Company shall comply with the following standards:

National Electric Safety Code ("NESC");

National Electrical Code ("NEC");

Applicable FCC and other federal, state and local regulations; and

Applicable permitting procedures of the City.

4. Emergency Alert System.

The Cable Company shall comply with the FCC's Emergency Alert System requirements throughout the term of the franchise. Should jurisdiction of the FCC over an EAS cease during the term of this Franchise, the Company will continue to provide the emergency alert capability in accordance with the rules in effect as of the effective date of this Franchise.

VIII. Customer Protection and Service

Cable Company shall follow the Customer Protection and Service rules as set out in Exhibit A.

IX. System Upgrades

The parties recognize that cable operations are changing fast, and that the cable industry will see technological improvements during the life of this franchise. Therefore, the Cable

Company must incorporate into its cable system, as serviced in the area covered by this franchise, within a 12-month period, any technological advancements already in use by the Cable Company in the greater Portland metropolitan area, provided such advancement is significant, cost effective, and technologically feasible taking into consideration the cost thereof. Nothing herein shall be construed to require Grantee to employ any specific transmission technology, nor require a Grantee to upgrade its Cable System to implement a technology or service that can be shown to be financially infeasible to implement given various factors, including the remaining term of the Franchise Agreement.

X. Erection and Use of Poles by the Cable Company

Cable Company will endeavor to use poles owned by utilities such as Qwest, a corporation; Portland General Electric, a corporation; Columbia River PUD; and the Cable Company. In the event the Cable Company cannot obtain the necessary poles and allied facilities pursuant to the provisions of such agreement at reasonable costs, and only in such event, then it will be lawful for the Cable Company to make all needed excavations in any of the streets, alleys or public highways for the purpose of placing, erecting, laying, maintaining, repairing and removing poles, conduits, supports for wires and conductors, and any other facility needed for the maintenance or extension of the system of the Cable Company. This provision will not exempt the Cable Company from compliance with all charter and ordinance provisions relating to such excavations or construction or from any provision requiring payment of permit or license fees pertaining thereto. All poles of the Cable Company will be erected between the curb and the sidewalk unless otherwise designated by the proper City authorities, and each pole will be set, whenever practicable, at an extension of the lot line. The City will have the right to require the Cable Company to change the location of any pole, conduit, structure or facility within the street area when, in the opinion of the City Engineer, the public convenience requires such change. The expense thereof shall be paid by the Cable Company. All pipes, conduits and underground facilities will be laid down and maintained, in such a manner so as not to interfere with sewers, water pipes, or any other property of City, or with any pipes, wires or conduits that may have been laid theretofore in the streets, alleys or highways of said City or by or under its authority. The systems of pipes, wires and conduits constructed or erected by the Cable Company will be of good quality and workmanship and will be maintained in good repair and efficiency. The foregoing authority to make needed excavations and to place, erect, maintain, repair and remove poles and supports for wires and conductors in the streets, alleys or public highways of the City is intended to apply to such locations where no utility poles exist or where such poles cannot physically accommodate facilities of the Cable Company.

XI. Restoration of Streets

Whenever the Cable Company will disturb the surface of any street, alley, public highway or ground, it will restore the same to a condition reasonably comparable to its condition prior to the opening, in the opinion of the City Engineer consistent with City standards; when any opening is made by the Cable Company in any hard surface in any street, alley or public highway, the Cable Company will promptly refill the opening and restore the pavement. After notifying the Cable Company and allowing it time to refill or repave any opening, the City may refill and/or repave in

case of neglect of the Cable Company. However, notice need not be given in the event the opening results in a hazard to the public. The costs thereof, including inspection and supervision, will be paid by the Cable Company. All excavations made by the Cable Company in the streets, alleys and public highways will be properly safeguarded for the prevention of accidents. The work hereby required will be done in strict compliance with the rules, regulations and ordinances of the City.

XII. Reservation of City Street Rights

Nothing in this franchise will be construed to prevent the City from constructing sewers, grading, paving, repairing and/or altering any street, alley, or public highway or laying down, repairing and/or altering any street, alley or public highway, or laying down, repairing or removing water mains or construction or establishing any other public work. All such work will be done, insofar as practicable, in such manner as not to obstruct, injure or prevent the free use and operation of the system of the Cable Company herein; provided, however, that if any of the poles, wires, conduits, conductors, pipes or appurtenances of the Cable Company will interfere with the construction or repair of any street or public improvement, whether it be construction, repair or removal of a sewer or water main, the improvement of a street or any other public improvement, all such poles, wires, conduits or other appliances and facilities will be removed or replaced in such manner as will be directed by the City so that the same shall not interfere with the said public work of the City, and such removal or replacement will be at the expense of the Cable Company.

XIII. Trimming of Trees

Nothing contained in this franchise will be deemed to empower or authorize the Cable Company to cut or trim any trees, ornamental or otherwise, in any of the streets, alleys or public highways; but the Cable Company may cut or trim such trees as necessary pursuant to City rules and requirements for such trimming applying to public utilities.

XIV. Use of Poles and Conduits by City

The Cable Company will permit the City to fasten wires and cables and stretch such wires and cables on any and all poles and in any conduits of the Cable Company, provided that there is sufficient space available and that such use by the City does not interfere with a current or future use by the Cable Company, and provided that the Cable Company will not be responsible for any damage without its fault resulting to the wires, cable or property of the City resulting from such use of its poles or conduits by the City. The cost of such use to the City will be consistent with how the City treats other utilities or is treated by them, but in no event the amount payable by the City shall be less than the actual cost incurred by the Cable Company including all cost of materials and labor. The City shall hold Cable Company harmless against and from all claims, demands, costs of liabilities of any kind arising out of such use of said poles and conduits.

XV. Franchise Not Exclusive

This franchise will not be construed as any limitation upon the right of the City, through its proper officers, to grant to other persons or corporation, rights, privileges or authority similar to or different from the rights or authority herein set forth, subject however to Section II 4 hereof, in the same or other streets, alleys and public highways or public places by franchise, permit or otherwise.

XVI. Street Vacation or Abandonment

In the event any street, alley, public highway or portion thereof used by the Cable Company will be vacated by the City, or the use thereof discontinued by the Cable Company during the term of this franchise, the Cable Company will forthwith remove its facilities therefrom unless specifically permitted to continue the same, and, on removal thereof restore, repair or reconstruct the street area where such removal has occurred, and place the street area where such removal has occurred in such condition as may be required by the City. In the event of failure, neglect or refusal of the Cable Company, after thirty (30) days notice by the City to repair, improve or maintain such street portions, the City may do such work or cause it to be done, and the cost thereof as found and declared by the City will be paid by the Cable Company.

XVII. Insurance

Cable Company will maintain such public liability and property damage insurance as will protect the Cable Company and the City from all claims for damage for personal injury, including death, which may arise from operations under this franchise or in connection therewith. Such insurance shall provide coverage for not less than \$1,000,000 each person and \$3,000,000 for each accident, property damage liability insurance with limits of \$500,000 for each accident, and \$1,000,000 for all other liability. Such insurance will, without prejudice to coverage otherwise existing therein, name as additional insured City, its officers, agents and employees. The Cable Company shall also maintain automobile liability insurance with One-million dollars (\$1,000,000) combined single for bodily injury and property damage; and employer's liability and worker's compensation insurance as required by the State of Oregon. All policies shall contain, or shall be endorsed so that the policy shall not be suspended, voided, canceled, or limit per accident reduced in coverage or in limits, nor shall the intention not to renew be stated by the insurance company except after thirty (30) days prior written notice, return receipt requested, has been given to the City.

Certificates evidencing such insurance will be filed with the City and will be subject to the approval of the City. It will also be the responsibility of the Cable company to see that all subcontractors carry satisfactory insurance protecting the public in the event of injury or damage arising from the acts or omissions of such subcontractors, their agents or employees.

XVIII. General Indemnification

Except for the negligence or gross negligence of the City, its officers, employees and agents, the Cable Company hereby agrees and covenants to indemnify, defend and hold the City, its officers, agents and employees, harmless from any claim for injury, damage, loss, liability, cost or expense, arising from any casualty or accident to person or property by reason of any construction, excavation or any other act done under this franchise, by or for Cable Company, its agents or employees, or by reason of any neglect or omission of Cable Company to keep its system in a safe condition. City shall endeavor to give the Grantee written notice of its obligation to indemnify and defend within ten (10) days of receipt of a claim or action pursuant to this Section. However, failure to give Grantee notice within ten (10) days shall not diminish Grantee's obligation to indemnify, defend and hold the City harmless. If the City determines that it is necessary for it to employ separate counsel, the costs for such separate counsel shall be the responsibility of the City. Cable Company shall consult and cooperate with the City while conducting its defense of the City.

XIX. Movement of Facilities

In the event it is necessary temporarily to move or remove any of the Cable Company wires, cables, poles or other facilities placed pursuant to this franchise, in order to lawfully move a large object, vehicle, building or other structure over the streets, alleys or highways of the City, the Cable Company, upon reasonable written notice which shall be not less than ten (10) business days, will move, at the expense of the person requesting the temporary removal, such of its facilities as may be required to facilitate such movements. The Cable Company may require that the charge for the relocation be paid in advance of the movement of its wires and facilities.

XX. City's Consent Required for Assignment, Transfer

In order to ensure that any future holder of any right, title or interest in this franchise be examined by the City as to their legal, financial, and technical qualifications for operating the system authorized by this franchise agreement, it is necessary that the City's prior written consent be obtained for assignment, or transfer, of this franchise, except that no consent shall be required, however, for (i) a transfer in trust, by mortgage, hypothecation, or by assignment of any rights, title. or interest of the Grantee in the Franchise or in the Cable System in order to secure indebtedness or in the ordinary course of business, or (ii) a transfer to an entity directly or indirectly owned or controlled by Comcast Corporation. Accordingly, and except as noted above, this franchise shall not be assigned or transferred, without prior written consent of the City, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. Within ten (10) days after the execution and delivery of any such instrument so consented to by the City, the Cable Company will file with the City an executed counterpart or certified copy thereof. The Cable Company will promptly notify the City of any proposed change in, or transfer of, or acquisition by any other party of control of the Cable Company either directly, or indirectly through such a change, transfer or acquisition of control of a parent corporation or any other means. Any such change of control will make this franchise subject to revocation unless and until the City will have given its consent thereto. For the purpose of determining whether it will consent to such change, transfer or acquisition of control, the City may inquire into the legal, financial and technical qualifications of the transferee, and the Cable

Company will assist the City in any such inquiry. For the purposes of this section, a change in control will be deemed to have taken place if 51 percent (51%) of the stock of the Cable Company, is acquired by a single entity or by several entities under common control. The procedures for proposing and considering approval of transfers of control shall be consistent with the requirements of the Cable Act.

XXI. Regulation

At all times, the power and right to regulate in the public interest the lawful exercise of the privileges permitted by this Franchise will remain in and be vested in the City.

XXII. Common User

Whenever, in the judgment of the City Engineer, it is deemed impracticable to permit erection of poles or construction of underground conduit system by any other utility which may at the time have authority to construct or maintain a conduit or poles in the street area, the City may require the Cable Company to afford such utility the right to use such of the poles or facilities of the Cable Company, both parties sharing the costs and under such rules and regulations as they may agree upon, provided that the Cable Company shall have the same right as to placement of its facilities to poles and conduits of a utility.

XXIII. Remedies for Franchise Violations

1. Revocation.

In addition to any rights set out elsewhere in this document, the City reserves the right to revoke this franchise agreement, including all its rights and privilege in the event that:

- A. The Cable Company substantially violates any material provisions of this agreement;
- B. The Company abandons the System or terminates the System's operations;
- C. The Cable Company is found to have practiced fraud or deceit of a material nature upon the City;
- D. The Cable Company fails to obtain and maintain any required federal or state permit relating to the construction, maintenance, and operation of the Cable System within the Franchise Area after notification from the appropriate government agency that the permit is lacking and the Cable Company fails to obtain the permit within a reasonable time; provided that any such federal or state permit is lawfully required and its legality is not challenged by Grantee;
- E. The Cable Company materially misrepresents facts in the application for or negotiation of the Franchise; or

F. The Cable Company becomes insolvent, becomes unable or unwilling to pay its debts, or is adjudged bankrupt, subject to the exceptions described in Section XXIV.

In the event that the City believes that the Cable Company has not complied with terms of the franchise, it shall notify the Cable Company in writing of the exact nature of the alleged non-compliance. The Cable Company shall have thirty (30) days from receipt of the notice to (a) respond to the City contesting the assertion of non-compliance, or (b) to cure such default or, in the event, by the nature of the default, such default cannot be cured within the thirty (30) day period, initiate reasonable steps to remedy such default and notify the City of the steps being taken and the projected date they will be completed.

Before reaching a finding that there are grounds to revoke this franchise agreement, the City must give the Cable Company an opportunity to be heard. The Cable Company will be afforded due process rights at the hearing as if the hearing were a contested case hearing under State law, including the right to cross-examine witnesses and to require that all testimony be on the record. The findings will be written and will stipulate the reasons for the decisions.

Upon revocation of the franchise agreement and subject to other legal remedies the parties may have, all rights of the holders of the franchise will immediately be revoked without a further act upon the part of the City, and upon the written request of the City, the Cable Company will promptly remove its structures and property from the streets and restore the streets to their prior condition. If the Cable Company fails to do so, the City may perform the work and then collect the actual cost of the work from the Cable Company. The actual cost of the work, including administrative costs, will be a lien upon all plant and property of the Cable Company effective upon placement in the lien docket books of the City.

2. Liquidated Damages.

Because it may be difficult to calculate the harm to the City in the event of a breach of this Franchise Agreement by Grantee, the parties agree to liquidated damages as a reasonable estimation of the actual damages in the amount of up to five hundred dollars (\$500) per day and a maximum total amount of up to five thousand dollars (\$5,000) per substantial and material violation of this Franchise. To the extent that the City elects to assess liquidated damages as provided in this Agreement and such liquidated damages have been paid, such damages shall be the City's sole and exclusive remedy. Nothing in this Section is intended to preclude the City from exercising any other right or remedy with respect to a breach that continues past the time the City stops assessing liquidated damages for such breach.

A. Prior to assessing any liquidated damages, the City will first discuss the alleged violation, informally, with the Cable Company in an attempt to resolve the problems. If the discussions are unsuccessful, the City shall mail to the Grantee a written notice by certified or registered mail of the alleged violation and the proposed liquidated damage, specifying the violation at issue. The Grantee shall have thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of the written notice to cure or commence to cure, as is appropriate depending on the nature of the alleged

violation, or to file a written response refuting the alleged violation or explaining why additional time for cure is necessary. In the case of breaches of requirements measured on a monthly, quarterly or longer period, Grantee's cure period shall be no less than one such period.

- B. The City may not assess any liquidated damage if the Grantee has reasonably responded to the complaint or cured or commenced to cure, as may be appropriate, the violation following receipt of written notice from the City, unless some other cure period is approved by the City. In the event Grantee fails to cure or commence to cure, or fails to refute the alleged breach, the City may assess liquidated damages and shall inform Grantee in writing of the assessment. Grantee shall have thirty (30) days to pay the damages.
- C. The first day for which liquidated damages may be assessed, if there has been no cure after the end of the applicable cure period, shall be the day on which Grantee received the City's formal written notice of non-compliance.
- D. Grantee may appeal (by pursuing judicial relief or other relief afforded by the City) any assessment of liquidated damages within thirty (30) days of receiving written notice of the assessment. Grantee's obligation to pay the liquidated damages assessed shall be stayed pending resolution of the appeal.
- E. If after that dollar limit set forth in paragraph A of this section is reached, and Grantee has not cured or commenced to cure the alleged breach to the satisfaction of the City, the City may pursue all other remedies.

Upon application of the Cable Company, the City may excuse the Cable Company from strictly performing terms and conditions of this agreement where it finds 1) that strict performance would not substantially further the purpose and principles of this agreement and 2) that strict performance would result in practical difficulties and hardship to the Cable Company which outweigh the benefit to be derived by the system or subscribers.

XXIV. Receivership.

Except as provided by applicable state or federal law, in the event that the Cable Company is placed in receivership, and in the event that the Cable Company has been under the control of a receiver or trustee more than one hundred and twenty (120) days from the date such a person is appointed, the Cable Company will be deemed to have violated a material portion of this agreement. The violation will be deemed to have occurred whether the Cable Company is in receivership, reorganization, bankruptcy, or other action or proceeding unless the following circumstances accompany the receivership:

- 1. Within 120 days after election of appointment, the receiver or trustee will have been approved by the City and will have fully complied with all the provisions of the franchise agreement and remedied all defaults under the agreement; and
- 2. The receiver or trustee, within 120 days, will have executed an agreement, approved by the

City as well as the court having jurisdiction, whereby the receiver or trustee assumes and agrees to be bound by each and every provision of the franchise agreement.

XXV. Charter and General Ordinances to Apply.

This franchise is hereby made subject to the charter and general ordinance provision passed pursuant thereto (to the extent not inconsistent with the limitations prescribed by Section XXXI(13) below), now in effect or hereafter made effective, of said charter. Nothing in this franchise will be deemed to waive the requirements of the various codes and ordinances of the City regarding permits or fees to be paid or manner of construction.

XXVI. Public, Educational and Government (PEG) Access.

1. PEG Channels and Use.

Upon and without interruption after the effective date of this Franchise, the Cable Company shall continue to make two (2) Access Channels available for Public and Government Access use by the City or by a designated Access provider identified by the City, for Public and Government Access purposes.

Upon ninety (90) days advance written notification from the City, but not earlier than February 1, 2008, Grantee shall make one (1) Access Channel available for Educational Access use by the City or by a designated Access provider identified by the City, for Educational Access purposes, for a total of three (3) Access Channels.

The City or its designated access entity shall pay for all cost of constructing the bi-directional fiber connection from any origination point within the Franchise Area to Grantee's head end or any other location agreed to by Grantee (including cost of materials and labor) and end user equipment. As of the effective date of this Agreement, the origination points shall be City Hall, the County administration building, and the designated access entity's facility located at 475 S.18th Street, St. Helens. Should the City desires to establish additional origination points after the effective date of this Franchise, the City shall consult with Grantee and the City shall be responsible for all costs of construction including costs of material and labor and all end user equipment.

Grantee does not relinquish its ownership of or ultimate right of control over a channel by designating it for PEG use. A PEG access user – whether an individual, educational or governmental user – acquires no property or other interest by virtue of the use of a channel so designated, and may not rely on the continued use of a particular channel number, no matter how long the same channel may have been designated for such use. Grantee shall not exercise editorial control over any public, educational, or governmental use of channel capacity, except Grantee may, consistent with the Cable Act and applicable State law, refuse to transmit any public access program or portion of a public access program that contains obscenity, indecency, or nudity. The City shall be responsible for developing, implementing, interpreting and enforcing rules for PEG

Access Channel use which shall ensure that Public Access Channel(s) and equipment will be available on a non-discriminatory basis.

A. Grantee Use of Fallow Time.

Because blank or under utilized PEG channels are not in the public interest, in the event the City or designated PEG access entity elects not to fully program its Channel(s), the Grantee may request the use of specific blocks of time with a consistent history of remaining unused on an access channel, for non-commercial programming of the Company's choosing, and the City will not unreasonably refuse the request. Such blocks of time shall be subject to reclamation by the City upon no less than 60 days notice.

B. Indemnification.

To the extent permitted by the Oregon tort claims act and the Oregon Constitution, the City shall indemnify Grantee for any liability, loss, or damage it may suffer from claims arising out of the City's negligent administration of its rules for Access.

2. Access Channels on Lowest Tier.

All PEG Access Channels shall be carried on the lowest service tier offered by the Cable Company in accordance with the Cable Act.

3. PEG Access Capital Support.

The City has determined that to meet community needs and interests for PEG Access in St. Helens over the term of the Franchise, the following developments, among possible others, are necessary:

- A. Fitting the current City Hall chambers with equipment for the effective video coverage of meetings;
- B. Establishing studio, mobile and portable production and post-production capability for Access coverage of community activities and events;
- C. Establishing an Educational Access Channel and possibly supporting the production, editing and playback capability for the Channel, which may be used by the City, by Portland Community College, and by elementary, secondary and post-secondary educational institutions; and
- D. Preparing for the establishment of a Government Access Channel and operations.

Except as otherwise agreed to by the parties, within sixty (60) days of the effective date of this Franchise, Grantee shall pay to the City an amount equal to fifty – two cents (\$0.52) per residential Subscriber per month as capital support for PEG access ("PEG capital"). The City shall allocate such amount to PEG capital uses exclusively. All such payments shall be made at the same time as the Grantee pays the franchise fee to the City.

In lieu of matching monetary support, the City shall support PEG Access operations by providing in-kind support such as a facility for the designated access entity. In the event that franchise fees are no longer available through state or federal governmental actions over which the City has no control, the obligation of the City and Grantee shall be waived for any time period in which the City does not receive franchise fees. In the event franchise fees are less than the pass-through PEG capital support fees, the Grantee's obligation to collect and pay to the City PEG capital fees shall be reduced correspondingly.

4. PEG Funding Audit.

At the request of Grantee, the City shall provide Grantee with a report, no more often than annually, documenting the use of PEG capital fees. In the event the City cannot demonstrate that PEG funding was used for PEG capital needs, Grantee's PEG funding obligations going forward shall be reduced by an equivalent amount.

5. Status of PEG Contribution.

The Grantee agrees that all contributions, services, equipment, facilities, support, resources and other activities to be paid for or supplied by Grantee pursuant to or in connection with its performance under this Section shall not be regarded as franchise fees or counted against the payment of franchise fees.

6. PEG Access Rules Determined by the City.

The City shall have the authority to manage the operation of PEG Access, and the City may delegate part or all of this authority to a third party. Rules governing the use of all PEG Access resources, including without limitation the public, educational and governmental Access Channel(s), studios, equipment, facilities, services, origination points, and the PEG Access Grant will be determined by the City or a designee of the City.

7. Technical Assistance and Services.

The Grantee will provide ongoing maintenance of its facilities up to the patch panel at the PEG origination sites. The City or the designated access entity shall be responsible for maintenance, repair and replacement of all equipment and connections within the origination site from the patch panel.

The Grantee will facilitate the City or the designated access entity in including a generic listing of all PEG programming by type (e.g., "Educational Access Programming," "Public Access Programming," "Government Access Programming", as identified by the City or its designee on the channel guide on its Cable System. If the City wishes to identify specific programs in listings, Grantee will assist the City with such listing, provided that the City or designated PEG access entity shall be responsible for all costs for such listing.

8. Digital Channels.

At such time as the entire Cable System is technically configured digital, City may request, and Grantee shall make available upon one hundred twenty (120) days advanced written notice from City, the conversion of the three (3) initial channels to three (3) digital channels, and one (1) additional digital channel for a total of four (4) digital channels; provided, however, to activate the one (1) additional digital channel the City or City's designee(s) demonstrates that it is providing the following level of programming: during ten (10) consecutive weeks, a pre-existing channel designated for the same purpose as the channel requested (Public Access, Educational Access, or Governmental Access) cablecasts at least forty-two (42) hours per week of original programming. For the purposes of calculating the forty-two (42) hours per week of programming, a program may be repeated only once after its original run during the ten (10) week period. The parties understand and agree that certain uses, such as government meetings, may reach channel capacity and warrant an additional channel while not meeting the standard for original programming set forth above. In such case the parties agree to consider and may mutually agree, on a case-by-case basis, to provide the additional channel without first meeting the standard set forth above. As used herein "original programming" means non-repeat programming and does not include character generation or bulletin boards.

At such time as the entire Cable System is digital, City shall be responsible for its cost or designated access entity's cost of equipment necessary to provide and transmit their respective digital programming for the PEG channels to Grantee's Cable System. Grantee will provide a fiber transmitter or its equivalent at the City's PEG access control site in order to transport the control site's digital signal over the fiber to Grantee's headend. The City may use PEG capital funds for these equipment needs, if any. Grantee shall be responsible for any equipment necessary at its headend or in its Cable System or return lines to provide the transport and distribution of the PEG channels to subscribers. Digital channels assigned or allocated to PEG access use shall have a compression ratio that is equivalent to other digitally delivered channels used for typical commercial channels that deliver programming to the Franchise Area in a similar format for delivery to subscribers.

9. Non-Commercial Use.

Public, Educational, and Governmental Access Channels shall be utilized solely for non-commercial purposes for the social, educational, cultural, charitable, and informational benefit and general welfare of the community. No Access user shall utilize the Access Channels for any purposes other than as specified and shall not derive any commercial profit therefrom, including the sale of advertising, commercials, or other similar activities. With the exception that the City has the right to delegate its authority to operate and regulate the PEG Access Channels, the right to utilize these Channels shall not be assigned by any Access user to any other Person or entity. The limitations of this section notwithstanding, nothing in this Franchise shall prohibit the solicitation and recognition of financial support for the provision of PEG Access by the City or its designee(s), and for charitable, educational or governmental purposes in accordance with applicable federal law and regulations.

XXVII. Service to Community Facilities.

The Cable Company will provide and maintain at no expense to the City for installation or service, one (1) standard outlet and Basic Service at each municipal building, city police station and public school, not including "home schools" or colleges, provided that each location is within the Franchise Area and 125 feet of the Grantee's distribution cable. In addition, at the City's request, no more often than every two years during the life of the Franchise, the Cable Company shall provide the City with one (1) connection for Basic Tier Service to additional municipal buildings of the City's choosing, as long as the location is located within the Franchise Area and 125 feet of the Cable Company's distribution facilities. For the purpose of this Section, "municipal buildings" are buildings owned and occupied by the City for administration purposes and do not include buildings owned by the City but leased to third parties for non-government purposes, or buildings such as storage facilities at which government employees are not regularly stationed, and buildings housing jail populations. The City or the requesting public agency shall be responsible for nonstandard installations or extensions to buildings that do not fall within Grantee's line extension policy and any additional services or equipment at Grantee's customary charges.

XXVIII. Institutional Network

The City and Grantee may enter into a separate agreement for the construction of an Institutional Network connecting City buildings within the Franchise Area under a Grantee managed network.

XXIX. Reporting Requirements.

1. Quarterly Reports.

- A. Within 30 calendar days after the end of each fiscal quarter of the Cable Company, Cable Company shall submit to the City a written summary of all complaints referred to Cable Company within the report quarter. The reports shall contain, as a minimum, the specific nature of the complaint, remedial action taken, if any, and current status of the complaint ("closed" or "open"). For purposes of this section, "complaint" shall mean any written communication to the Cable Company of subscriber dissatisfaction regarding any service or practice of the Cable Company in its operations under this franchise.
- B. Within 30 days after the end of each of the Cable Company's fiscal quarters, the Cable Company shall submit a written report to the City, verified by an officer of the Cable Company, which shall contain:
 - (1) a statement certified by an officer of the Cable Company of all revenues received by the Cable Company or any parent or affiliate, related to operation of the cable system in the franchise area, identified by source or type, e.g., basic,

pay, installation, advertising, etc.;

- (2) any adjustments to gross revenue to determine the franchise fee calculation base; and
- (3) calculation of the franchise fee resulting in the amount being paid.

2. Annual Report.

No later than three and one-half months following the end of the Cable Company's fiscal year each year, Cable Company shall present a written report to the City which shall include:

- A. If requested, the full financial statements for the previous year, including income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of capital expenditures and appropriate explanatory footnotes; audited, for [first Comcast entity in line of parentage which is normally audited]. In the event any audited financial report has not been published by the date due under this section, then the audited financial report shall be deemed presented on time if presented within 30 days after publication.
- B. A summary of the previous year's activities for the franchise area, St. Helens system area and state area, including, but not limited to, the total number of subscribers for each category of service, the number of homes passed, miles of overhead and underground cable plant, other system facilities and equipment constructed, any services added or dropped, and any technological changes occurring in the system.
- C. A summary of complaints received, with a summary of how the complaints have been dealt with.
- D. Plans for the future.

3. Monitoring and Compliance Reports.

No later than July 1 of each year, the Cable Company shall provide a written report of any FCC technical performance tests for the residential network required in FCC Rules and Regulations as now or hereinafter constituted.

4. Additional Reports.

If requested, by the City, the Cable Company shall prepare and furnish to the City, at the times and in the form prescribed, such additional reports with respect to its operation, affairs, transactions, or property relating to the Cable System serving the Franchise Area, as may be reasonably necessary and appropriate to the performance of any of the rights, functions or duties of the City in connection with this franchise.

XXX. Surety and Guarantee

A. Within sixty 60 days of the effective date of this agreement, Company shall obtain and maintain at its cost and expense, and file with the City, a performance bond and found acceptable by the attorney for the City in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000). The performance bond shall be conditioned upon and ensure the faithful performance of all material terms and conditions of the Franchise. Nothing in the performance bond shall alter the conditions of this Agreement. If Grantee fails to timely pay an amount required to be paid under this Franchise Agreement, the City shall give Grantee twenty (20) business days' notice of its intent to draw the amount owed from the performance bond. The City may not draw from the security bond while any action, appeal or other process has been instituted by Grantee to challenge the amount owed.

The City may reduce the amount of the bond consistent with Grantee's performance of its responsibilities under the Franchise. After the expiration of the term of the Franchise, transfer, revocation or termination, Grantee shall be entitled to the return of the bond or portion thereof as soon as possible; provided that the City has not notified Grantee of any actual or potential damages incurred as a result of Grantee's material violation of the Franchise.

- B. The performance bond shall remain in full force and effect throughout the term of this agreement.
- C. The rights reserved to the City with respect to the performance bond are in addition to all other rights of the City, whether reserved by this Franchise or authorized by law, and no action, proceeding, or exercise of a right with respect to such bond shall affect any other rights the City may have.
 - D. The performance bond shall contain the following endorsement:

It is hereby understood and agreed that this instrument may not be canceled by the surety nor the intention not to renew be exercised by the surety until thirty (30) days after receipt by the City by registered mail, of a written notice of such intent to cancel or not to renew.

The performance bond shall be used to insure the Grantee's faithful compliance with all of the terms and provisions of this Franchise.

E. Maintenance. The Grantee shall restore the performance bond to its full amount if a claim is made. The Grantee's maintenance of the performance bond shall not be construed to excuse unfaithful performance by the Grantee, or to limit the liability of the Grantee to the amount of the performance bond, or otherwise to limit the City's recourse to any other remedy available at law or equity.

XXXI. Miscellaneous Provisions

1. <u>Prohibition Against Discriminatory Practices</u>. The Cable Company will not deny service or access, or otherwise discriminate against subscribers, programmers, or persons on the basis of

race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, handicap, or marital status.

- 2. <u>Privacy and Other Human Rights</u>. The Grantee shall comply with all applicable federal and state privacy laws, including Section 631 of the Cable Act and regulations adopted pursuant thereto.
- 3. <u>Filing</u>. When not otherwise specified, all matters to be filed with the City will be filed with the City Administrator
- 4. <u>Right to Require Removal of Property</u>. Subject to federal and state law, at the expiration of the term for which the franchise is granted, or under its revocation or expiration, as provided for herein, the City will have the right to require the Cable Company to remove, at Cable Company's expense, all portions of the cable communications system from all streets and public way with the City.

5. Open Books and Records.

- (a) Throughout the term of this Franchise Agreement, the Grantee agrees that the City, upon reasonable prior written notice to the Grantee, may review such of the Grantee's books and records related to the operation of the Cable System and the provision of Cable Service in the Franchise Area which are reasonably necessary to monitor Grantee's compliance with the provisions of this Franchise Agreement, at the Grantee's business office, during normal business hours, and without unreasonably interfering with Grantee's business operations. Such notice shall specifically reference the section or subsection of the Franchise, which is under review, so that the Grantee may organize the necessary books and records for easy access by the City. Alternatively, if the books and records are not easily accessible at the local business office of the Grantee, the Grantee may, at its sole option, choose to pay the reasonable travel costs up to \$5,000 of the City's representative to view the books and records at the appropriate location. Reasonable travel costs shall be those set forth in the then current City travel reimbursement policy for City employees who travel on City business. All such documents pertaining to financial matters that may be the subject of an inspection by the City shall be retained by the Grantee for a minimum period of three (3) years.
- (b) Proprietary Information. Except as otherwise provided in this Section, the Grantee may not refuse to provide information requested by the City under this Section on the grounds that it is proprietary or confidential in nature; provided, however, the City shall not request information from Grantee that is not materially relevant and specific to Grantee's Cable Service within the Franchise Area and to the City's administration of this Franchise. Upon receipt of request from City, Grantee will identify information which is considered to be confidential and proprietary. To the extent permitted by the Oregon Public Records Laws, ORS chapter 192, the City agrees to treat any information disclosed by the Grantee as confidential and only to disclose it to those employees, representatives, and agents of the City that have a need to know in order to enforce this Franchise Agreement and who agree to maintain the confidentiality of all such information. The Grantee shall not be required to provide Customer information in violation of Section 631 of the Cable Act or any other applicable federal or state privacy law. For purposes of this Section, the terms "proprietary or confidential" include, but are not limited to, information relating to the Cable System design, subscriber lists, marketing plans, financial information unrelated to the calculation of franchise fees or rates pursuant to FCC rules, or other information

that is reasonably determined by the Grantee to be competitively sensitive.

- (c) <u>Public Records Requests</u>. In the event the City receives a request under the Oregon Public Records Law or applicable federal "sunshine" laws for the disclosure of information the Grantee has designated as confidential, trade secret or proprietary, the City shall promptly notify Grantee of such request and confer with Grantee regarding the appropriate response to such request.
- 6. <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. The Cable Company will comply with all applicable State and Federal laws and regulations, and with all local ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations of general applicability.
- 7. Safety. The Cable Company will, at all times, employ standards of care commensurate with the risk involved in its operations. It will use commonly accepted methods and devices for preventing failures and accidents which are likely to cause damage, injury, or nuisance to the public or to its employees.

The Cable Company will install and maintain its wires, cables, fixtures, and other equipment in accordance with the requirements of the National Electric Safety Code, and in such manner that they will not interfere with the installations of the City or any public utility.

- 8. <u>Severability</u>. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or word of the franchise agreement is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or word will be deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision, and such holding will not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this agreement.
- 9. <u>Captions</u>. The captions to sections throughout this franchise agreement are intended solely to create easier reference to this franchise agreement. The wording of captions will not effect the meaning or interpretation of this agreement.
- 10. <u>Barrier to Recourse Against the City</u>. Except as provided under federal and state law, the Cable Company will have no recourse whatsoever against the City or its officials, agents, or employees for any of the following any loss, costs or damage resulting from the non-negligent, good faith acts of such persons in the lawful enforcement or administration of this Agreement.
- 11. Non-enforcement by the City. The Cable Company will not be relieved of its obligation to comply with any of the provisions of this franchise agreement by reason of any failure of the City to enforce prompt compliance.
- 12. <u>Force Majeure.</u> If, by reason of force majeure, the Cable Company is unable in whole or part to carry out its obligations under this agreement, the Cable Company will not be deemed in violation or default during the period of such inability. The term "force majeure" as used here means the following: acts of God; strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders of the government of the United States of America, or the State of Oregon, or their departments, agencies, political subdivisions, or officials; acts of any civil or military authority; insurrections; riots, epidemics; landslides; earthquakes, lightning; fires; icing conditions; hurricanes; volcanic activity; storms; floods; washouts; droughts; restraint of

Page 83

government and people; civil disturbances; explosions; partial or entire failure of utilities; or any other circumstances found by the City to be beyond the reasonable control of the Cable Company. This provision also covers work delays caused by waiting for utility providers to service or monitor their own utility poles on which the Grantee's cable or equipment is attached, as well as unavailability of materials or qualified labor to perform the work necessary. The Cable Company agrees, however, to exert its best efforts to remedy, as soon as possible under the circumstances, the cause or causes preventing it from carrying out its responsibilities and duties under this franchise agreement. In determining whether circumstances beyond the control of the Cable Company exist, the City will consider the cause of the non-performance and whether any action or inaction of the Cable Company was a material contributing factor.

- 13. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This franchise agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties. It supersedes all prior agreements or proposals except as specifically set forth herein. It cannot be changed orally, but only by an instrument in writing, executed by the parties. Except for ordinances of general applicability relating specifically to the health, welfare and safety of the City's citizens, all ordinances or parts of ordinances that are in conflict with or otherwise impose obligations different from the provisions of this Franchise are superseded by this Franchise.
- 14. <u>Consent</u>. Wherever the consent of either the Cable Company or the City is specifically required in this agreement, such consent will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 15. <u>Notices</u>. All notices from the Cable Company to the City pursuant to this agreement will shall be in writing and shall be directed to the City Administrator unless the City designates an alternative recipient. The Cable Company will maintain with the City, throughout the term of this agreement, an address for service of notices by mail from the City.

All notices shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and served upon the other party by hand delivery, first class mail, registered or certified, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by reputable overnight courier service and addressed as follows:

To the City:

City of St. Helens Attention: City Administrator 265 Strand Street, St. Helens, OR 97051

To the Grantee:

Comcast Attention: Government Affairs 9605 SW Nimbus Ave Beaverton, OR 97008

27

- 16. <u>Expiration and Renewal</u>. Renewal of this agreement will be subject to the renewal procedures and standards set forth in the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984, as amended.
- 17. <u>Continuity of Service</u>. It shall be the right of all Subscribers to continue receiving service insofar as their financial and other obligations to the Cable Company are honored. In the event that the Grantee elects to rebuild, upgrade, modify, or sell the Cable System, or the City gives notice of intent to terminate or fails to renew this Franchise, the Company shall act so as to ensure that all Subscribers receive continuous, uninterrupted service.

In the event of a change of franchisee, or in the event a new operator acquires the Cable System, the Grantee shall cooperate with the City, new franchisee or operator in maintaining continuity of Cable Service to all Subscribers. During such period, the Grantee shall be entitled to the revenues for any period during which it operates the Cable System and the City shall be entitled to the franchise fee, the PEG Access capital fee, and other monetary requirements as established by this agreement.

- 18. <u>Police Powers.</u> In accepting this Franchise, the Company acknowledges that its rights hereunder are subject to the police powers of the City to adopt and enforce general ordinances necessary to the safety and welfare of the public, and the Company agrees to comply with all generally applicable laws and ordinances enacted by the City pursuant to such power.
- 19. <u>Effective Date</u>. This Franchise shall be in full force and effect 30 days after the ordinance approving the franchise agreement as required by law, and acceptance by the Cable Company.
- 20. <u>No Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. Nothing in this Franchise is or was intended to confer third-party beneficiary status on any member of the public to enforce the terms of this Franchise.
- 21. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Franchise shall be deemed to be executed in the State of Oregon, and shall be governed in all respects, including validity, interpretation and effect, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Oregon, as applicable to contracts entered into and performed entirely within the State.
- 22. <u>Reservation of Grantee's Rights</u>. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, Grantee reserves any and all rights and remedies it may have in law or in equity.

ENTERED into this 19th	_day of	<u>December</u> ,	2007.
------------------------	---------	-------------------	-------

Mayor, City of St. Helens

Approved as to form:

City Attorney

Comcast of Oregon II, Inc.

By:

Curt Henninger Senior Vice President

EXHIBIT A

<u>Customer Protection and Service</u>

The following policies and standards apply to Cable Company:

1 Customer Service and Telephone Responsiveness

- 1.1 A Customer Service office must be located within the City of St. Helens, and be adequately staffed and able to respond to subscribers and the public not less than 40 hours per week, with a minimum of eight hours per day on weekdays. The Cable Company may relocate its office outside the City's boundaries but within Columbia County, Oregon upon sixty (60) days advance written notification to the City and subscribers.
- 1.2 As used herein, "able to respond" means toll-free telephone lines are open and customer service representatives are available to respond in at least the following ways:
 - 1.2.1 To accept payments;
 - 1.2.2 To exchange or accept returned converters or other company equipment;
 - 1.2.3 To respond to inquiries; and
 - 1.2.4 To schedule and conduct service or repair calls.
- 1.3 Toll-free telephone lines, either staffed or with answering capability, providing at least emergency referral information, must be operational 24 hours a day, including weekends and holidays.
 - 1.4 Cable Company shall maintain, on average:
- 1.4.1 Sufficient customer service staff and telephone line capacity to handle normal call volume with a minimum of delay to subscribers; and
- 1.4.2 At least 90 percent responsiveness during normal call volume, defined as fewer than one customer call in ten will encounter a busy signal or a delay in reaching a customer service representative exceeding one minute in length.

2 Service and Repair Calls

2.1 Requests from subscribers for repair service must be acknowledged by Cable Company within 24 hours or prior to the end of the next business day, whichever is earlier. Repair for service interruptions or other repairs not requiring on-premises work must be completed within 24 hours under normal operating procedures. All other repairs should be completed within 72 hours under normal circumstances. No charge may be made to subscribers for this repair service, except in cases beyond the reasonable control of the Cable Company, such as documentable cases of repeated subscriber negligence or abuse of Cable Company equipment

- 2.2 As a normal operating procedure, upon subscriber request Cable Company shall provide either a specific appointment time or else a pre-designated block of time (not to exceed four hours) for subscriber service appointments to be scheduled Monday through Saturday in the morning, the afternoon, or after 5:00 p.m. (repair only).
- 2.3 As a normal operating procedure, and with particular regard to the needs of working or mobility-limited subscribers, upon subscriber request Cable Company shall arrange for pickup and/or replacement of converters or other company equipment at the subscriber's address, or else a satisfactory equivalent (such as the provision of a postage-prepaid mailer).

3 Disconnection

- 3.1 Cable Company may disconnect a subscriber for cause if:
- 3.1.1 At least 30 days have elapsed after the due date for payment of the bill of the affected subscriber; and
- 3.1.2 The Cable Company has provided at least ten days written notice to the affected subscriber prior to disconnection, specifying the effective date after which cable services are subject to disconnection.
- 3.2 Regardless of subsection 3.1 hereof, Cable Company may disconnect a subscriber for cause at any time of the Cable Company in good faith determines that the subscriber has tampered with or abused company equipment, caused or threatened physical harm to company representatives or company facilities, or is or may be engaged in theft of cable services.
- 3.3 Cable Company shall promptly disconnect any subscriber who so requests from the Cable Company's cable system. No period of notice prior to voluntary termination of service may be required of subscribers by Cable Company. No charge may be imposed by Cable Company for such voluntary disconnection, or for any cable services delivered after the date of the disconnect request unless equipment has not been returned to the Cable Company. Upon the later of the date of actual disconnection or the return of all company equipment to Cable Company, the Cable Company shall within thirty (30) days return to such subscriber the amount of the deposit, if any, collected by Cable Company from such subscriber, less any undisputed amounts owed to Cable Company for cable services or charges prior to the date of disconnection.

4 Credits Upon Outage

Except for planned outages where subscribers are provided reasonable notification in advance, upon a subscriber's request Cable Company shall provide a pro-rated 24-hour credit to the subscriber's account for any period of four hours or more during which the subscriber experienced an outage or substantial impairment of cable service.

5 Itemized Billing

Each Cable Company bill to subscribers must itemize each category of service, equipment, or other applicable fees, and state clearly the charge therefor.

6 Information to Subscribers

- 6.1 Upon installing initial service to or reconnecting each subscriber, and upon request thereafter Cable Company must advise the subscriber, in writing, of:
- 6.1.1 The equipment and services currently available (including parental lock-out devices) and the rates and charges which apply;
- 6.1.2 The amount and any criteria for any deposit required by Cable Company, if applicable, and the manner in which the deposit will be refunded;
- 6.1.3 The Cable Company's policies and procedures by which complaints or inquiries of any nature will be addressed;
- 6.1.4 The toll-free telephone number and address of the Cable Company's office to which complaints and inquiries may be reported;
- 6.1.5 The Cable Company's practices and procedures for protecting against invasions of subscriber privacy; and
- 6.1.6 The notice and referral information to the City of St. Helens, as set forth in subsection 6.2 hereof.
- 6.2 If requested by the City but not more than once every three (3) years, Cable Company shall send a written notice to all subscribers that any complaints or inquiries not satisfactorily handled by the company may be referred to the City of St. Helens. Such notification may be included with a billing statement, and shall contain either the printed text specified in subsection 6.3 hereof or an alternate text approved by the City. The City shall supply the printed material.
- 6.3 The text of the printed notice shall be as follows, unless otherwise authorized by the City:

PLEASE READ THIS

The City of St. Helens is responsible for monitoring the customer service, system performance, and franchise compliance of your cable company. Toward this end, the City and your cable company work continuously to monitor and improve cable TV customer service in your community.

However, at times you may encounter problems with your cable service that you have been unable to resolve with your cable company. The City is available to help you with <u>unresolved</u> problems. If this is the case, please call the City. The City's Telephone Number Is: 503-397-6272

However, please contact your cable company FIRST before calling the City about your problems.

This announcement has been brought to you as a public service of the city of St. Helens and your cable company.

PLEASE SAVE FOR FUTURE REFERENCE

6.3.1 Such notice, in large boldface type, shall also be posted in a conspicuous place in Cable Company offices located within the City where customer service transactions are conducted.

- 6.4 Cable Company shall provide to its subscribers and the City written notice at least thirty (30) days in advance of any deletions in programming services, increases in any rates, costs, or charges to subscribers, or any channel repositioning within the control of Cable Company.
- 6.5 All Cable Company promotional materials, announcements, and advertising of residential cable services to subscribers and the general public, where price information is listed in any manner, shall clearly and accurately disclose price terms. In the case of pay-per-view or pay-per-event programming, all Cable Company prepared promotional materials must clearly and accurately disclose price terms and in the case of telephone orders, Cable Company shall take appropriate steps to ensure that Cable Company customer service representatives clearly and accurately disclose price terms to potential customers in advance of taking the order.

7 Nondiscrimination

- 7.1 Cable Company shall not unlawfully discriminate against any person in the provision of cable television services on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, sexual preference, age, disability, income, or the area in which such persons lives.
- 7.2 Cable Company shall use best efforts to assure maximum practical availability of Cable Company services and facilities to all subscribers, regardless of disability, including the provision of a remote control device to those subscribers who are mobility limited, or where a member of the subscriber's household is mobility limited.
- 7.3 For hearing impaired customers, Cable Company shall provide information concerning the cost and availability of equipment to facilitate the reception of all basic services for the hearing impaired. In addition, Cable Company must have TDD/TTY (or equivalent) equipment at the Company office, and a publicly listed telephone number for such equipment, that will allow hearing impaired customers to contact the Company. The TDD line doesn't have to be located in St. Helens, and if not, then Cable Company is responsible for such cost.

December 12, 2007

Mr. Chad Olsen, City Administrator City of St. Helens 265 Strand Street, St. Helens, OR 97051

Re: Franchise Renewal - One-Time Upfront PEG Capital Grant

Dear Mr. Olsen:

In consideration of securing a renewed franchise ("Franchise Agreement") with the City of St. Helens ("City"), Comcast of Oregon II, Inc. ("Comcast") agrees to provide the City with the following:

Within sixty (60) days from the effective date of the Franchise Agreement, Comcast agrees to pay the City a one-time PEG capital grant in the total amount of \$115,000. After providing 30 days advance written notification to subscribers, Comcast will collect the fifty-two cents (\$0.52) per month per residential subscriber PEG Capital Support fee as set forth in Section XXVI 3 of the Franchise Agreement. Quarterly payments of the PEG Capital Support fee to the City pursuant to the Franchise Agreement will be as follows: Comcast will collect and retain the fifty-two cents (\$0.52) per month per residential subscriber fee until the \$115,000 amount has been recovered in full. After full recovery, Comcast shall collect and pay to the City said fifty-two cents (\$0.52) PEG fee as set forth in Section XXVI 3 of the Franchise.

As provided by Federal law, Comcast's advance payment of the amount set forth above includes interest at five percent (5%), and the total amount including interest may be passed through and itemized on cable subscriber bills and recovered by Comcast on a schedule that permits full recovery of the \$115,000 and applicable interest.

The City agrees to release Comcast from any and all claims in dispute or known by the parties at the time of this Agreement related to Comcast's compliance with requirements of the franchise adopted by the City on May 1, 1992.

Mr. Chad Olsen City of St. Helens December 12, 2007 Page 2

It is understood that fulfillment of this obligation is necessary and part of the consideration to secure a renewed franchise under the negotiated terms and conditions of that certain renewed franchise dated December 12, 2007.

Comcast of Oregon II, Inc.

Curt Henninger

Senior Vice President

Acknowledged and agreed to this 19th day of December, 2007.

City of St. Helens, Oregon

By: Its:

RESOLUTION NO. 1460

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A NEW CABLE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

WHEREAS, the City of St. Helens has determined that the protections and maintenance of the public health, peace, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City can best be accomplished by the continuation of cable service under the grant of a franchise; and

WHEREAS, City staff has worked with Comcast of Oregon II, Inc. to negotiate a new franchise agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of St. Helens does hereby:

- 1. Adopt the Cable Franchise Agreement attached hereto and made a part hereof by this reference.
- 2. Approve the attached letter of understanding for a one time upfront PEG capital grant.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council on this 21st day of November, 2007 by the following vote:

Ayes:

Morten, Locke, Grant, Peterson

Nays:

None

Approved by the Mayor:

November 21, 2007

Randy Peterson, Mayor

ATTEST:

Chad Olsen, Interim City Recorder

MARSH CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

CERTIFICATE CLE-00108

Item #1.

PRODUCER MARSH USA INC TWO LOGAN SQUARE

PHILADELPHIA, PA 19103-2797

COMCAST OF OREGON II, INC.

19909 120TH AVE NE, #200

BOTHELL, WA 98011

Attn: Comcast.Certs@marsh.com Fax: 212-948-0360

COMC BOTHE WA

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER OTHER THAN THOSE PROVIDED IN THE POLICY. THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN.

COMPANIES AFFORDING COVERAGE

COMPANY

DISCOVER PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY Δ

COMPANY

ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INS CO B

COMPANY

C FIDELITY & GUARANTY INS. CO.

COMPANY

D N/A

COVERAGES

INSURED

05194 -ALL-GAWU-07-08

This certificate supersedes and replaces any previously issued certificate for the policy period noted below. THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT POLICIES OF INSURANCE DESCRIBED HEREIN HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED HEREIN FOR THE POLICY PERIOD INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THE CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, CONDITIONS AND EXCLUSIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. AGGREGATE LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

CO LTR	TYPE OF INSURANCE	POLICY NUMBER	POLICY EFFECTIVE DATE (MM/DD/YY)	POLICY EXPIRATION DATE (MM/DD/YY)	LIMITS	
	GENERAL LIABILITY				GENERAL AGGREGATE	\$ 25,000,000
Α	X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY	D001Q00048	12/01/07	12/01/08	PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG	\$ 6,000,000
	CLAIMS MADE X OCCUR				PERSONAL & ADV INJURY	\$ 1,900,000
	OWNER'S & CONTRACTOR'S PROT				EACH OCCURRENCE	\$ 1,900,000
					FIRE DAMAGE (Any one fire)	\$ 1,900,000
1	X \$100,000 SIR				MED EXP (Any one person)	\$ 10,000
A	AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY X ANY AUTO	D001A00340 (AOS)	12/01/07	12/01/08	COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT	\$ 10,000,000
A	ALL OWNED AUTOS SCHEDULED AUTOS	D001A00341 (MA) D001A00342 (TX)	12/01/07 12/01/07	12/01/08 12/01/08	BODILY INJURY (Per person)	\$
	HIRED AUTOS NON-OWNED AUTOS				BODILY INJURY (Per accident)	\$
	NOTO MED AS 100			A 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	PROPERTY DAMAGE	\$
	GARAGE LIABILITY				AUTO ONLY - EA ACCIDENT	\$
	ANY AUTO				OTHER THAN AUTO ONLY:	
					EACH ACCIDENT	\$
					AGGREGATE	\$
	EXCESS LIABILITY				EACH OCCURRENCE	\$ 5,000,000
В	X UMBRELLA FORM	XOO G23792254	12/01/07	12/01/08	AGGREGATE	\$ 5,000,000
	OTHER THAN UMBRELLA FORM					\$
CCA	WORKERS COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY THE PROPRIETOR/ PARTNERS/EXECUTIVE OFFICERS ARE: EXCL	D001W00403 (AOS) D001W00404 (OR,WI) D001W00405 (NJ)	12/01/07 12/01/07 12/01/07	12/01/08 12/01/08 12/01/08	X WC STATU- OTH ER TORY LIMITS ER EACH ACCIDENT EL DISEASE-POLICY LIMIT EL DISEASE-EACH EMPLOYEE	\$ 2,000,000 \$ 2,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/LOCATIONS/VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS

CERTIFICATE HOLDER IS INCLUDED AS ADDITIONAL INSURED AS RESPECTS THE GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY WHERE REQUIRED BY WRITTEN CONTRACT WITH THE NAMED INSURED. \$100,000 PER OCCURRENCE SELF INSURED RETENTION APPLIES ONLY TO THE ABOVE GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

CITY OF ST. HELENS 265 STRAND ST. ST. HELENS, OR 97051

CANCELLATION

SHOULD ANY OF THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, THE INSURER AFFORDING COVERAGE WILL ENDEAVOR TO MAIL ______30 DAYS WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER NAMED HEREIN, BUT FAILURE TO MAIL SUCH NOTICE SHALL IMPOSE NO OBLIGATION OR LIABILITY OF ANY KIND UPON THE INSURER AFFORDING COVERAGE, ITS AGENTS OR REPRESENTATIVES, OR THE ISSUER OF THIS CERTIFICATE.

MARSH USA INC.

ay: Mary Radaszewski

- Mary Radagewski

MM1(3/02)

VALID AS OF: 11/30/07

Page 93



Helping Business Thrive

Board

Robert Blumberg, President Wauna Credit Union Greg Hinkelman, Treasurer

City of Clatskanie **Bob Short**, Secretary

CalPortland

CalPortland

Scott Burge

City of Scappoose

Nina Carlson

NW Natural
Marc Farmer

Clatskanie PUD

Doug Hayes

Port of Columbia County

Deborah Hazen

Clatskanie Cultural Center

Henry Heimuller

Columbia County Commission

Tony Hyde

Knife River

Dan Luckett

Global Partners

John Walsh

City of St. Helens

Andrew Lattanner

Portland Community College

Staff Paul Vogel,

Executive Director

Wela Negelspach,

Office Manager

Date: November 27, 2020

To: John Walsh, City Administrator

From: Paul Vogel, Executive Director, CCET/Zone Manager

Subject: Request for Enterprise Zone Application Approval, Two-year extended

John, attached is a DRAFT resolution for the St. Helens City Council consideration, as a sponsor of the South Columbia County Enterprise Zone.

The application:

- Represents investment by an existing business, Cascades Tissue, at its Scappoose location, adding new product lines to existing operations
- Meets the new job-creation requirements for a five-year exemption
- Has been completed and signed by Cascades Tissue (attached)
- Has been reviewed and discussed with Business Oregon
- Has been reviewed and discussed with the Assessor's Office of Columbia County
- · Has been reviewed in a Pre-Authorization Conference, per state Enterprise Zone Guidelines
- Requires authorization by all six Zone sponsors, after which an agreement will be drafted and signed, committing the applicant to meeting all appropriate and required conditions.

As Zone Manager, CCET respectfully requests a vote for authorization by the City Council. I will attend the City Council meeting scheduled for December 2nd and will be pleased to provide additional information in advance, r at the meeting, if requested.

City of St. Helens RESOLUTION NO. 1906

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ST. HELENS, OREGON, AUTHORIZING EXTENDED ENTERPRISE ZONE BENEFITS FOR A FOURTH AND FIFTH YEAR TO CASCADES TISSUE GROUP-OREGON CONVERTING, A DIVISION OF CASCADES HOLDING U.S. INC (CASCADES), LOCATED IN THE SOUTH COLUMBIA COUNTY ENTERPRISE ZONE

WHEREAS, the South Columbia County Enterprise Zone has six (6) sub-area cosponsors, the City of Scappoose, the City of St. Helens, the City of Columbia City, the City of Vernonia, the Port of St. Helens, and Columbia County offering economic incentives through property tax relief to businesses and industries providing capital investments resulting in job growth; and

WHEREAS, Cascades is located at 52960 West Lane Road, Scappoose, Oregon 97056 and has made an application to extend the three-year property tax abatement by two years for a total of five years; and

WHEREAS, the Cascades proposes to invest \$14,050,00.00 in enterprise zone qualified property at their manufacturing operations located in Scappoose, Oregon and St. Helens, Oregon resulting in the creation of a minimum of twenty-one (21) new jobs within the South Columbia County Enterprise Zone; and

WHEREAS, Cascades is required to pay employee wages and benefits at a rate of not less than 150% of the Average Annual Covered Payroll which is \$41,860, and that Average Annual Compensation Standard of 150% is \$62,790; and

WHEREAS, the co-sponsors and the zone manager of the South Columbia County Enterprise have reviewed the application and agree that the proposed investment is consistent with the Enterprise Zone Purpose; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the St. Helens City Council authorizes the two-year extension request for a total of five years exemption subject to the terms and conditions set forth in an Extended Enterprise Zone Exemption Agreement that will confirm the Firm's commitment to all state and Zone requirements and conditions.

RESOLVED, the South Columbia County Enterprise Zone, upon concurrence of all the other sub-zone sponsors, is authorized to execute an Extended Enterprise Zone Exemption Agreement with Cascades.

Approved and adopted by the City Council on December 2, 2020, by the following vote:

	Ayes:		
	Nays:		
ATTEST:		Rick Scholl, Mayor	
Kathy Payne	, City Recorder		

Item #2.

Form OR-EZ-AUTH

Oregon Enterprise Zone Authorization Application*

Complete form and submit to the local enterpris	4000 5455		ound or beginning w	ork at the site.		
Enterprise zone or rural renewable energy development zone (where busin	Applio		Email			
South Columbia County Enterprise Zone				stacy_eaker@cascades.com		
Name of business firm			Phone Phone	Crigodascados.com		
Cascades Holding US Inc.			(716)285-3681 ext. 72255		
Mailing address		City	State	ZIP code		
4001 Packard Road		Niagara Falls	NY	14303		
Location of property (street address if different from above) City			State	ZIP code		
52960 West Lane Road Scappoose				97056		
County, TRS map ID number, and Tax lot number of site	Contact pers	son	Title			
Account # / Map ID	Stacy Eak	ker	Director o	f US Taxation		
My firm expects to first claim standard property tax exemptic	on in (un to t	three consecutive) year	(s). 2020			
Check here if your firm has or has had another exemption			(5).			
				ua Amuil 4 arraur Arra malaur dan		
Check here that your firm commits to renew this authorize years, until the tax exemption on qualified property is clair		cation. Renew this app	olication on or beto	re April 1 every two calendar		
Check here if requesting an extended abatement of one		ditional years of exemi	otion Extended ab	atement is subject to written		
agreement with local zone sponsor before this application						
Zone manager use only (after written agreement but be	fore author	rizing firm):	Party and States			
			5 ☐ Consecutive	years (check one)		
County average annual wage. \$	Total exemp	otion period. 4 or	3∐ Consecutive	years (crieck one)		
	Business 6	eligibility				
Eligible activity—Check all activities that apply to proposed	investment	within the enterprise z	one:			
Manufacturing	Chin	ning		anno de managaria a		
Manufacturing Fabrication Bulk printing	☐ Ship			nergy generation		
Assembly Processing Software publishing	g Stora	age Back-office	systems			
Other—describe the activities that provide goods, produce	ts, or service	ces to other businesses	(or to other opera	tions of your firm):		
Check here if your business firm does or will engage in professional services, or construction). Describe below (or in	THE PERSON NAMED IN COLUMN TWO IS NOT THE OWNER.					
Special cases - Check all that apply:						
Check here if a hotel, motel, or destination resort in an	applicable e	enterprise zone.				
Check here if a retail/financial call center. Indicate expe	cted percer	nt of customers in local	calling area:	%.		
Check here if a "headquarters" facility. (Zone sponsor m	nust find tha	t operations are statev	vide-regional in sco	ope and locally significant)		
Check here if an electronic commerce investment in an			<u> </u>	,		
		50 Ontorprioe 20110.				
Employment in the en	nterprise z	one (see worksheets o	n last page)			
Don't count FTEs, temporary, seasonal, construction, part-time	ne jobs (32 h	ours or less per week),	or employees work	king at ineligible operations.		
Existing Employment - My business firm's average number	of full-time	employees inside the	zone over the pas	t 12 months is 191		
New Employees - • Hiring is expected to begin on (date or	month and	vear):	January 1, 20	21		
Hiring is expected to be completed by			January 1, 20	23		
Estimated total number of new employer		* - C-0	nt is: 21			
Commitments – By checking all boxes below, you agree to t				horization		
By April 1 of the first year of exemption on the proposed in		and the second s	70 C 5 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C			
the zone by one new employee or by 10%, whichever is g		ii quaiilled property, i v	viii riave increaseu	existing employment within		
My firm will maintain at least the above minimum level as	an annual a	verage employment du	uring the exemption	n period.		
When the exemption claim is filed by April 1 following eac shrunk by more than 85% at one time or by more than 50						
My firm will comply with local additional requirements as resolution(s) waiving required employment increase inside	contained ir	n: (1) a written agreeme	ent for an extended	abatement, (2) zone sponsor		
My firm will verify compliance with these commitments, as representative, or as directed by state forms or administra	s requested		BOTTOM OF STREET WE DO NOT THE D			
My firm will enter into a first-source hiring agreement bet to consider referrals from local job training providers for elig	fore hiring n	ew eligible employees. enings within the zone	(This mandatory a during at least the e	greement entails an obligation exemption period.)		

150-303-029 (Rev. 10-01-19) *Also for Rural Renewable Energy Develop Page 97

Item	#2

Oregon employment outside the enterprise zone Check only those that apply: Check here if yours or any commonly controlled firm will curtail operations in the state beyond 30 miles of the zone boundary and move them into the zone. Indicate timing, location, number of any job losses, and relationship to the proposed enterprise zone investment: Check here if you are transferring operations into the zone from site(s) in the state within 30 miles of zone boundary: My firm's average employment at the site(s) outside the enterprise zone boundary over the past 12 months is K Check here, if applicable, that your firm commits to increase the combined employment at the site(s) (outside but within 30 miles of zone boundary) and in the zone to 110% of the existing combined level by April 1 and on average during the first year of exemption. Proposed investment in qualified property Anticipated timing - Enter dates or months/years (non-binding) Site and building and structures Machinery and equipment Action Preparation Construction* Placed in service** Installation Procurement*** Placed in service** To commence 07/2020 11/2020 12/2020 or begin on To be 07/2020 12/2020 completed or Including new reconstruction, additions to, or modifications of existing building(s) or structure(s). ** This is in the calendar year directly before the very first year of exemption, so on page 1, please indicate the year following as the very first year expected for claiming this exemption. ***May precede application by up to three months (includes personal property). Special issues: Check here for building/structure acquired/leased for which construction, reconstruction, additions, or modifications began prior to this application (attach executed lease or closing documents, and don't take up occupancy until this application is approved). Check here if anticipating using Construction in process tax exemption for qualified property that is still being constructed/installed and isn't yet placed in service and is located on site as of January 1. If so, file Application for Construction-in-Process Enterprise Zone Exemption, 150-310-021, by April 1 with the county assessor's office. Qualifying property: Estimates of cost and details about property are not binding, but in order for property to be exempted, its basic type and any major building/structure needs to be at least represented below. Check if any Number of Type of property Item will be each/item Estimated value leased Building or structure to be newly constructed \$ \$ New addition to or modification of an existing building or structure Real property 1 100,000.00 Heavy or affixed machinery and equipment \$ 2 13,950,000.00 \$ \$50,000 or more Personal property item(s) costing: \$ \$1,000 or more (E-commerce zone or used exclusively for production of tangible goods) Total estimated value of investment \$ 14,050,000.00 In addition, describe below (or in an attachment) the overall nature and potential extent of your investment, including preliminary building plans and lists of property items, as appropriate and recommended by zone manager or county assessor (may be kept confidential). Phase 1 of this investment is the addition of a new Andromeda towel line. It is anticipated that Phase 1 will involve the creation of 16 jobs. Phase 2 of this investment is the relocation and installation of existing equipment from Pennsylvania to the Scappoose facility. It is anticipated that Phase 2 will involve the creation of 5 jobs. Declaration I declare under penalties of false swearing [ORS 305.990(4)] that I have examined this document and attachments, and to the best of my knowledge, they are true, correct, and complete. If any information changes, I will notify the zone manager and the county assessor and submit appropriate written amendments. I understand that my business firm will receive the tax exemption for property in the enterprise zone, only if my firm satisfies statutory requirements (ORS Chapter 285C) and complies with all local, Oregon, and federal laws that are applicable to my business. Must be signed by an owner, company executive, or authorized representative of the business firm eutive, attach letter attesting to appropriate contractual authority) President

<u>#</u>	<u>Lot</u>	<u>Location</u>	<u>Size</u>	<u>Facility/Utility</u>	Other Information	Sue's Comments	Jacob Comments Oct. 27, 2020
							Also 4N1W 8BC 2600. This is ripe for sale. But there is
							some DSL baggage that needs to be done that the Health
							District did not do; something needs to be recorded on
							the deed. Also, sale terms will be important and should
1	4108-CB-00400	MILLARD RD	16.30 ac	Millard road property	Developable		not be rushed.
							Ok for sale. Our local wetland maps show wetlands in
							the area, including this lot and some abutting it along S.
2	4104-DD-04305	554 S 12TH ST	0.13 ac	Sanitary sewer; storm drain	May be developable		11th Street
3	4104-DA-01200	NORTH OF 484 S 10TH	0.27 ac	Storm drain	Developable, 2 lots		Ok for sale. Lots 4 and 5, Block 83
							Portion abutting 275 S. 5th could be sold to that property
							or dedicated as right-of-way. Portions abutting Lots 19
							and 20, Block 49 could be sold to Lots 19 and 20. The
							triangle portion along OPR should be dedicatewd as
							ROW. Sale of portions to 275 S. 5th and Lots 19 and 20
							could be delayed until after dedication of triangle portion
						Portion of existing road cuts across	as ROW to avoid needing a Lot Line Adjustments
4	4103-BC-06200	S 6TH ST	2784.25 sq ft	Adjacent to roadway	Could be sold to adjacent property owners	part of one section	(arguably).
							Old shed on property. Has potential pulibc use combined
							with other Anya's Dream property. Cannot be soley
5	4103-BD-08600	S 2ND ST	0.18 ac	Lots, Anya's Dreams	Developable		residential use.
							This is the property to expand public parking onto; may
							not be wise to sell at this time. Sale (and resulting access
							needs) could result in a decrease of existing public
6	4103-BB-12300	S 2ND ST	0.36 ac	Lots, Anya's Dreams	Developable		parking. Cannot be soley residential use. Two lots.
							If 440 S. 2nd doesn't want it, we shouldn't sell it. When
							we subdivide the Veneer property, we could include this
							and get rid of the property line (i.e., it would be included
							with another Lot created with the subdivision). The more
							of the bluff the city controls, the more control we have
						Would only have potential value to	over its appearance and fate, which could be very
7	4103-BD-00990	EAST OF 440 S 2ND ST	1333.99 sq ft	Veneer property	Steep slopes	440 S. 2nd	important in the future.

















Memorandum

To: Mayor and City Council

From: John Walsh, City Administrator

Subject: Administration & Community Development Dept. Report

Date: December 2, 2020

Planning Division Report attached.

Business Licenses Report attached.

CITY OF ST. HELENS PLANNING DEPARTMENT ACTIVITY REPORT

City of St. Helens

To: City Council Date: 11.23.2020

From: Jacob A. Graichen, AICP, City Planner

cc: Planning Commission

This report does not indicate all *current planning* activities over the past report period. These are tasks, processing and administration of the Development Code which are a weekly if not daily responsibility. The Planning Commission agenda, available on the City's website, is a good indicator of *current planning* activities. The number of building permits issued is another good indicator as many require Development Code review prior to Building Official review.

PLANNING ADMINISTRATION—PREAPPLICATIONS MEETINGS

Conducted a pre-application meeting for a potential microbrew facility (not a brew pub) off the 200 block of N. 18th Street.

Conducted a pre-application meeting for a potential land partition of the property with the recently completed veterinary clinic in the Houlton area.

PLANNING ADMINISTRATION—MISC.

Assisted with business license related code amendments that went before the Council this month.

During the most recent fiscal quarter (July-September 2020) the city issued 21 single family housing permits. This is a 5-year high of all quarters. The quarter right behind that one is April-June 2020 with 17 such permits. Most quarters in the past five years are single digit or zero.

The conex box apartments on city owned property along N. 7th Street (by the 6th Street Park) is making progress for permit issuance locally. But they are still working on the State permit too, which I believe would pre-certify the units from a building code review standpoint. The Commission originally approved this back in July of 2017.

Assisted City Engineering with information for their wastewater and stormwater plan update efforts.

Port renewed their wetland delineation for their properties along McNulty Way. They are good for five years and the last effort was in 2015. No word on when they may develop those properties.

The Northwest Housing Authority apartment project along Gable Road renewed their non-city permit to impact wetlands on that property.

PLANNING COMMISSION (& acting HISTORIC LANDMARKS COMMISSION)

November 10, 2020 meeting (outcome): The Commission approved a Lot Line Adjustment / Minor Modification Conditional Use Permit to adjust a boundary between a lot and open space tract within the Meadowbrook Planned Development.

The Commission also approved a reduced yard Variance and an Access Variance for a proposed 2-unit attached single-family development at the south terminus of S. 2nd Street.

<u>December 8, 2020 meeting (upcoming)</u>: The Commission will hold two public hearings. One will be for a pair of Variances related to the proposed apartment complex along Gable Road by US30. *As the Historic Landmarks Commission*, they will consider a potential alteration of the John Gumm School building for an accessible ramp at the second public hearing.

The Commission will also review a proposed right-of-way vacation at the south terminus of S. 2^{nd} Street for recommendation to Council.

The Commission will also consider potential requirements for distances between two detached single-family dwellings on the same property as we continue to work through the "duplex rules" triggered by Oregon HB 2001.

COUNCIL ACTIONS RELATED TO LAND USE

The Council authorized execution of the final plats for Graystone Estates and Hanna Place. These to subdivisions will add 88 new attached single-family dwelling lots and two commercial lots. Residential builders have been anxiously anticipating this—we will see a new wave of building permits for these lots.

I presented the Oregon HB 2001 requirements for St. Helens, largely dealing with duplexes, to the City Council at the November 4, 2020 work session. The Council and Planning Commission (who had a similar presentation at their meeting on October 13th) seem to be of a similar opinion on the various issues, though there are some differences such as whether a duplex should be a single building (the Commission's unanimous opinion) versus the potential of having two separate buildings on one lot (the majority Council opinion).

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEMS (GIS)

As we start a new era with the new State's e-permitting for our building permits, we continue to deal with the kinks. I have had to deal with some APO data issues for this effort since we help generate the data from our GIS.

ASSOCIATE PLANNER—*In addition to routine tasks, the Associate Planner has been working on:* See attached.

From: Jennifer Dimsho
To: Jacob Graichen

Subject: November Planning Department Report

Date: Monday, November 23, 2020 9:59:36 AM

Here are my additions to the November Planning Department Report.

GRANTS

- 1. **DLCD 2019-2021 Technical Assistance Program** Grant contract with DLCD authorized to prepare a *Boise White Paper Industrial Site Master Plan* which will include a parcelization framework and an infrastructure finance planning for the former mill site. Final Parcelization Plan completed. Received final Infrastructure Estimates & Phasing Plan from 3J. Received drawing Funding Plan from ECONW. Began compiling staff comments on the document to receive final submittal in December.
- 2. OPRD Local Government Grant Campbell Park Improvements (\$187k) includes replacement of four existing tennis courts and two basketball courts with two tennis flex courts and one flex sport court, adds a picnic viewing area, improves natural stormwater facilities, expands parking, and improves ADA access. Grant deadline is October 2021. 2nd Sport Court bid closed on 10/15 no bids received again. Working with Sue and legal counsel on a different procurement process that still complies with state laws to solicit bids directly from contractors.
- 3. **EPA CWA Grant Program** Final reporting due within 90 days of 9/30. Began preparing final report, budget, and cost reimbursement request.
- 4. **CDBG- Columbia Pacific Food Bank Project** Bids are being accepted until 12/1. Three mandatory pre-bid meetings held in November. Attended two of these. Prepared and uploaded two addenda, which included Q/A summaries, planholders lists, and revisions to construction drawings.
- 5. **Safe Routes to School Columbia Blvd. Sidewalk Project** Kicked off engineering with David Evans. Survey/topo complete. Construction timeline provided by David Evans, who is working through design/engineering process.
- 6. **Business Oregon Infrastructure Finance Authority –** Accepted our intake form. Invitation to apply received for a low-interest loan to fund the streets, utilities, and Riverwalk on the Riverfront property. Deadline to submit in January 2021 for board approval in February 2021 or February 2021 for March 2021.
- 7. **ODOT Community Paths Program** Submitted letter of interest (due October 31) for a regional trail planning/initial refinement effort for an off-street trail between St. Helens and Scappoose. Grant ask will be around \$172,000 with a required 10% match which can be in-kind (staff time). Application available on 11/1. Went through the application materials with a contractor who will assist with sections of the grant application.
- 8. **BUILD Grant** Attended de-brief meeting on 11/24 to discuss scoring of our 3rd application to the program.
- 9. Oregon Watershed Enhance Board Awarded grant (approximately \$12k) to the Scappoose Bay Watershed Council in a partnership with the City for natural enhancements of the 5th Street trail and Nob Hill Nature Park. Will hire a crew in 2020-2021 to remove invasive species and re-plant native species in the oak woodland habitat. Kicked off the project with a meeting on 11/30.

MISC

- 10. Urban Renewal Amendment Prepared to record the final document with the County on second week of Dec. Published notice of adoption in the Spotlight.
- 11. Bennett Building (Water Department/ UB) Arciform presented as-built drawings, and two proposed alternatives. Discussed how to prioritize and phase the work and prepared for a presentation to Council at their 12/2 meeting.
- 12. Working with the Wellness Committee on a City-wide volunteer program to repair surplus Police Department bicycles for a community bicycle and helmet giveaway.
- 13. Riverwalk and Streets/Utilities design/engineering consulting services RFQs published on 10/22! Answered several detailed contractor questions. Bids will be accepted until December 8, 2020.
- 14. Transitioned Meeting Minutes for the Urban Renewal Agency to the new Municode system online
- 15. Adjusted temporary office location in the upstairs conference room while renovations upstairs at City Hall occur.

Jenny Dimsho, AICP Associate Planner City of St. Helens (503) 366-8207 jdimsho@ci.st-helens.or.us

BUSINESS LICENSE REPORT

City Department Approval: 11/02/2020

The following occupational business licenses are being presented for City approval:

RESIDENT BUSINESS - RENEWAL 2020

None

RESIDENT BUSINESS - NEW 2020

- *Body-Mind-Spirit Healing Arts LLC
- Edward Jones
- H and I Stone Casting LLC
- *Riverside Heating & Cooling LLC
- *V3 Contracting LLC

Energy Healing Online

Financial Services

Garden Art Concrete Casting

Heating & Cooling Install/Repair

Construction

NON-RESIDENT BUSINESS - 2020

- Arciform LLC
- Good Boys Construction
- Pacific Landscape Services Inc
- The PaintSmyth LLC
- Turbo Painting LLC

Residential Remodeler

Construction

Landscape Contractor

Painting

Painting Contractor

^{*}Denotes In-Home Business